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CORPORATE OVERVIEW
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Shareholders’ funds of £368 million

EPRA net assets of £445 million

£902 million of office properties across London, France, Germany and Sweden
Top property company total shareholder return performance in the tast 4 years
Strong alignment of interest with shareholders management owns 54%
Substantial cash and liquid resources available for new investment

Cautiously entrepreneurial approach to future opportunities
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INVESTORS IN EUROPEAN
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY

» CLS IS APROPERTY INVESTMENT

COMPANY WHICH HAS BEEN LISTED
ON THE LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE
SINCE 1994

WE OWN AND MANAGE A DIVERSE
PORTFOLIO OF £0 9 BILLION OF
MODERN, WELL-LET OFFICE
PROPERTIES IN LONDON, FRANCE,
GERMANY AND SWEDEN

OUR PROPERTIES HAVE BEEN

SELECTED FOR THEIR POTENTIAL TO
ADD VALUE AND TO GENERATE HIGH
RETURNS ON CAPITAL INVESTMENT
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HOW WE OPERATE

Our goal is to create long-term
Shareholder value

WE AIM TQ ACHIEVE THIS BY

>

PURSUING AN OPPORTUNISTIC
INVESTMENT STRATEGY

FOCUSING ON CASH RETURNS
OPERATING IN DIVERSE LOCATIONS

UTILISING DIVERSIFIED SOURCES OF
FINANCE

MAINTAINING A BROAD TENANT BASE
MINIMISING VACANT SPACE
IMPOSING STRICT COST CONTROL

RETAINING A HIGH LEVEL OF LIQUID
RESOURCES

Key Performance Indicators

-  Taotal Sharehelder Return .

Aim - to provide a TSR of over
12% p a over the medium
term

Achievernent - 2008-2011 64 9%, or
133% p & compound

2>  Effective management of balance sheet

Aim - to sell assets with Limited
growth potential and invest
in high yielding alternatives

Achievement - 2006 to 2011 £746 million
of property sales

- 2011 Pre-let developments
in Landshut and Grafelfing,
Germany will provide
returns on equity of 19 4%
and 18 3% p a , respectively

-  Adminstration cost ratio

Am - to maintain administration
costs below 15% of net
rental iIncome

Achievement - 2011 15 4%
-2010 15 2%
- 2009 14 9%

- Occupancy rate

Aim - to maintain an occupancy
level of aver 95%

Achieverment - 2011 94 1%
- 2010 95 7%
- 2009 955%




Financial highlights
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EPRA earnings per share up 53% to 64 9 pence (2010 42 5 pence)
EPRA net assets per share up 3% to 983 1 pence (2010 952 % pence)
EPRA net assets £444 % million (2010 £444 8 million)

Earnings per share 82 0 pence (2010 127 1 pence)

Net assets per share up 7% ta 817 5 pence (201C 766 7 pance)

Net assets up 3% to £367 5 mullion (2010 £357 2 million)

Profit after tax £38 8 milkion (2010 £560 1 million}

Propased distributian to shareholders €7 9 mullion {(Apnl 2011 £7 2 million)
by way of tender offer buy-back 1in 42 at 735 pence, equivalent to 17 & pence

per share

Low weighted average cost of debt 4 1% (2010 4 3%)
Adjusted solidity 40 5% (2050 41 7%)

Adjusted gearing 128% (2010 122%)

Interest cover 2 6 times (2010 3 2 times)

Other key data

9

U

Top performer in UK Usted property sector total shareholder return
aver 4 years 64 9%

Portfolio vatue £902 1 million - up 2 1% in local currencies
Proportion of Government tenants 40 4%

Occupancy rate 96 1%

Indexatign applies to 65% of contracted rent

Liquid resources £140 4 million
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Continuing to deliver

OVERVIEW

This was a year of numerous achievements for the Group,
both at the core property operating level and with the range
and depth of our financing arrangements We have also
achieved the highest total shareholder return amongst our
peer group since the downturn began in 2008, producing
b4 9% aver four years, and 11 1% n 20114

The effect of these achievements would have been even greater
had they not been impacted to a degree by the difficulties at
the broader macroeconcmic level, 1n particular with the
Eurozone during the second half of the year Profit after tax
was £38 8 million (2010 £40 1 milion), earnings per share on
an EPRA basis were 64 9 pence (2010 42 5 pence) and EPRA
net asset value rose to 983 1 pence (2010 952 ¢ pence)

Al the start of 2011, few were predicting that long-term interest
rates would plummet banks would face another round of
stress tesis the United States and France would lose their
AAA rating, ar a potential break-up of the Eurozone which would
require companies to start contingency planning Politicians in
Europe have failed to take decisive actian that would restore
confidence to markets and provide a platform for growth

However, | am pleased to report that we have been responding
with considered tenacity the vacancy rate has been reduced
to our lowest level for over 10 years we have made property
acquisitions In London, we have started building the twe pre-
let schemes in Germany, and we have submitted plans for two
developments in central London for the medium-term

The benefits of our strategy of diversificatten remain clear we
operate across faur countries, we have a solid customer base
of some 400 tenants and we are financed by 20 banks Over
the long term, this spread of rnisk has been an imporiant
aspect of the Group s outperformance | would stress that our
direct exposure to the Eurozone Is in 1ts two strongest
economies, Germany and France

INVESTMENT PROPERTY POGRTFOLIO

Buring the year the investment property portfolio grew in local
currency terms, on a like-for-like basis, by 2 1% The value of

the Landan properties graw by 2 7%, France by 1 9%, Germany
by 1 0% and Sweden by 1 5% Acquisitions totalled £7 2 million,
being primarily two office buildings in Hounslow, Landon The
tetal portfolio valuation at the year end rose to £902 1 million,

notwithstanding a negative currency impact of £13 7 mitlion

Our core investment propesition remains solid to generate
attractive cash returns, using the difference between our net
initial yield of 7 0% and our reduced cost of debt of 4 1% This
spread of 290 basis points 15, we believe one of the largest of
the lsted property sector The fact that 65% of our rents are
indexed 15 also very valuable at a ttme of lugher inflation and
this together with cur asset management initiatives, has
been an important part of the overall valuation movement

We continue to mantain very low vacancy levels, reduced yet
further to Just 3 9% from 4 3% last year This was due ta the

strong emphasis on our In-house asset and property
management across all our reglons enabling us to attract
and retan tenants as our customers by undérstanding their
needs and ensuring the properties are well maintained, and
refurbished when required Tenant demand 1s stable and
enguiries are based on genuine need, often at short notice
and based en companies grawing With no speculative office
development activity in aur markets, we are continuing to see
signs that rents have stabilised with some upward pressure
emerging Tenants want well-managed space andthis s a
key differentiator for us

Our core rental income 15 secure, with 40% paid by Government
tenants, 29% paid by major corparatians and a2 weighted
average lease length of 7 7 years, or & & years to first break

In considering new Investments we remain very selective on
property type and pricing because it 15 likely that thera will
continue to be good opportunities for some time ahead as
lenders deal with their distressed loan books

Cur two pre-let develapments in Germany totalling 7,042 sq m
have progressed well Gralelfing was completed successfully
in February 2012, and the E ON building at Landshut witl be
ready In late summer The planning applications for our two
significant mixed-use schemes in Vauxhall - Spring Mews

(20 800 sq m) and Vauxhall Square {154 000 sg m) - were
submitted in December and we will be working closely with
the local authenty during 2012 on both of these applications

Catena, the Swedish listed praperty company in which the
Group owns 29 9%, submitted a planning application for a
150,000 sq m mixed use scheme at the Stora Frosunda site in
Solna, a decision on which 1s expected in the first half of 2012

Since the year end the Group has made an opportunistic
investment in Sweden in Cood Investrnents AB, a residential
property company specialising in holiday cotiages and cabins
on vacation sites, paying £4 1 million for a 16 6% stake In
2011 Cood made a profit after tax in excess of £2 0 million

RESULTS

Profit after tax of £38 8 milbion (2010 £60 1 million), was
reduced by adverse changes in the value of long term interest
rate swaps and a lower increase in the value of investment
properties than in 2010 EPRA earnings per share, which
exclude such revaluation movements to provide a measure of
the underlying operating perfarmance, rose to 64 9 pence per
share (2010 425 pence)

Net assets rose to £3467 5 muilion, up by £10 3 million in the
year after distnibutions to shareholders of £11 8 million,
and EPRA net assets per share rose tc 983 1 pence (2010
952 9 pence) Basic net assets per share increased by é 6%
to 817 5 pence (2010 7466 7 pence)

Recurring interest cover for the year was a comfortable 2 4
times The Group s net debt as a preportion of adjusted net
assets was a consistent 128% (2010 122%) and the overall
property loan to value was 42 5% (2010 63 5%)
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This was a year of numerous
achievements for the Group, both
at the core preperty operating level
and with the range and depth of
our financing arrangements ”

FINANCING

The Group s business model has long been to ring-fence debt
onindwdual properties, and this continues to serve us well
We have an active relatianship with 20 banks and are
delighted to have added two new lenders this year, Saar LB
and Santander We value the strong relatienships that we
enjay with our banks and the mutual benefits they provide

We have increased and strengthened the Group s financing
arrangements during 2011 In total we have refinanced £113 2
million of existing debt and raised a further £33 0 mitlion In May
we 1ssued the Group s first corporate bond, a SEK 300 mitlicn
1ssue in Sweden, which has been Listed on the NASDAQ OMX
in Stockholm This five year, unrated, unsecured bond has a
coupon of 375 basis points above STIBOR and 1s testament

to the Group s innovative approach to financing

This success In raising new finance I1s encouraging In &
climate where a number of banks are closing for new
businass We typically approach ten to fifteen banks when
seeking new finance and are keen to explore a wide range
of financing optians

The year saw an unusually steep reduction in long-term interest
rates - the sterling 15-year swap rate fell by over 150 basis
points, its largest annual downward move for over 12 years -
and this impacted some of our hedging arrangements The
Group had long-term swaps, covering 22 9% of our debt at the
start of the year, and we expected to retain these as a long-term
hedqe at an average interest rate of 3 74% However, the
excepilonal fall in rates increased the labilities on these
swaps by £14 2 million during the year, and ta provide more
flexibility in the Group s financing we chose to close out a
swap with a neminal amount of £83 5 mitlion at a cost of

£24 2 millien At the end of 2011 we had swaps in place with a
nominal amount of £50 million, for which there was a liability
in the balance sheet of £9 1 million

The positive effect of cancelling the swap, which was due to
run until 2024, has been the fall in our weighted average cost
of debt to 4 1% (2010 4 3%) and we expect an interest cost
saving In the next three years of over £10 7 miilion In aggregate
and breaking even after seven years

Since the year end we have gained credit commuittee approval
to refinance two loans, totalling £89 1 mitlian, including our
largest asset Spring Gardens in London These two new loans
will Increase the weighted average loan length from 4 4 years
to 5 1 years

Our balance sheet 1s strong, with cash and biguid resources
of £140 million available for investment We continue to use
corporate bonds to generate higher returns than cash At the
year end the Group held a portfolic of 39 different bonds with
a value of £85 1 milllon which produced an annual coupon of
10 2% Since first investing in themn tewards the end of 2008,
the corporate bonds have generated a return of £19 8 million,
or 32 8% on average cost Since the year end, the bonds have
risen in value by £8 2 million

CLS Holdings plc
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ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND SUSTAINABILITY

During the year, the Group Increased its focus on energy
efficiency and sustainability, and recruited a full time
Sustainability Manager We now have good base data to measure
our success in reducing energy consumption and emissions
and In lawering costs for aur customers and the Group The
new £2 3 million geothermal energy facility at Vanerparken in
Sweden 1s complete and operating, and early results are in
line with the projected savings cf aver 80% 1n consumption and
emissions

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As Executive Chairman it 1s my responsibility to ensure that the
Board operates afficiently and effectively, and upholds high
standards of carporate governance appropriate for a company
of our size | believe that the decisions taken by the Board and
the resulting performance of the Company against its peers s
indicative of the fact that we are doing things night

The steps we have taken this year to change the Beoard and the
composition of its Committees, Board processes and executive
remuneration align the Company more closely to the provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance Code and introduce greater
levels of accountability and transparency to the operation and
effectiveness of the Board This underpins cur commitment to
good governance for the beneht of all sharehalders

DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHQOLDERS

In April 2011, we distributed £7 2 millton by way of our
traditional tender offer buy-back of shares, and a further
£4 4 million in September The Board proposes to distribute
€7 9 million 1n April using the tender offer buy-back method,
at a rate of 1 1n 42 shares at 735 pence per share A circular
setting out the details will be sent to shareholders with the
Report and Accounts

OUTLOOK

For economies to grow, businesses and investors need to
have confidence ta invest and a reasonable supply of credit
Politicians must deliver the basic platform for this to occur,
which, in the current climate, means a credible solution to the
Eurozane crisis Until this happens, there will continue to he
significant uncertainty and risk in the system

However, the Group 1s solidly placed, with a strong balance
sheet a very healthy cash flew, and a high level of liguid
resources for investment when we see the right opportunities
We continue to attract new tenants, maintain low vacancy and
progress added value development plans, and, therefore, | am
optirmistic that we can continue to deliver for shareholders

Sten Mdtw
Executive Chairman

5 March 2012
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CORPORATE OBJECTIVE, BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

CORPORATE OBJECTIVE

Our cbjective 1s to create long-term shareholder value

which is measured threugh total shareholder returns and KPY
net assets per share

BUSINESS MODEL

Investrents are required to make a high cash-an-cash return  KPI

STRATEGY

We focus on cash returns, specialising 1n precominantly
high-yielding office properties

The cost of debt 15 kept well below the net initial yield of the
properties to ennance the return on equity

We invest in modern, high quality, well-let properties in good
locations in selected Eurapean citigs

Our investment strategy 1s apportunistic, 1ts approach
cautiously entrepreneurial

Local tearmns are required to compete for an allocation of the
Group s capital cn a case-by-case basis

We create extra value via developments when letting risk and
financing risk have in large part been mitigated and at the
appropriate time n the cycle

We operate in civerse locations

We invest in London France Germany and Swecen and in
starling the euro and Swedish krona

We utilise diversified sources of finance ta reduce risk

We have 40 loans fram 20 lending sotrces and a CLS corporate
bond

Mest proparties are owned by single purpose vehicles and
financed by non-recourse bank debt in the currency usad to
purchase the asset

Usually over 10 banks are approached for each refinancing
to achieve the most advantageous terms, and no one bank
provides aver 20% of the Group s debt

During pericds of low, benign interest rates debt 1s hedged
using caps and allowea to float at 31 Decemeer 2011 79% of
debt was at floating ratas

The tenant base is diversified, but uncerpinned by a strong
cora Income stream

We avaid a heavy reliance an any ane tenant or business
sector and actively seek rent indexation, we have some

400 tenants 40% of rental income 1s derived from government
tenants and a further 29% from major corporations, the
weighted average unexpired lease term 1s 7 7 years, 45% of
rental income 15 subject to indexation

We maintain low vacancy rates KPI In-house local property managers mamntan close links with
tenants to understand their needs
We focus on the quality of sarvice ang accommodation for our
customers

We maintain strict cost contrel KPl  We perferm as many back office functions as possible in-heouse,

and monitar our performance against our peer group, our
administration cost per employee and as a percantage of rents
15 cne of the lowest in the sector

We retain high levels of liquid resources

We aperate an in-house Treasury team which manages cash
and corporaie bands to maximise their returns




PERFORMANCE AGAINST CORPORATE OBJECTIVE

Anticipating a fall in real estate values CLS sold 40% of iis
property portfolio into an over-heated market between 2006
and 2008

In 2008, the fall of Lehman Brothers and its adverse impact
on the banking sector led to falls in property values

in 2008/09 whilst virtuaily all UK listed property companies
were having to conduct nights 1ssues, CLS returned cash to
shareholders

Accordingly, in the four years from 1 January 2008 CLS has
provided a total shareholder return of 64 9% or 13 3% per
annum compound, representing the best performance
amongst Its peer group

PERFORMANCE AGAINST OTHER KPis
See page 2

CLS Holdings plc

Annual Report & Accounts

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN OF LISTED PROPERTY
SECTOR COMPANIES 2008-201i1

£
% W
o U

]

50% L

5%

Source Bloomberg CLS

A4

The best TSR performance
within the real estate sector
over the past four years n
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A clear focus on active management

The main activity of the Group 15 investment in commercial
reat estate across four European regions Lendon France
Germany and Sweden There 1s & particular focus on providing
well-managed, cost-effective offices and property for cost-
censclous cormpanies In key European cities

The Group s total property interests at 31 December 2011
were £919 9 millien, comprising the wholly-owned investment
property portfolio valued at £902 1 millien, and a 2% 9%
investment in Swedish listed property company Catena AB,
which had a market value of £17 8 million The Group s Other
Investments comprised the corporate bond portfolio, valued at
£85 1 million at the year end, and smaller equity haldings of
£13 3 million

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

OVERVIEW At 31 December 2011 the directly held investment
partfolio tetalled £902 1 million, a Like-for-like increase of

2 1% 1n local currencies or 0 5% when translated into sterling
In local currencies, the French portfalio rose by 1 9%, Germany
by 1 0%, London by 2 7% and Sweden by 1 5% The capital
value of £2 202 per sq m Is ¢lose to replacement cost, meaning
that the tand element in these key European cities 1s minimal
this highlights how competitive the Group can be 1n attracting
tenants with cost effective rents

The contracted rent at the year end was £66 3 million,
representing a net imitial yield of 7 0% on value and an average
rent of just £170 per sg m The income stream is strongly
secured as 0% 1s from government tenants 29% from major
corporations and 5% of rents are subject to iIndexation The
welghted average lease length 1s 7 7 years, or 6 6 years to the
first break Oniy 16% of the current rent roll expires in the next
three years

The averall vacancy rate has been further reduced to 3 9%
reflecting the benefits of active In-house asset and property
management together with maintaining strong relationships
with aur tenants working to understand their needs

In all markets there i1s less availability of debt than 12 maonths
ago leading to fewer buyers for the high yielding property thai
the Group prefers This situation 1s expected to continue for a
considerable period, we can thus be highly selective about our
purchases Further, the depth of our banking contacts and
relationships means that we cantinue to find debt obtainable

Acrass the portfolio the Group 1s Increasing its focus on the
sustainabibity of its properties and ways to rake them more
energy efficient There 1s a wide range of quick and medium-
term wins that can and will be made The employment cf a
{ull time Sustainability Manager has helped the Group to
pramate this and the Corporate Socizl and Environmental
Responsibility Report on page 42 expands on these activities

LONDON

«  Value €398 million
+« Group's property interests 43%

* No of properties 30

s Lettable space 133,900 sqm
e Netintial yield 6.6%

e Vacancy rate 4.0%

*  Like-for-Uke uplift 2.7%

¢ Government and major corparates 80%

¢ Average unexpired lease length 9 3 years

¢ To first break 8 4 years

It has been particularly encouraging to be ahle to reduce the
vacancy rate with more lettings given the economic climate
We are seeing fewer but better quality enquiries and a clear
trend for tenants to target the better managed buildings
where stable landlords are able to maintain and refurbish to
a good standard, and be flextble on lease terms to mest
customer needs This i1s a key differentiator compared to
buildings owned by landlords who are under financial
pressure During the year 6 497 sqg m became vacant we let
8 690 sqg m and renewed leases on 2,8%4 sq m with existing
tenants, with particular activity at Great West House,
Brentford and Cambridge House W4, and we completed the
refurbrshment programme of common parts at Westminster
Tower, SE1

In September, we acquired two office buildings in Hounslow
for £55 million The total initial rent of £582,091, gave a yield
after costs of 10 1%, rising to £627 542 after fixed rental uplifts
The one vacant floor of 574 sq m has let since the year end,
Increasing the yield to aver 11% The buildings total 4,693 sqg m
over four floors, and tenants include Aer Lingus, Alitalia,
Telefonica 02, Vandemoortele, First Rate Exchange Services
and Quest Diagnostics The purchase price equated to a capital
value of £1,172 per sq m, which is well below replacement cost




The commiiment of the Greater Londan Authority, and the
Landon boroughs of Lambeth and Wandsworth to the Vauxhall
Nine Elms regeneration zone 1s absolute and the Group is very
well placed as one of the credible parties which ¢an help
delver In December, and after public consultation, we
submitted a planning application for a 20,800 sq m mixed use
scheme called Spring Mews, behind Alhert Embankment in
Vauxhall This comprises student accommodation of 402
student rooms and amenity space, a 120 bed mid-market
hotel, a new 581 sq m community centre and cafe 469 sqgm

of office space, a 245 sqg m convenience retail unit, and the
creation of a new pedestrian mews linking the development

to Spring Gardens Subject to receming planning consent the
Group would aim to start an site in the second haif of 2012,
with completion in 2014 The development, the total cost of
which 1s expected ta be in excess of £50 million, would
significantly improve the area bringing immediate benefits

to the Group s property at Spring Gardens which 1s directly
opposite

Also in Becember after almost a year of stakeholder
consultations, the Group submitted a planning application for
a 154,000 sq m (1,657,650 sq ft) mixed-use development
scheme called Vauxhall Square, on the site owned by the Group
close to Vauxhalls transport interchange The proposad scheme
comprises two residential towers of 50 stories containing 510
homes and 15,231 sq m of office space, 3,500 sg m of reta,
restaurant and café space, 416 student units, a 438 bed hotel,
a 4 screen cinema, 94 affordable housing umits, a new
homeless hostet, a major new public square {of similar size to
Paternoster Square in the City of Landon), and public realm
improvernents Our strong belief I1s that the redevelopment of
the Vauxhall/Nine Elms regeneration area will start at the
Vauxhall end and Vauxhall Square 15 strategically located
between the Vauxhall transport links and the proposed new
US Embassy Importantly, it 1s not dependent on the proposed
Northern Line extension Subject to receving planning
consent we would aim to start on site In 2014, with phases
being completed from 2017 The development cost of the
proposed scheme 1s in excess of £400 million Prudently, no
hope value has yet been ascribed to either this development
site or Spring Mews and conséquently their values fell on a
like-for-like basis during the year, due to planning costs

The Group has been very active In promoting a Business
Impravement District (BID) for Vauxhall BIDs are an
established way for local businesses to be actively involved In
improving an area In earty 2012 local Vauxhall businesses
voted in favour of a BID, which will be calted Vauxhall One,
and which will start in Aprit 2012, inttiatly for a 5 year period
Richard Tice, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, has
been the chairman of the campaign ta launch a BID, which we
believe can be beneficial for our holdings in Vauxhall
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MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 2011
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BUSINESS REVIEW conminueo

FRANCE

+ Value €248 mitlion
* Group s property interests 27%

* Noof properties 26

+ Lettable space 96,400 sq m
¢ Netinitial yield 75%

+  Vacancyrate 2.7%

« Like-for-like uplift 19%

» Government and major corporates 59%

« Average unexpired lease length 5 7 years

s Tofirst break 2 8 years

The reduction of the vacancy rate from 3 6% a year ago was
particularly pleasing given the flexible nature of the
traditional French 3 4 9 year lease expiry structure The year
saw 8,043 sq m of new lettings or renewals with tenants
vacating from 4 524 sq m The economic activity an the ground
appears healthier than the macro reparts in the press Letting
demand continues to be most encouraging across the
portfolio, with signs of rental growth especially in Lyon where
we were delighted to secure the British Council into our
Forum building in 374 sqg m Renovation work this year has
been limited, at £1 7 million, mainly at this Forum building

The early indications we mentioned a year ago that there
wauld be very little new construction of affices in our locations
15 holding true, with na sign that this will charge in the
fareseeable future This 1s a most positive situation for the
Group given that vacancy rates in Paris and Lyon are below
7%, take up in both locations rose by over 14% in 2011
compared to the previous year There are ne new schemes
forecast to be delivered in Lyon in 2012 and the immediate
supply of available space I1s just over ane year

Investrnent activity, particularly in the first half, was up by over
25% in the e de France ‘making it hard ta acquire additional
property Agents forecast lower investment levels in 2012 as
banks restrict their lending, and investors wait to see
developments in the Eurozone, but there are almoest no signs
of distress in this region Domestic investors made up
approximately 63% of the investment market and prime Paris
yelds are still someawhat below 5%

GERMANY

e Value £197 million
¢« Group's property interests 22%

+ No of properties 18*

¢ |Lettable space 138,000 sqm
+ Net initial yreld 7 0%

s+ Vacancyrate 6 0%

*  Like-for-lUke uplift 10%

*  Government and major corporates 48%

= Average unexpired lease length 8 7 years

+ To first break 8 7 years

* plus one under construction

The average capital value of £1,428 per sq m 1s comparable
with replacement cost and the year end vacancy rate is higher
than last year s 5 5% due to the bankruptcy of one tenant In
the first half of 2011

Although the German economy Is forecast to grow more
slowly in 2012 1t 1s robust and we cantinue to see signs of
confidence in the future plans of our tenants and potential
occuplers Inthe economy as a whele, leasing take up grew
by 16% n 2011 to the second highest level in 10 years most
markedly in Munich Likewise investrent volumes increased
by some 20%

The main activity during the year has been the construction
start for the two pre-let developments near Munich which will
add 7 042 sq m when completed The 1,642 sq m extension for
Dr Hanle AG In Grafelfing was completed at the end of
February 2012, and the new 5,400 sq m Landshut building
pre-let to E ON Service Plus GmbH completes in summer
2012 The total additional rent from these twe pre-let
developments will be €854 000 per annum

There 15 growing pressure in Germany on overseas owners of
commercial property, funded by overseas banks, who need to
dispose of their assets This 1s Likely to deliver opportunities for
CLSn 2012, and there continues to be reasonable availability
of bank debt from domestic banks




SWEDEN

¢ Value £77 million
Directly owned

*+  Value €59 million
+ Group s property Interests &%

+ No of properties 1

+ Lettable space 45,400 sq m
¢« Netinitial yield 7 1%

+ Vacancy rate 18%

¢ Like-for-like uplift 15%

*+ Government and major corporates 95%

*  Average unexpired lease length 4 4 years

¢ Tofirst break 4 4 years
Indirectly owned

« Value €18 million
« Group's property interest 2%

» Interest in Catena AB 29 9%

The Group s Swedish property interests consist of two parts
First the 45,400 sg m office complex in Vanersborg near
Gothenburg, called Vanerparken The £2 3 million investment
In energy saving plant for the property was completed in the
second half and early data shows the expected savings of over
80% n consumptron and CO, emissions are already being
achieved We are using the same Swedish engineers to advise
the Group on oppartunities to achieve savings in London
which can benefit both the Group and tenants alike

Second, the Group owns 29 9% of the Stockholm-listed real
estate company Catena AB, which now I1s focused on its one
remaining but significant property in Stockholm Negotiations
are pregressing with the local authanties on the 150 000 sg m
mixed-use scheme which has been submitted for planning
consent for almast 1 000 apartments and 50,000 sq m of
commercial space |t s interesting to note that the overall cost of
submitting an application for a similar sized mixed-use scheme
In Stockhalm 1s anly 20% of the comparable cost in Landon

At the year end, based on Catena s share price the market value
of the Group s investment was £17 8 million, being a surplus of
£4 3 million aver the book value, which equates to an additional
10 pence per share to CLS s net asset value Following a rise in
Catena s share price since the year end, the surplus over baok
value at 1 March 2012 was £9 4 million, or 21 pence per share
of additional net asset value for the Company

The Swedish economy has been one aof the better performers
In 2011 with GDP growth of 4 0%, which s forecast to slow in
2012 Property markets are stable and tenant demand 1s firm,
both of which bode well for the Catena site in Stockholm

CLS Holdings plc
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Top 10 tenants

The 10 tenants which contribute mast rental income
to the Group account fer 40 5% of the rent roll, and

comprise
London
< The Home Office Government
> Secretary of State for Government

Work and Peansions
> Cap Gemini Major Corporatian
- BAE Systemns Major Corporation
France
- Grand Duchy of Luxembourg Government
2> Veolia Major Corporation
Germany
2> City of Bochum Government
> EON Major Corporation
Sweden

- Vastra Gotaland County Council  Gavernment

> Vanersborg Kommun

VACANCY RATE HISTORY
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BUSINESS REVIEW covnnueo

MOVEMENT IN RENTAL INCOME 2010 V 2011
£ millions
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RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

HEADLINES Profit after tax of £38 8 million (2010 £60 1
mitlion) generated EPRA earnings per share of 64 9 pence
(2010 42 5 pence), and basic and diluted earnings per share
of 82 0 pence and 81 9 pence, respectively (2010 127 1 pence
each) Gross property assets at 31 December 2011 were
£902 1 mullion (2010 £876 9 mullion), EPRA net assets per
share were 3 2% higher at 983 1 pence (2010 952 9 pence),
and basic net assets per share rase by 6 6% to 817 5 pence
{2010 764 7 pence)

Approximately 40% of the Group s business is conducted in

the reporting currency of sterling, around 50% 1s 1n euros, and

the balance is 1n Swedish kranor Overall, compared to last

year profits benefited marginatly from foreign exchange rate

movements as on average the euro was 1 2% stronger and the

krona é 8% stronger against sterling than in 2010 However |
the euro weakened markedly towards the end of the year,

restricting gains in the value of net assets made earlier in |
the year

|
EXCHANGE RATES TO THE £ |
|

EUR SEK
At 31 December 2009 11275 i1 5489
2010 average rate 11663 11122
At 31 December 2010 114b4 10 4828
20171 average rate 11525 10 4091
At 31 December 2011 11687 10 7088

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Profit after tax
comprised the underlying operating perfarmance of the
Group, known as EPRA earnings, and assorted other elements
such as fair value movements, profits on sales and other
non-recurring items EPRA earnings were £9 6 million higher
than last year at £29 7 mullion (2010 £20 1 rmullion) The net
uplift on revaluation of the investment property portfalio was
£18 G millien (2010 £30 1 million), but the fair value of
derwvative financial instruments, included within finance costs,
fell by £18 5 mullion (2010 £3 1 milllon) Other non-recurring
prafits in the year were £9 & million (2010 £13 0 million)




Consequently, althcugh EPRA earnings rose significantly over
those of 2010, 1n aggregate profit after tax was lower than last
year at £38 8 mitlion (2010 £60 1 millian)

Rentalincome of £66 2 rmiltion was £4 1 million, or 6 6%,
higher than last year £2 5 million of tnis increase was from
acquisitions, primarily made in 2010 and £0 6 million came
fram indexation increases, particularly in Germany and
France The comparative weaknass of sterling accounted for
a further £0 8 million of uplift and the effect of expiries was
largely matched by new lettings

We monitor the adiministration expenses incurred in running
the property portfolio by reference to the income derived from
it, which we call the administration cost ratio, and this 1s a key
performance indicator of the Group In 2011, administratien
expenses fell to €12 1 mullion (2010 £13 0 million), but
property-related administration costs increased to £9 7 million
(2010 £9 1 million), in part through extending our development
teamn The administration cost ratio of 15 4% (2010 15 2%} was
close to the KPI target of 15 0% and, notwithstanding the
relative complexity of our pan-European operation was well
below that of many real estate companies in cur peer group

The net surplus on revaluation of investment properties in the
year was £18 0 million {2010 £30 1 million) €10 2 mullion of
this uplift came from the Landon portfelio, £4 ¢ million was
from France £2 0 mullion from Germany, and our sole direct
property investment in Sweden rose in value by £0 9 million
Overall, the underlying revaluation surplus was 2 1% (or 0 5%
after foreign exchange effects), comprising 1 7% (4 6% after
foraign exchange) in the first half of the year, and 0 4% (minus
3 9% after foreign exchange) in the second half

Finance income of £12 2 million comprised predominantly
interest iIncome of £9 2 million (2010 £4 1 millien) from our
corparate bond portfolio This porticlic fell in value towards
the end of 2011 during the euro crisis and ended the year
down by £15 & mullion, but since first investing in corporate
bonds towards the end of 2008, the portfolio has produced an
annual compound return an equity of ¢ 1% At 31 December
2011 the portfolio generated a yield an market value of 10 2%
To date, the valuation of the portfolio at 31 December 2011
has proved to be a low point, with steady growth in value of
€8 2 million n the first two manths of 2012

CLS Holdings ple
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The rise in Group borrowings (see below) led to an increase in
interest expense on bank leans, debenture loans and other
loans to £29 2 million (2010 £24 0 rmillion), and the fall in the
long-term swap rate in particular created an adverse
movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps and caps of
£18 5 million (2010 £3 1 milion) Consequently finance costs
for the year to 31 December 2011 were £47 7 mullion {2010
£31 1 million)

in late 2010 Catena AB in which the Group owns a 29 %%
interest sold the majority cf its business and 1n April 2011
distributed the praceeds, of which our share was a cash
dmnadend of £19 9 milllon The main drivers of the profit aof
assotiates after tax of £3 0 million (2010 £7 7 million) were

a profit of £3 7 millian (2010 £9 4 milbion) from the reduced
business of Catena and a loss of £8 5 mullian (2010 £1 46 miilion)
fram our 48 3% holding in Bulgarian Land Development Plc

Qur French operation was the only part of the Greup which
paid tax Elsewhere in the Group, tax losses, including those
generated by closing out an Interest rate swap, abserbed
taxable prefits made in the year, creating a current tax credit
of £1 2 million Tax for the year also contained a deferred tax
charge of £0 1 miltion {2010 £64 4 mullion), which largely
represents an adjustment required under IFRS for the
pctential tax accasioned by valuation movements on
investment properties offset by tax losses

DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS In April 2011, £7 2 million
was distributed to shareholders by means of a tender offer
buy-back of 11n 47 shares at 725 pence per share In
September, a further £4 4 million was distributed by means

of a tender offer buy-back of 11n 72 shares at 700 pence per
share and a proposed tender offer buy-back of 11n 42 shares
at 735 pence per share to return £7 2 millian will be put to
sharehotders 1n April 2012 This represents a 10% uplift aver
the equivalent distribution last year
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BUSINESS REVIEW covmnues

MOVEMENT IN EPRA NAY 2011
Pence per share
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MOVEMENT IN LIQUID RESQURCES 2011
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EPRA NET ASSET VALUE At 31 December 2011 EPRA net
assets per share (a diluted measure which highlights the fair
value of the business on a long-term basis) were 983 1 pence
(2010 952 9 pence) arise of 3 2%, or 30 2 pence per share
Elements of the business which increased EPRA NAV in the
year included profit after tax (83 3 pence per share) the
property portiolio revaluation uplift {39 8 pence) and the two
tender offer buy-backs (8 6 pence) However due to uncertainty
over the euro, the fair value of our corporate honds fell by
the equivalent of 34 5 pence per share the resulting strength
in sterling reduced EPRA NAV by 13 5 pence and the early
redemption of an interest rate swap reduced it by a further
53 5 pence per share

CASH FLOW, NET DEBT AND GEARING At 31 December 2011
the Group s liquid resources of £140 4 million - comprising
cash of £55 3 million and corporate bonds of £85 1 mullion -
were £14 0 oullion tugher than £124 4 mutlion twelve months
earlier In May a one-off dividend from our associate Caiena AB
added £19 9 millicn The underlying operations of the business
generated cash of £25 1 million during the year, of which

€11 8 millon was distributed to shareholders New loans of
€171 4 million, after costs, replaced those repaid of £132 2
millien, being a net cash inflew of £3%9 2 million, which financed
in part capital expenditure and acquisiticns of £20 4 million
The early repayment cf an interest rate swap cost £24 2 millian,
and the bond portfolio fell in value by £15 6 million

Early in 2011, the Board decided that the Group should raise
debt in anticipation of a reduction in the general availabiuity of
bank finance later in the year and this proved to be a well-
Judged decisien |In May, we 1ssued the first CLS corporate
bond, for SEX 300 million (£29 5 mullton), 1in Sweden This
unsecured five-year bond which attracts interest at 375 basis
points above STIBOR, has since been listed on the NASDAQ
OMX in Stockholm It was neteworthy that the Group looked to
Issue the bond in London, but investors in Sweden proved
more accommadating to the 1ssue even though CLS s shares
were not listed there In June, 19 loans in the French partfolio
were refinanced by separate facilities from two banks
including one bank which was new to the Group The new
loans af £114 1 million in aggregate replaced athers of £85 7
million, increasing the loan to value ratio on the properties
which they financed to 68% from under 50% In London a new
loan of £3 3 milbon was taken cut on the acquisitions In
Hounslow, and twa were refinanced for £6 0 million, whilst in
Germany, £1 7 million was drawn on a new development loan




A short-term SEK 300 millian facility taken out during the year
was subsequently repaid Other repayments of bank loans of
£19 1 million were made by way of amortisation in the ordinary
course of business Following all of these transactions, and
retranslating the resulting loans into sterling, at 31 December
2011 gross debt of £625 1 million was £32 8 million higher
than the £592 3 million of twelve months earlier

The weighted average unexpired term of the Group s debt at
31 December 2011 was 4 4 years £1531 2 mullion of loans fell
duen 2012 ncluding £14 3 million of amortisation of loan
balances in the normal course of business

Since 1 January 2012, £30 million has been refinanced, and
£89 1 million has been approved by credit committee and all
cther appropriate bank internal processes, and (s subject to
completion of legal documentation On refinancing of these
loans, the weighted average unexpired term of the Group s
debt will be 5 1 years '

Adjusted net gearing, which 1s based on EPRA net assets, was
128% at 31 December 2011 and the weighted average loan-to-
value on barrowings against properties was a comfortable

62 5% Adjusted solidity was 40 5% (2010 41 7%)

The weighted average cost of debt at 31 December 2011 was
4 1%, one of the lowest in the property sector, and down from
4 3% twelve months earlier The fall was primarily caused by
cancelling a long-term swap (see below) With bank financing
now mare expensive than when existing loans were taken out,
all other things being equal refinancing them as they fall due
will gradually increase the average cost of debt of the Group

In 20113, our low cost of debt led to recurring interest cover of
a comfortable 2 6 times (2010 3 2 times) The fall was caused
by a lower share of profit of associates after tax of £3 0 mullion
(2010 £7 7 miltion), and a higher recurring net interest cost
due to higher berrowings

CLS Holdings plc
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MOVEMENT IN GROSS DEBT 2011
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DEBT PROFILE AT 31 DECEMBER 2011
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DEBT HEDGING
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FINANCING STRATEGY The Group s strategy 1s to hold its
investment properties predorminantly in single-purpose
vehicles financed primarily by non-recourse bank debt in the
currency used to purchase the zsset In this way credit and
liguidity msk can most easily be managed around 70% of the
Group s exposure to foreign currency Is naturally hedged and
the most efficient use can be made of the Group s assets
Around 10% of the Group s debt Is not property specific and
15 taken out by the parent Company to provide additional
financial flexibility This comprises the Swedish bond 1ssued in
2011, and short-tarm overdraft facilities Bank debt ordinarily
attracts covenants on loan-to-value and on interest and debt
service cover None of the Group s debt was in breach of
covenants at 31 December 2011 The Group had é4 loans
across the portfolio from 20 banks None of the loans at

31 December 2011 had been secuntised by any lender, and
the Group had no exposure to the CMBS market

To the extent that Group borrowings are nat at fixed rates, the
Group s expesure to interest rate risk 1s mitigated by the use
of financial derwatives, particularly interest rate swaps and
caps The Beard believes that interest rates are likely to
remain low longer than the forward interest curve would
imply, and therefaore, its policy 15 to allow the majonty of debt
to remain subject to floating rates To mitigate the risk of
interest rates increasing mare sharply than the Beoard expects
the Group enters into Interest rate caps At 31 December 2011,
21% of the Group s borrowings were at fixed rates or subject
to interest rate swaps, 54% were subject to caps and 25% of
debt costs were unhedged

The Group s financial dervatives -~ predominantly interest rate
swaps and Interest rate caps - are marked to market at each
balance sheet date, at 1 January 2011 the net liability of such
derwvatives was £13 7 mullion The fall in medium and long-
term interest rates in 2011 increased the net lUability of these
derwvatives by £18 5 mithan To provide mare {lexibility in the
Group s financing we chose to close cut our major lang-term
Interest rate swap in December crystallising a £24 2 million
accumulated loss This left the Group with six interest rate
swaps with an aggregate national amount of only £30 million
and a derivative Lability of £9 1 million at 31 December 2011,
at which date thay had a weighted average unexpired term of
4 1years Other derivatives at 31 December 2011 were mainly
interest rate caps and had a net positive value of £1 8 million




SHARE CAPITAL At 1 lanuary 2011, there were 51,381,244
shares In 1ssue of which 4,793,000 were held as treasury
shares On 28 April, under the tender offer buy-back, 991,239
shares were cancelled in exchange for £7 2 million distributed
to shareholders and on 22 September, under the tender offer
buy-back, 633,291 shares were cancelled in exchange for

£4 4 million distrnibuted to shareholders |n November and
December, an aggregate of 10,103 shares were purchased

In the market and placad in Treasury Consequently at

3i Decernber 2011, 44,953,611 shares were listed on the
London Stock Exchange and 4,803,103 shares were held

In Treasury

The Directors intend to put to shareholders in April 2012 a
proposal to 1ssue a tender offer to buy-back 11n 42 shares at
735 pence per share f approved by shareholders this could
lead to the purchase and cancetlation of 1 070,324 shares,
and a distnibution to shareholders of £7 9 million

TOTAL RETURNS TO SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the distributions and share cancelations
associated with the tender offer buy-backs, shareholders
benefited from a rise in the share price in the year fram 535
pence on 31 December 2010 to 570 pence at 31 December
2011 Accordingly the total sharehalder returnin 2011 was
11 1% In the four years to 31 December 2011 our total
shareholder return of 44 9% - a compound annual return of
13 3% - represented the best performance in the listed real
estate sector

Since the Company listed on the London Stock Exchange, it
has outperformed the FTSE Real Estate and FTSE All Share
Indices, as set out in the graph on this page The graph
includes dividend payments made by other companies, since
1998, CLS had not made diwidend payments to shareholders,
but instead has made capital distributions through tender
offer buy-backs, none of which has been accounted for in
the graph

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Our performance against our key performance indicators 1s
set out on page 2

CLS Holdings ple
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ADDING VALUE THROUGH DEVELOPMENT

Looking to the Future

CLS S PRIMARY BUSINESS COMPRISES THE CASH-GENERATIVE INVESTMENT
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO WHEN THE TIME IS RIGHT, THE GROUP TAKES THE
OPPORTUNITY TO ABD VALUE TO THE BUSINESS BY UNDERTAKING DEVELOPMENTS
AFTER FIRST DE-RISKING THEM THROUGH PRE-LETTINGS OR PRE-SALES

{IN 2011, TWO SUCH DEVELOPMENTS WERE ON SITE IN GERMANY, AT LANDSHUT
AND GRAFELFING A FURTHER TWO, MEDIUM-TERM SCHEMES WERE SUBMITTED
FOR PLANNING IN LONDON, AT'SPRING MEWS AND VAUXHALL SQUARE

Landshut, Germany

A 5,400 sq m development pre-let to E ON for
17 5 years

In Landshut, which 1s 70 km north east of Munich,
we own three adjacent properties let to £ ON Service
Plus GmbH In 2011 we agreed to develop a fourth,
comprising 5,400 sq m pre-let to the same tenant

The development 1s to be completed by the summer
of 2012 and has been let on a 17 b year index-Unked
lease until March 2030 with no breaks It will
produce an income of €659 000 p a , which equates
tc €114 per sqg m and represents an initial yield of

8 5% to CLS on a forecast cost of €8 millon After
debt finance the itial return on equity will be
194%pa

The new property 1s the fourth phase of a 16 100 sq m
fully-let office complex, including CLS s original
purchase (n 2006, and phases two and three
developed in 2009 E ON will use the new property
as office space for internal services within the E ON
group of compantes

The building 15 being built to the high  Silver
environmental standard

Gréfelfing, Germany

A 1,642 sq m expansion and new 10 year lease with
Dr Honle AG in Munich

When the existing single tenant at Grafetfing Munich
Dr Honle AG, requested extra space, we were able
to meet their needs with a pre-let 1,642 sqm
development, and simultaneously replace their
existing lease, resulting in an index-linked lease
until October 2020 with no breaks, on the entire
8,527 sqg m complex

Work began on the extension of the office and light
industrial praperty in Q4 2010 and 1s due to be
completed in early 2012 The expanded space will
produce €1,096,236 of income p a, which equates to
€120 per sqg m and represents a net initial yield on
cost of 7 7% With debt finance, the iniial return on
equityis183%pa

Cr Honle 1s among the leading manufacturers of UV
technolagy for industrial applications world-wide
and 1s listed on the Prime Standard at the German
Stock Exchange

The building 1s betng buiit to the high Silver
anvironmental standard




Vauxhall Square, London SW8

A 154,000 sq m mixed use develepment scheme

In December 2011 we submitted a detailed planning application
for a 154,000 sq m mixed-use development scheme in Vauxhall
following a senes of stakeholder consultations conducted during
the year The proposed Vauxhall Square redevelopment is located
close to Vauxhall s transpert interchange and comprises two
residential towers of approximately 50 stores cantaining 510
homes 15,231 sq m of office space, 3,500 sq m of retaill restaurant
and cafe space, 416 student units a 438 bed hotel, a 4 screen
cinemna, 94 affordable housing units, a new homeless hostel a
majar new public square (of similar size to Paternoster Square in
the City of London), and significant public realm improvements

Vauxhall Square Is at the heart of the Vauxhall Nine Elms
regeneration area between the Vauxhall transport links and the
proposed new US Embassy Subject to receiving a viable planning
consent, and suitable pre-lets and pre-sales, a start on site 1s
possible in 2014, with phases being completed from 2017 cnward
The development cost of the proposed scheme 1s 1n excess of
£400 million

CLS Holdings plc
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Spring Mews, London SET1

A proposed 20,801 sq m mixed-use development
scheme

Also in December 2011 we submitted a detailed
planming application tar a 20,800 sq m student
accommaodation and hotel led development scheme
in Vauxhall called Spring Mews Located close to the
Albert Embankment and the Vauxhail transport
interchange, the scheme comprises 402 student
rooms and amenity space, a 120 bed mid-market
hotel, a new 541 sg m community centre and cafe,
469 sq m of office space, a 245 sq m convenience
retall unit, and the creation of a new pedestrian
mews linking the development to Spring Gardens

Sub]ect to receming piannmg consent, we would aim
to start on site 1n 2012, with completion in 2014 The
total development cost of the proposed scheme 151n
excess of £50 mullion
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are @ number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have a material impact on the Group s performance and
could cause the results to differ matenially from expected or historical results The management and mitigaticn of these risks

are the responsibility of the Board

Risk

Areas of Impact

Mitigation

PROPERTY INVESTMENT RISKS

Underperfarmance cf investment

partfolio due to

s Cyclical downturn in property
market

* Inappropriate buy/sell/hold
decisiens

Cash flow
Profitability

Net asset value
Barnixing covenants

Senior management has detailed knowledge of core markets and
experience gained through many market cycles This experience is
supplemented by external advisers and financial madels used in
capital allocation cecisicn-making

e Changes in supcly of space and/or

tenant demand

Rental income
Cash flow
Vacaricy rate

Void running costs
Bad debis

Net asset value

The Group s property portfolio ts civersified across four countries
The weightad-average unexpired lease term s 7 7 years and the
Group s largest tenant cancentration 1s with the Government
sector (40%)

» Poor asset management

Rental incame
Cash flow
Vacancy rate

Vaid running casts
Prcperty values
Net asset value

Praperty teams proactively manage tenants ta ensure changing
neads are met, ana review the current status of all properuas
weekly Written reports are submitted bi-weekly to senier
management on inter alia vacancies lease expiry prefiles and
progress on rent reviews

OTHER INVESTMENT RISKS

Corporate bond investments
+ Underperformance ot portfolio
s Insolvency of bond issuer

Net asset value
Liguid resources

In assessing potential investments, the Treasury department
undertakes research on the bond and its 1ssuer, seeks third-party
advice, and receives legal advice on the terms of the bond, where
appropriate The Treasury department and Executive Directors
receive updates on bond price movements and third party markat
analysis on a daily basis, and reports on ccrporaie bones to the
full Board on a bi-weekly basis The Exaecutive Directors rormally
review the corporate bond strategy monthly

DEVELOPMENT RISKS

Failure to secure planning
permissian

Abortive costs
Reputation

Planning permission 1s sought only after engaging in depth with
all stakeholders

Contractor solvency and availability

Reduced
development returns
Cost overruns

l_oss of rental revenue

Cnly leading contractors are engaged Pricr to appointment,
contractars are the subject of 8 due diligence cneck and assessed
for financial wiapility

Downturn in investment ar
cccupational markets

Net asset value

Developments are undertaken anly arter an appropriate level of
pre-lets have been obtained




Risk

Areas of Impact

CLS Holdings plc

Anngal Repart & Accounts 21

Mitigation

FUNDING RISKS

Unavailability of financing at
acceptable prices

Cost of boerrowing
Ability to tnvest or
develop

The Group has a dedicated Treasury department and relationshios
arz maintained with scme 20 banks, thus reducing credit and
liquidity risk The exposure on re-financing debt 1s mitigated by the
lack of concentration in matunties

Adverse interest rate movements

Cost of barrowing
Cost of hedging

The Group s expasure to changes in prevailing market rates Is
largely hedged on existing debt through interest rate swaps and
caps, or by borrawing at fixed rates

Breach of borrowing covenanis

Cost of barrowing

Financial covenanis are monitored by the Treasury department and
regularly reported to the Board

Foreign currency exposure

Net asset value
Prefitability

Property investments are partially funded in matching currency
The difference betwean the value of the property and the amount
of the financing 1s generally unhedged and monitared on an
ongeing basis

Financial counterparty credit risk

Loss of deposits
Caost of rearranging
facilities
Incremental cost
of borrowing

The Group has a dedicated Treasury department and relationshics
are maintained with approximately 20 banks, thus reducing credit
and liquidity risk The exposure on re-financing debt 1s mitigated
by the lack of concentration in maturities

TAXATION RISK

Increases in tax rates or changas
to the basis of taxation

Cash flow
Prefitability
Net asset value

The Group montters legislative proposals and consults external
advisors to understand anc mitigate the effects of any such change

POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC RISK
Break-up of the Euro

Net asset value
Prafitabitity

Euro-denominated liquid resources are Kept to a mimimum Euro
property assets are largely iinanced with euro sorrowings

Economic downturn

Cash flow
Profitability

Net asset value
Banking cavenants

The Group s praperty portfolio 1s diversified across four countries
The weighted-average unexpired lease term is 7 7 years and the
Group s largest tenant concentration 1s with the Government
sector (40%) é5% of rental income 15 subject to indexation

GOING CONCERN

The Group will not have adeguate
working caoital to remain a going
concern for the next 12 manths

Pervasive

The Directors regularly stress-test the business model to ensure
the Group has adequate working capital
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SCHEDULE OF GROUP PROPERTIES

LONDON

at 31 December 2011 Tenure Areasqm Use

London EC4

Clifford s Inn, Fetter Lane Freehold 3042 Offices

London SE1

Wesiminster Tower 3 Albert Embankment Freehold 4,438 Offices

Fielden House, 28/42 London Bridge Street* Freehold 754 Offices

London SWé

Quayside, Willarm Marris Way Freehold 3064 Offices

London 5W8

Cap Germinl House 5 Wandsworth Rd & 72/78 Bondway & 22 Miles Street Freehold 10,427 Offices/Industnal

80/84 Bondway Freshold 1422 Offices

101/103/107 Wandsworth Road Freehaold 488 Residential

131/137 Wandsworth Road Freehold 1,544 Offices

18/20 Miles Street Freehold 152 Offices

London SE11

Spring Gardens, Tinwerth Street Freehold 19819 Cffices

Soring Gardens Court 79 Vauxhall Walk Leasehald 115 Residential

2/10 Tinworth Street Freehold 1,424 Officesflndustnal

16 Tinworth Street Freehold 218 Industrial

92/98 Vauxhall Walk Freehold 97 Offices

100 Vauxhall Walk Freehold 1,533 Commuruty Centre

108 Vauxhall Walk Freehald 400 Car parking

110 Vauxhall Walk Freehold 790 Industrial

Western House 5 Glasshouse Walk Freehold 589 Offices

35 Albert Embankment Freehold 927 Leisure

London WC1

214/234 Grays Inn Road Freehold 26,295 Offices

London WC2

Ingram House, 13/15 John Adam Street Freehold 1308 Offices/Residenual

London NW10

Chancel House, Nezsden Lane Freehold 6,940 Cffices

Landon W&

Cambridge House, 100 Cambridge Greve Freehold 6,712 Offices

Lendon W10

Buspace Studios 10 Conlan Sireet Freehold 3005 Studios/Warkshops/
Offices

Brentford

Great West House Great West Road TW8 Freehold 14 299 Dffices

Hounslow

115/123 Staines Road, TW3 Freehotd 2 353 Offices

125/135 Staines Road TW3 Freehold 2340 Dffices

New Malden

Cl Tower, High Street, KT3 Freehald 7.550 Offices

Apex Tower High Street KT3 Freehold 16 217 Offices/Retal

Ipswich

Zest Nightclub, Princas Street, IP1 Freehold 1,951 Laisure

Investment properties 133,918

Owner-occupled

84 Bondway SW8 Freehold 891 Offices

134,809

* Share of joint venture




FRANCE AND LUXEMBOURG

CLS Holdings ple

Annual Repgort & Accounts

23

at 31 December 2011 Tenure Areasqm Use
Pans
48 Rue Craix des Petits Champs 75001 Freehald 1 800 Offices
20/22 Rue des Petits Hazels, 75010 Freehold 2,058 Offices
18 Rue Stephenson, 75018 Freehold 538 Offices
Le Suily, l15t 2 Rue Georges Bizet 78200 Mantes la Jolie Freehold 2798 Dffices
95/97 Bis Rue de Bellevue, 92100 Boulogne Freehold 2,478 Offices
16 Rue de Solferina 92100 Boulogne Freehold 1,644 Offices
58 Avenue Ceneral Laclerc, 92100 Boulogne Freehold £25 Offices
Le Quatuor 168 Avenue Jean Jaures, 92120 Montrouge Freehold 4,558 Offices
2 Rue Pierre Timbaud 92230 Gennevilliers Freehald 3118 Dffices
23/27 Rue Pierre Valette, 92240 Malakoff Freehold 10,778 Offices
Le Sigma Place de Belgique, 90 Bld de LEurope, 92250 la Garenne-Colombas  Freehald 4,598 Otfices
Le Debussy, 77/81 Boulevard de la Reoublique 92250 la Garenne-Colombes Freehold 4199 Qifices
62 Avenue Foch, 92250 la Garanne-Colombes Freehold 181 Offices
120 Rue Jean Jaures $2300 Levallois Perret Freehald 4203 Offices
56 Boulevard de la Mission Marchand, 92400 Caurbevoie Freehold 2,784 Offices
53/55 Rue du Capitaine Guynemer 92400 Courbeveie Freehold 217N Oifices
7 Rue Eugene et Armand Peugeot 2500 Rueil-Malmaisan Freehold 7,357 Oifices
Lyon
Forum 27/33 Rue Maurice Flandin 49003 Freehold 4 802 Offices
D Aubigny, 27 Rue de la Villette, 69003 Leasehold 4,314 Offices
Rhéne Alpes 235 Cours Lafayelte, 49004 Freehold 3147 Gifices
Park Avenue 81 Boulevard de Stalingrad, Villeurbanne, 69100 Freehold 4 249 Offices
Front de Parc 109 Boulevard de Stalingrad 69100 Leasehold 5,223 Offices
Lille
74 Rue Nationale, 59000 Freehold 2333 Offices
La Madeletne 105 Avenue de la Republique 59110 Freehold 4,449 Offices
Antibes
Le Chorus 2203 Chemin de St Claude, Nova Antipolis 04600 Freehold 4333 Offices
Luxembourg
14 Rue Eugene Ruppert L2453 Freehold 3,498 Qffices
96,398
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SCHEDULE OF GROUP PROPERTIES conmmueo

GERMANY
at 31 December 2011 Tenure Area sgm Use
Munich
BrainLAB, Kapellenstrasse 12 Feldkirchen D-85422 Freehold 16312 Offices
Planegg, Maximilian Forum, Lechhamer Strasse 11/15, D-82152 Freehold 13,814 Offices
Grafelfing Lochhamer Schlag 1 Freehold 4,885 Offices
Rudesheimer Strasse 9 D-80484 Freehold 2588 Oifices
Unterschleisshaim, Lise-Meiiner-Sirasse 4 0-85714 Freehold 2,558 Offices
Hamburg
Fangdieckstrasse 75, 75a, b, 22547 Freehold 13,094 Cffices
Jarrestrasse 8/10, D-22303 Freehold 5,569 Offices
Merkurring 33/35 D-22143 Freehold 5 408 Offices
Harburger Ring 33, D-21073 Freehold 3344 Offices
Frohbosestrasse 12 D-22525 Freehold 1,993 Offices
Berlin
Rudowerchausee 12, D-12489, Adlershofer Tor Freehold 19,992 Cffices/Retail
Bismarckstrasse 105 & Leibnitzstrasse 11/13, Charlotienburg Freehold 6,045 Offices
Bochum
Hans-Bockler-Strasse 19, 44787 Freehold 24,828 Offices
Dusseldorf
Schanzenstrasse 76, B-40549 Freehold 3095 Residential
Landshut
1,3, 5E on Allee Roider-Jackl-Strasse Freehold 10 465 Offices
Suderhastedt
Dorfstrasse 14, 25727 reehold 1,185 Nursing hcme
137,994
SWEDEN
at 31 December 2011 Tenure Areasqm Use
Vanerparken
Lasarettet No 2 4/8, Vanerparken Vanershorgs Kommun Freehold 45,384 Offices/Education/
Residential/Leisura/
Hospital
45,384

Total Portfolio at 31 December 2011

414,585
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RENTAL DATA
Gross rental Net rental Caontracted Contracted Vacancy
income for incomne for Lettable rent at ERY at rent subject rate at
the year the year space year end yearend toindexation year end
£m £m sqm £m £m £m %
London 264 247 133,918 278 264 43 4 0%
France 188 185 96 398 87 183 187 2 7%
Germany 142 13 4 137,994 1’3‘9 145 139 6 0%
Swaden &2 49 45,384 62 56 43 18%
Total Portfolio 654 615 413,694 66 3 648 432 3 9%
Note a further £3 8 million of Londen centracted rent will be subject to annual indexation from 2015
VALUATION DATA
Valuation movement in the year
EPRA True
Market value Foreign Net topped up net equivalent
of property Underlysng exchange imttal yretd™  initial yreld®? Reversion Over-rented yeld
£m £m £m % % %
Lendon 39840 102 - 4 6% 6 2% 31% 11 0% & 9%
France 2483 49 {70} 75% 7 1% 1 8% 6 7% 7 0%
Germany 1971 24 (54) 70% 5 6% 08% 31% 4 0%
Sweden 58 7 09 (13 7 9% 7 5% 13% 13 4% 25%
Totat Portfolio 9021 180 (137N 70% 6 &% 21% 8 3%

(i) Based an contracted rent and before adding purchasers costs to investment praperty vatues 1f based on passing rent nel imtial yield would be 6 8%
(2) Based an contracted rent and after adding purchasers costs to Investment property values If based on pasaing rent EPRA net initial yield would be 4 5%

LEASE DATA
Average lease length Passing rent of leases expiring in ERV of leases expiring in
Year After Year After
Tobreak  To exptry Year 1 Year 2 3tas year 3 Year 1 Year 2 Jtwb year 5
years years £m £m £m £€m £€m £m £m £tm
Lendon 856 93 09 19 51 96 09 21 St 171
France 28 57 03 08 53 122 03 09 49 117
Germany 87 87 12 10 54 b4 " 09 52 43
Sweden 44 44 01 a1 45 16 01 07 37 146
Total Portfolio 64 77 25 38 20.3 398 24 40 18.9 36.7
RENT BY LEASE LENGTH RENT BY SECTOR
Vacant Other
Over 10 years 174% Government
25 3% Finance 40 4%
37%
5ta 10
Business
years services
0,
32 2% 18 3%

Manufacturing
10 7%
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

for the year ended 31 Oecemher 2011

The

Directors presant their annual report and the audited financral

statements for the year ended 31 Becember 2011 The Chairmans
Statement Business Review and Corporate Governance Repaort
form gart of this report and should be read in conjunction with it

1

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group curing the year were the
Investimeant In, and the development and management of,
cormnmercial preperties in London France, Germany and
Sweden and in other investments

REVIEW OF BUSINESS

The group statement of comprehensive income for the yearis
set out on page 46

A review of results for the year the Group s objective,
business model and strateqy applied to the business model
the principal nsks and uncertainties facing the Group anc the
prospects {or the future, are sat cut within the Chairmans
Statement, Business Review and Property Portfalio on pages
410 24 and are incorporated inte this report by reference
These also include analysis using key performance indicators
and any other information required to fulfil the requirements
of the Business Review

Details of use by the Group of financial instruments are set
out In the Business Revtew on pages 8to 17 and in note 25 to
the group financial statements Risk Management objectives
are also detailed in note 25 to the group financial statements

BIRECTORS

The Directors af the Company are set out below and changes
to the compaosition of the Board during the year can be found
in the Corparate Governance Report on pages 25 to 31

The statement of Directors remuneration and their interests
in shares and share aptians of the Campany are set out in the
Birectors Remuneration Repart on pages 34 to 41 Related
party transactions are shown in nates 35 and 36

Biographical details of the Executive and Non-Executive
Directors are set out below

Executive Directars

Sten A Mortstedt, aged 72 s Executive Chairman of the
Caompany He began his career in 1942 with Svenska
Handelsbanken In Steckholm and within three years had
formed a property investrment partnership in 1968 he was
appeinted Managing Oirector of the Mortstedt family property
camnany, Citadellet AB, which was floated on the Stock
Exchange in Stockholm 1in 1981 The company was sold in
1985 for a price five times higher than the introducnion price
which was at that time the largest property deal recorded in
Scandinavia

Since 1977 he has been involved in estanlishing and runming
property interests in the UK Sweden and France He
established CLS in 1987 and has been Executive Chairman
since he took the Company o a listing on the main market of
the London Stock Exchange in 1994

In addition to his facus on property, he has been commercially
achive In & number of other investment areas He has seen a
number of the companies in which he has invested through
te successful stack exchange listings or trade sales

He runs his globalinterests from his residence in Switzerland

E Henry Klotz, aged 47 was appointed Executive Vice
Chatrman on 1 January 2011, having previously been Chief
Executive Cfficer fram May 2008 He jotned tha Group in 1999
with responsibility for the management of the Swedish
operation and mare recently was involved In the setting up of
the German dwision and sourcing new business opportunities
for the Group He s a qualified engineer and econamist

0On behalf oi LS he 1s Nan-Executive Chairman of Catena AB,
a Nardic real estate company quoted an tne Stockholm Stock
Exchange, in which CLS hotds an interest in 29 9% of its
issuec share capital He s also Non-Executive Chairman of
Bulgarian Land Davelopmant Ple, in which CLS halds an
Interest in 48 3% of its 1ssued share capital a Non-Executive
Director of Nyhetar 24, a Swedish on-line news and media
business in which CLS owns an interest in 20% of its 1ssued
share capital and a Non-Executive Directar of Note AB a
tachnelogy company quoted on the Stockholm Stock
Exchange, in which CLS holds an Interest in 8 5% of 1ts
1ssued share capital

Richard J S Tice, aged 47 |oined the Campany in 2010 as
Deputy Chief Executive Cfficer and was appointed Chief
Executive Officer on 1 January 2011 He has over 25 years
experience In internatienal property and was joint CEC of the
Sunley Group ple for 15 years uniil 2006 when he arranged 2
sharahclder exit prior to the market downturn in 2007 He
was then Managing Partner of his own boutique firm
specialising 1n real estate debt For three years until October
2009 he was also a non-executive directer then Chairman of
AlM listed Scuth African Property Opportunities ple He has
been a non-executive director of two other listed companies
His property experience covers commercial and residential
investment as well as development, together with banking,
hedging debt restructuring and distressed debt trading

John H Whiteley, aged 53, joined the Company in 2009 as
Chief Financial Qfficer He was previously Finance Officer at
Doughty Hanson & Co Real Estate and for ten years was
Finance Director of Great Portland Estates ple a company
listed on the London Steck Exchange Heis a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accauntants and spent nine years with
Ernst & Young after qualifying as an accountant witn Spicer
& Pegler

Non-Executive Directors

Malcolm C Cooper, aged 52 |oined the Board in 2007 and 1s
the Senior Independent Director, Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
He 1s Global Tax & Treasury Director of National Grid plc
where he has worked for various predecessor companies
since 1991 Previously he worked for Andersen Consulting
He has a first in pure mathematics from Warwick University
is a qualified accountant and 1s @ member of the Association
of Corparate Treasurers

Joseph A Crawley, aged 52, joined the Board in 2008 He s 2
Director of Kitewoed Estates Limited, a property investment
and development company active In London and south-east
England and has over 20 years experience cf the central
Landon property market He was previously employed by CLS
for a8 number of years and was involved 1n the development of
the Spring Gardens site




Christopher P Jarvis FRICS, aged 54, joined the Board in
2008 and 1s Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a memaoer of the Audit Cammuttee He hasan M A fram
Cambridge University and 1s a Partner of Jarvis & Partners,
a bovtique real estate consultancy which he astablished In
Berltn 1n 1994 Previously he was Managing Director of
Richard Ellis Germany where he established the firm s
Frankfurt and Berlin otfices His firm has acted as
development partner for the HRO Group In Germany

H 0 Thomas Lundgwvist, agec 47, joined the Board 1n
November 1990 and was Finance Director of the Company
until 1995 when he became a Non-Executive Director He
was Vice Chairman from 24 November 2009 until 1 January
2011 Prior to joning CLS Mr Lundgvist worked for the
ASEA-Brown Bover Group (ABB) and from 1983 for Svenska
Finans Internattonal 2art o1 Svenska Handelsbanken Group
where he was a board member

Jennica Mortstedt, aged 27 joined the Board in May 2010
and 1s the daughter of Bengt Mortstedt a founding member
and major shareholder in the Company She has eight years
experience in the hotel industry and has a degree in
International Business and Hospitality from Ecole Hoteliere
de Lausanne Switzerland

Brigith Terry, aged 48, joined the Board in August 2011 She
has gver 35 years experience in the international bank:ng
and property industries and was a bank directer responsible
for the international commercial property loans business at
Wurttermbergische Hypotheken-hank AG and then Hypo Real
Estate Banx International AG {now part of Deutsche
Pfandbrierbank AG) until 30 June 2007 Brigith Terry is a
qualified public notary in Germany and I1s now retired from
banking

Thomas J Thomsaon, aged 41, joined the Board 1n 2001 as
Executive Vice Chairman and Acting Chief Executive and was
made Chief Exacutive in 2004 He became a Nan-Executive
Direcor 1n 2004 and served as Non-Executive Vice Chairman
from 2004 to 2009 and Campany Secretary from 1983 te 2001
and from 2008 ta 2009 He 1s a qualified solicitor anc joined
the Group as General Counsel in 1994 having been a partner
with Taylor Walton Solicitors for many years

As explained in the Corporate Governance Report on page 31
all directers (other than Mrs Terry) will be subject to annual
re-election at the Annual General Meeting 1n accordance with
the Code and Mrs Terry who was appointed since the last
Annual General Meeting, and, being eligibie, will stand for
alecticn

The Exacutive Chairman recommends the re-election of the
retiring Directers, and the election of Mrs Terry at the
Annual General Meeting given their performance and
continued iImportant contributicn to the Company The
Senier Independent Non-Executive Director recemmends
the re-elaction of the Executive Chairman

DIVIDENDS

tn ieu of paying cash dividends 1t 1s the Company s pelicy to
make distributions by way of tender offer buy-backs

Ouring the year a first tender coffer was made by way of a
Circular dated 18 March 2011 far the purchase of 110 47 shares
at 725 pence per share and was completed on 28 April 2011

It returned €7 2 rmullion to sharzholders, equivalent to 15 4
pence per share

CLS Holdings plc
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A second tender offer was made by way of a Circular dated
22 August 2011 for the purchase of 11n 72 shares at 700
pence per share and was completed cn 23 September 2011

It returned £4 4 million to shareholders equivalent to 9 7 pence
per share

A tender offer will be put to sharehalders in March 2012 for
the purchase of 1 1n 42 shares at a price of 735 pence per
share which, If approved, will return a further £7 9 mullion to
shareholders equivalent to 17 5 pence per share

PURCHASE OF THE COMPANY'S SHARES

As cescribed above, and under the relevant authonty granted
at the 2011 Annual General Meeting, during the year the
Company made two tender offer purchases totalling
1,624,530 ardinary shares at a cost of £11 6 million Of these,
991,239 ardinary shares were purchased on 28 April 2011 at
725 pence per share and 633,291 ordinary shares were
purchased on 23 September 2011 at 700 pence per share
These shares were subsequently cancelled

Pursuant to the relevant authonty grantad at the 2011 Annual
General Meeting and in view of the discount of the market
price of the Company s shares to the net asset value the
Company made market purchases of 1ts own shares during
the year tetalling 10 103 ordingry shares for which 1t paid an
aggregate amount of £54 649 These shares were subsaquently
placed in Treasury

The Directors will continue to keep under review whether to
make tender ofter purchases and markat purchases of the
Campany s shares If they are 1n the best interests of
shareholders, by reference to the cash resources of tne
Company and the discount of the market price of the
Company s shares to the net asset value

A resolution will be propesed at the 2012 Annual General
Meeting te give the Campany authority to make market
purchases of up to 4,495,361 shares along with an adaitional
resolution enabling the Company to undertake tender offer
purchases, subject to set carameters, thereby reducing the
administrative burden on shareholders of having to nold
General Mestings more than ance a year Any market
purchases or tender offer purchases during the year will not
exceed 4 495 341 shares in aggregate

The aggregated authonty for the purchase of the Company s
own shares that remained valid at the year end following the
tender offer purchases and market purchases that took place
during the year was in respect of 3,024,191 ordinary shares

SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in snare capital are shown in note 26 to the group
financial statements At 31 December 2011 and at the date
of this report the Company s tssued share capital consisted
of 49,756,714 ordinary shares of 25 pence each, of which
4,803,103 shares were held as ireasury shares and all of
which ranked pari passu

At the date of this report the total nurnocer of voting rights in
CLS holdings ple1s 64,953,611, being the number of shares
In1ssue excludmg treasury shares The rights (including full
details relating to voting) obligatians and any restrictions on
transfer relating to the Company s shares, as well as the
powers of the Directors are set out in the Company s Articles
of Association
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT conminuen

for the year ended 31 December 2011

10

1

12

SHARE CAPITAL CONTINUED 13

AL 31 Decemnber 2011 the Company operatea two employee

share schemes the 2005 Company Share Option Plan (CSQOP)

(an Inland Revenue Approved Schemel}, and the Companys
Unapproved Snare Option Scheme (US05) Tnere were

options over 300,000 ordinary shares outstanding under

these schemes at the year end and as at the dzte of this 14
report (2010 300,000 ordinary shares) Upon any change of

control, option holders under these schemes have directly
exercisable nghts Details of outstanding options under these
schemes are shown on page 40 of the Remuneration Report 15

Details af the Directors interests in shares are shown 1a the
Remuneration Report on page 41

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Avaluatien of all the properties in the Group as at 31 Oecemcer
2011 was carried out by Lambert Smith Hampton for London,
Jones Lang Lasalle for France Colliers International for
Germany, and CBRE for Sweden which produced an aggregate
market value of £902 1 rmillion {2018 £874 9 million)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Carporate Governance Statement preparec in

accordance with rule 7 2 of the FSAs Disclosure and 14
Transparency Rules can be founa on pages 29 te 35 and

forms part of this report

EMPLOYEES, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SQOCIAL ISSUES

The Group s policies on employment, enviranmental and social
1ssues ncluding charitable denations, are summarisad in
the Carperate Social Responsibility Report on pages 42 to 44
No pelitical donations were made during 2011

INSURANCE QF DIRECTORS AND INDEMNITIES

The Company has arranged insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its directars and officers The Company
has granted indemnities to each of the Directors and other
senior management, uncapped In amount bt subject to
applicable law, 1n relation to certain losses and liabilities
which they may incur in tne course of acting as directors or
employees of the Company cr one or more of its subsidiaries
or assoclates

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY

The Group agrees payment terms with 1ts suppliers when 1t
enters into binding purchase contracts anc seeks ta comply
with the payment terms whenever it s satisfied that the
supplier has provided the goocs ar services In accordance
with the agreed terms and conditions At the year end Group
trade crediters were owed the equivalent of 20 days purchases
baseda on the year as a wnole {2010 21 days) The Campany
had no trade creditors (2010 ril)

2012 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2012 Annual General Meeting will be held on Wednesday
18 April 2012 The notice of meeting inctuding explanatory
notes for the resolutions io be proposed will ke posted to
shareholders

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Events after the balance sheet date are set out In note 36 to
the group financial statements

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITGR
Each Director has confirmed at the date of this repert that

= sofaras theyare aware there s no relevant audn
informaticn of which the Group s auditor 1s unaware, and

+ they have taken all the steps that they cught to have
taken as a Diractor in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit iInformaticn and to establish that
the Group s auditor 1s aware of that infermataon

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the previsions of 5418 of the Companies
Act 2006

GOING CONCERN

The current macro-economic conditions have created a
number of uncartainties as sat out on nages 20 and 21 The
Group s business activities, together with the ractors likely to
affect its future development and performance are set out In
the Business Review on pages 8 to 17 The financial position
of the Group, its Liquidity position and borrowing facilities are
described i the Business Review and in notes 23 and 25 of
the graup financial statements

The Directars regularly stress-test the business rmadel to
ensure that the Group has adequate working capital and have
reviewed the current and projected financial pesitions of the
Graup, taking inic account the repayment profile of the

Graup s loan portichio, and making reasonable assumptions
about future traging performance The Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources ta continue In operational existence for
the fareseeahle future and therefore they continue to adopt
the gaing concern basis in preparing the annual reoort and
accounts

The Directors Report was approved by the Board on § March
2012

Company Secretary
5 March 2012

AUDITOR

A resalution to reappoint Deloitie LLP as auditor to the
Company will be proposed at the forthcaming Annual
General Meeting




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

INTRODUCTION

The principal corporate governance rules which applied 1o
the Campany in the year under review were those set out In
the UK Corparate Governance Code published by the
Financial Reporting Ceunail { FRC ) in June 2010 {the
Code ), the UK Financial Services Autherity { FSA ) Listing
Rules and the F5As Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Responsibility

The Board has everall responsikbility for corperate governance
and 1s accountable to the Comrany s sharehalders or good
governance 1tis committed to achieving a high standard of
coroorate governance which best fits the Group, as 1t
recognises that this contributes to better performance by
assisting the Board to discharce its duires in the best Interests
of shareholders The Board fully supparts the principles of
good governance as set aul in the Code, which 1s publicly
avallable on the FRC s website (www fre org uk)

Changes in the Year

Buring the year the Company made some important
enhancemnents 1o Its governance structure following
feedback receved from institutional shareholders and trade
associations, which are explained m more detall below Thea
Board considers that these changes have better aligned the
Cempany to corporate governance best practice requirernents
which in turn reassures all stakeholders that their investment
Is properly safequarded

Compliance with the Cade

The Code contains a number of additional requirements
applicable to FTSE 350 campanies At the date of this report
the Company 1s not a constituent of the FTSE 350, however,
in demonstrating its commitment to gocd corporate
governance the Board has adooted a number of these
requirements as explained below Save as identified and
explained below the Board considers that throughout 2011
1t comelied with the Main Principles and the supporting
principles as set aut in Section 1 of the Cede

LEADERSHIP
The Rale of the Board

The Board which met four times during the year, 1s
responsible to the shareholders of the Campany for the
strategy and future development of the Group and tne
management of Its resources The Board s orimary objective
1s to add value to the assets of the Group by identifying anc
assessing business opportunities as they arise and ensuring
that associated risks are i[dentified, monitored and controlled
The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically
reserved to It for decisien Matters reserved for Board decisions
include dentifying strategic long-term objectives and the
capital structure of major transactions The implementation
of Board decisions and the day-to-day operations of the
Group are delegated to the Executive Directors
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Strategy

Strategy s determined after hawing taken due regard of
relevant forecasts and domestic and international
developments The views of shareholders are sought by the
Executive Directors and are reported back to the Board
The Board 15 also appraised of the views of shareholders
analysts and potential investors by the Company s adwisers

Performance Manitoring

Group and divisional performance, budgets and quarterly
financial forecasts including net assets and cash flow
projections are farmally reviewed by the Board on a quarterly
basis In addition the Executive Directors monitor cash flows
and the performance of the investment portfolio weekly

Conflicts of Interest

The Company s Artictes of Associatian contain procedures te
deal with Directors conflicts of interest The Board consicers
that these have operated effectively during the year

Meetings

The attendance of Directors at meetings during the year 15
set out below

Board Audit Rermuneration
Comrnittee Carmmittee
Numkber of meetings held 4 3 6
Sten Martstadt 4f4 - -
Henry Klotz 4[4 - -
Richard Tica 4[4 - -
John Whiteley A7 - -
Malcolm Cooper ™ A/ 313 5/5
Joseph Crawley @ 4i4 - 1/1
Christopher Jarvis 4fé 3/3 5/5
Thamas Lundquist @ 4f4 1/1 11
Jennica Mortstedt 44 - -
Brigith Terry ® 2/2
Thomas Thomsan 4f4 - -

(1} Appointed Member of the Remuneration Committee en 1 July 20711
(2} Stepped down as a member of the Remuneration Committee on
§ July 2011
(3) Appointed Chairman of the Remuneration Cornmillee on 1 July 2011
{4) Stepped down as a member of the Audit Committee and Chairman
of the Remuneration Comrmutlee on 1 July 2011
(3) Appointed ta the Board on 14 August 2011

In addition to attending Board meetings, senior management
meet regularly to discuss management issues relating to the
Group both formally and informally
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LEADERSHIP CONTINUED
Insurance

The Company has arranged insurance cover (n respect of
tegal action againsi its directors and officers The Company
has granted indemnities to each cf the Directors and other
senior executives, uncapped In amount but subject to
applicable law, 1n relation to certain losses and Liabilities
which they may incur in the course of acting as diractors er
employees of the Company or of one or mare cf its
subsidiaries or associates

Division of Responsibilities

There 1s a diviston of responsibiliies cetween the Executive
Chairman, who 15 responsible for the overall strategy of the
Group, the Executive Vice Chairman who supports the
Executive Chairman, and the Chief Executive Officer, who 1s
responsible for implementing the strategy and for the day-to-
day running of the Group The Chief Executive Qfficer 1s
assisted by the seniar management teamn The Board has
approved a written statement of the division of responsibilities
between the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive
Otfcer

A separate statement on the responsibilities of the Executive
Vice Chairman and his role alongside the Executive Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer has been reviewed by the Board

The Company does not comply with provisian A3 1 of the
Cede, as the Executive Chairman was not independent cn
appcintment

There have been ne significant changes to the commitments
of the Executive Chairman duning the year

Non-Executive Directors

Mr Caoper is the Senior Independent Nen-Executive Directar
and he is availabte tc shareholders wha do not wish to
approach the Executive Chairman, the Executive Vice Chairman
ar the Chief Executive Qificer about a Company matter

During the year the Executive Chairman canferred with the
Non-Executive Directors without the other Executive
Directors present A formal meeting of the Non-Executives
took place during the year, without the Executive Directors or
the Chairman present, and at which a tharough rewew of the
performance of the Executive Chairman took ptace The
appointment of Mrs Terry as an indezencent Non-Executive
Director has further strengthenec tne depth of knowladge
and experience of the Board, and her biograghy can be rounc
on page 27

The Beard was satisfied with the experience expertise and
performance of each board member, they continue to add
significant value to the operation of the Company through
their combined knowiledge and experience, ang exercise
ogjectmity in decision-making and proper control of the
Company s business

EFFECTIVENESS
Campaosition of the Board

The Board compnises four Executive Directors ncluding the
Executive Chairman, and seven Non-Executive Directors
three of wnicn the Board has determined to be indepencent
for the purposes of the Ccde

Thewr blographies can be found on pages 26 and 27

Cn 1 January 2011 Richard Tice became Chief Executive
Officer and Henry Klotz bacame Executive Vice Chairman In
addition, Thomas Lundquist stepped down as Vice Chairman
but remained a Non-Executive Director

The Board 15 assisted by the Audit and Remuneration
Committees the Terms of Reference for which can be
obtained from the Company Secretary

Independence

Guidance to the Code recommends tnat for FTSE 350
companies at least half the Board, excluding the chairman
should comgprise independent Nan-Executive Directors As
the Company was not a constituen: of the FTSE 350 and had
three independent non-executive directors 1t was compliant
In the year with provision B 1 2 which states that cernpanies
outside the FTSE 350 should have two independent non-
executive directors

As the Executive Chairman 1s beneficially interested in over
half of the shares in the Company, the Board is fully aware
of the need for independent nen-executive directors to
challenge the viaws of the executive team and cantribute to
the Company s overall strategy On 146 August 2011 Brigith
Terry was apoointed as a third independent Non-Execetive
Director Mrs Terry brings with her a wealth of international
rezl estate bank financing experience

The Board has determined that, under the Cade Guidance,
Brigith Terry, Malcolm Coaper and Cnristopher Jarvis were
independent in character and jJudgement and that there were
ne relationships or circumstances which could matenally
affect or interfere with the exercise of their independent
judgement

The Board further determined that, under the Code
Gutdance, four Non-Executive Direciors, Joseph Crawley,
Thomas Lundgwist, Jennica Mortstedt anc Thamas Thomson,
were not iIndependent Mr Lundgvist has served on the 3oard
for more than rine years Miss Mortstedt 1s the niece of “he
Executive Chairman and Mr Lundgwist 1s the Vice Chairman
of the Sten Martstedt Family and Charity Trust Mr Crawley
has a close famuly tie with the Executive Chairman by way of
marriage Mr Thomson has been an employee of the Group
within the last five vears and has served on the Board for
more than nine years from the date of his first election




Appointments to the Board

The Beoard consicered the setting up of a separate Nemination
Committee as recommended by the Code but due to the siza
and nature of the Company, decided thai this function was
better carrrea out by tne Executive Chairman anc other
Birectors, Non-Executive and Executive as appropriate for each
agpaintment Given tnat there 1s no formal Namination
Committee, the Company 15 not compliant with provision

B 2 1 of the Code

Foltowing its annual board evaluation and having regard to
stakeholder feedhack the Board reviewed its balance of
skills, knowladge and experience |t considered that an
appeiniment of an addittonat independent Nan-Executive
Director with related industry and bank financing experience
would be beneficial to the Board

Rather than use the services of an external search consultancy,
or openly advertise the position the Company decided to use
Its own extensive network base Mrs Terry was identified
from a list of potential candidates who had the relevant and
requisite experience that the Board was seeking Foltowing
interviews with the Executive Board members the Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director and other Non-Executive
Directors, it was agreed that Mrs Terry would be a valued
addition to the Board

Revision to the Cade

A revision of the Code, to be 1ssued in 2012 and apply to
financial years beginning on or after 1 Qctooer 2012, will
address board diversity including gender Whilst tne Beard
dees not intend to pre-empt the prowisions of the revised
Code, 1t 15 the Board s policy to review the balance of skills
knowledge and experience on the Board regularly and to
make changes to its composition irrespective of gender ar
any other form of discrimination

Board Evaluation

During the year the Board undertook its annual performanca
evaluation survey led by the Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director with assistance from the Company Secretary The
evaluation was based on an extensive questionnaire which
addressed thres key areas membership of the board, beard
performance and board oceration The questionnaire enabled
the Directers to score performance in each of these key areas
and also provided an opportunity io raise any other 1ssues
outside of these The confidential responses were compilad into
a non-attributable report by the Senior Independent Nen-
Executive Director and provided to the Executive Chairman

From the evaluation, the Directors considered that the Baard
and its committees were effective and that improvements
had been mace during the year to their composition and
diversity wnich had been identified 1n the 2010 evalustion
survey Further improvements had been made to increass
the Non-Executive s interactton with staff at all levels witiun
the Campany The key themes arising from the evaluation
which will ferm an action plan for 2012 are succession planning,
future strategy and greater involvement with key employzes

In addition, the Senior Independent Non-Executive Directar
led a separate performance review of the Executive
Chairman which involved a comprehensive review invelving
all of the Nan-Execuuve Directers The results were
subsequently fed back to the Executive Chairman
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The Board notes provision B 6 2 of the Code requiring an
externally facilitated evaluation for FTSE 350 compantes
every three years As the Company Is not a constituent of the
FTSE 350, thts provision does not apply, but the Board has
considered such an evaluation Due to the prohibitive cost of
an externally {acilitated evaluation and the current structure
of the Board the Company intends to continue to undertake
an annual performance evaluation survey internally

Infarmation, Support and Development

Board members are given apprapriate decumentation in
advance of eacn Board and Committze meeting and senior
executives aitend Board meetings to present and discuss
their areas of speciality In making commercial assessments
the Directors review detailed plans including financial
viability reports which amang other things, detail the impact
of proposals on return on capital, return on cash and the
likely simpact on the Income statement, cash flows and gearing

Directors are able to obtain independant professional advice
at the Campany s expense and have access to the services of
the Company Secretary They are given appropriate training
and assistanca on appointment to the Board and later 1f and
when required

The Company offers all directors the opportunity to update
their skills and knowledge and familiarity with the Company
in erder to fuifil their role on the Board Curing the year,
members of the Board have attended seminars on Inter alia,
executive remuneration and the responsibilities of directors
In addition meetings with senior managers within the
Company have been arrangea to further familiarise Nan-
Executive Directors with the Company

Re-election

Under the Articles of Association which can be amended by
a special resolution of the shareholdars, tne Board has the
power to appoint directors and where notice 1s given signed
by all the other directors, to remove a director from cffice

All Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the
first Annual General Meeting following their appointment
Provision B 7 1 of the Code requires all Directors of FTSE 350
companies to seek re-election by sharehclders annually As
It 1s not a constituent of the FTSE 350 this does not apply to
the Cempany but nevertheless the Board has implementad
this prowision Accordingly, all Directors will be seeking
election or re-election, as appropriate, at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and their details are contained In the
Directors Report on nages 26 and 27

The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-Executive
Directors are set out in a letter of appointment which
provides for their remaval In certain circumstances, including
under 5168 Companies Act 2006 Their letters of apcaintment
also set out what 1s expected of them and the ime expected
for them ta meet their commitment Nan-Executive Directors
are expected tc serve two three-year terms although the
Board may invite them to serve for an additional period,
subject to a rigerous review The terms of appaintment of the
Nen-Executive Directors can be obtained on request to the
Company Secretary
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4  ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board Is required to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company s pasition and
prospects which are explained in this Annual Report

The Audit Committee

The Bozard has establisned an Audit Committee to menitar
the iormal and transparent arrangements for its corporate
reporting and risk management and internal control
principles and for mamntaining an appropriate relationship
with the Company s Auditor

The Audit Committee comgnises Malcolm Cogper (Chairman)
and Christopher Jarvis The Board was satisfied that

Mr Coocer and Mr Jarvis were independent and Mr Cooper
was regarded as having recent and relevant accounting and
financial experience Mr Lundgvist stepped down a5 a
member of the Committee on 1 July 2011 As a result of this
change, the Committee complied with the recommendatian
contained in C 3 1 of the Coce

The Commiitee met three times during the year Certain
senior management and the Company s Auditor are normally
invited to attend the meetings

Duties of the Audit Committee

The principal duties of the Committee are ta review the half
yearty and annual financial reparts befare their submission
to the Board and to consider any matters raised by the
Company s Aucitor The Committee also reviews the intenm
Management Statements of the Company and the
independence and objectmty of the Company s Auditor,
taking into account relevani professionzal and regulatory
reguirements and the relationshioc with the Company s
Auditer as a whole

The Committee is also responsible for the development,
implementatien and maonitering of the policy on the provision
by the Company s Aucitor of any non-audit services, so as to
ensure the objectivity and independence of the Company s
Auditor The policy wnicn 1s basad on the FRC s Guidancea on
Audit Committees (December 2010) and reviewed annually
categorises non-audit services as excluded, permitiec
without approval from the Commuttee but subject to approval
by the Chief Financial Officer of up ta 10% of the annual
aggregate Group audit fee {or £20,000 whichever i1s smaller)
and parmitted with approval from the Commitiee over and
above this figure Individual projects with a fee in excess of
£30 000 reguire the pre-approval of a1 least one member of
the Committee

The terms of reference of the Commuttee reflect current best
practice includmg authority to

¢ rzcommend the appointment re-appointment and
remaval of the exiernal auditor

+  ensure the objectivity and independence of the auditor
including occasions when 1n accorcance with the
specific policy, nan-aucit services are provided oy
monitoring fees and letters of engagement, and

* ensure appropriate whistle-blewing arrangements are
In place

Activities of the Audit Committee

During the year the Committee formally reviewed the annual
financizl report and the half-yearly financial report focusing
on key areas of judgement and complexity critical accounting
policies and any changes requirad to them It also reviewed
the audit strategy and the findings of the external auditor
fram their review of the hali yearly financial report and their
audit of the annual financial report In accordance with the
Audit Commuttee Guidance 2008, the Committee reviewed
and endarsed the internal contrals and risk management
systems of the Group The Committee also reviewed the
whistle-blowing proceduras which had not been utilised
during the year and were deemed to be appropriate

The Cemmutiee also met wath the Group s valuers, Lambers
Srmith Hamptan, Colliers Internatianal and Jones Lang
LaSalle, to discuss the methodology used for the bi-annual
valuations of the Group s properties

The external audit was last put out to tander in 2007 when
the current auditer Deloitte LLP, was appointed and the
lead audit partner has been in place since that time There
are na contractual ehligations to restrict the Company s
choice ot external auditor

The Company adopts best practice with regard to audit
partner rotation ana the lead audit partner will rotate 1n 2012

Internal Audit

Due to the relatively low number of personnel employad
within the Group the nature of the business and the current
control and review systems In place the Committee
recommenced and the Board decided, not 1o establish an
internal avdit deoartment

Risk Management and Intarnal Contral

The Company has internal control and nsk management
systems in place for the Company s financial reparting
process and the preparation of the Group accounts

it1s the Campany s aim to manage risk and to control its
business and financial affairs economically, efficiently znd
effectively 5o as to be able tc exploit prefitable business
opportunities in 3 disciplined way, avoid er mitigate risks that
can cause loss, reputational damage or business failure, and
enhance resilience to external events The Board
acknecwledges that the Directors are responsible for the
Group s system of internal contrat and risk management and
has estaclished procedures which are designed to provide
reasonable assurance against matenal misstatement or loss
These procedures have operated for the entire financial year
and up te the date of approval of the Annuzl Financial Report

The Audit Committee has reviewed the effectiveness of the
system af internal control and risk management for the
period and as reported to the Board has not identified any
significant weaknesses during the financial year and
therefare no remedial action has been necessary The
Directars recognise that such a system can only provige a
reasonable and not absolute assurance that there has been
ne material misstatement or loss




The key elements cf the process by which the system of
internal control and risk management s moniiored are as
follows

internal Control

The Company has an established frameweork for internal
financial controls, which s reguiarly reviewed by the
executive managemeant and the Audit Cornmittee, who update
the Soard on tts effectivenass

The Board 1s responsible for the Company s overall strategy
for approving budgets and major investment decisions and
for determining the financial structure of the Group

The Audit Commiitee asststs tne Board in the discnarge of its
duties regarding the Group s financial reports and grovides a
direct Link between the Board and the Company s Aucitor
through recular meetings

There 1s an established organisational structure which has
clearly denined tines of reporting and respenstbility The
Group has in place control processes 1n relation to all
aspects of its financial dealings such as the authorisation
of banking transactions, capital expenditure and treasury
investment decisions

The Group has a comprehensive system for budgeting and
planring whereby quarterly and annual budgets are
prepared monitored and reported to the Board at each
meeting Three-yearly rolling cash flows are updated and
distributed tc the Executive Directars on a weekly casis to
ensure the Group has sufficient cash resources for the short
and medium term

Set out on pages 4 to 17 1s the description of the Group s
operations and the strategy which it employs to maximise
reiurns and mimimise risks

Risks

In line witn the revised Turnbull Guidance, the risks which
the Group faces are reviewed in Board and executve
meetings on an ongaing basis througheut the hinancial year

Each business area maintains a process to ensure that key
risks are identified evaluated managed and reviewed
appropriately Tnis process is alsc applied at Board level to
major business decisions and significant strategy
implementations Furthermore a fertrughily property actimty
portfolio update i1s circulated to the Board which identifies
key business risks, developments and cppartunities
Additional risk management processes which include health
and safety and environmental risk management, are
employed within tne businesses

The Company s key risks, the areas which they impact and
how they are mitigated are cescrined on pages 20 and 21
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REMUNERATION
The Remuneration Committee

The Board has established 3 Remuneration Committee
which develops the Companys policies on executive
remuneration and sets the remuneration packages of
individual Directors

The Remuneration Committee comorises Christopher Jarvis
{Chairman) and Malcelm Cooper The Remuneration
Committee met formally six times during the year and held
other informal discussions The Commuttee considers the
employment and performance of indmdual Executive
Direciors and determines their terms of service and
remuneration In the context of business and personal
performance It alse has authority to grant optiens under the
Company s Executive Share Option Scneme and Company
Share Option Plan No awards were made during the year
Mr Lundgwvist and Mr Crawley stepped down as Chairman
and mamber of the Commuttee on 1 July 2011 As a result of
the changes the Company complied with the compositien of
the Committee recommended in provision D 2 1 of the Code
Full details of the Commuttee s work are given in the
Remuneration Report on pages 36 to 41

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company values its dialogue with both institutional and
private investors The Board s primary contact witn
institutienal shareholders 1s through the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer who have regular
meetings with institutional shareholders They also
underiake analyst presentations following the Company s
half-yearly and annual financial results, and investor
seminars during ine year They are supported ty a financial
relations adwiser and wwo corporaie brokers all of whem are
in regular contact with institutional and retail sharshclders
and analysts Coverage of the Company by analysts s
circulated to the Board which in turn ensures that all Directors
develop an understanding of the views of institutional
shareholders and commentators

Invesior seminars and analyst presentations, including those
following the announcement of half yearly and annual financial
results are webcast and available on the Company s website

The Group issues its annual financial report ta each of its
shareholders In accordance with the UK company disclosure
regulations tne Group does nat cistribute its half-yearly
financial report ta sharehclders but makes it availzble an its
website Copies are avaitable on reguest

All financial reports and press releases are also included on
the Group s website at www clsheldings com

All shareholders have at least 20 warking days notice of the
Annual General Mesting at which all Directors who are
available to attend are introduced and are available for
questions All shareholders are welcome to attend the
Company s Annual General Meeting and to arrange individual
meetings by appeintment The views recetved at such
meatings are fed back ta the Board
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED
Proxy Voting

The proxy ferms for the Annuzl General Meeting and General
Meetings which were held in 2071 included a vote withheld
box Details of the proxies lodged for these meetings were
announced to the London Stack Exchange and are on tne
Company s website at www clsholdings com Shareholders
may also choose to reqister their vote by alectronic proxy on
the Company s website

DIRECTORS SHAREHOLDINGS AND MAOR INTERESTS IN THE
COMPANY'S SHARES

The interests of the Directors in the share capital of Jhe
Company at the beginning and end of the year are detailed in
the Directors Remuneration Repert on page 41

Other than Mr Mortstedt s 53 34% interest referred to 1n note 8
of the Directors Remuneration Report, as at 2 March 2012
the Company has been natified of the following interests
above 3% in the Cornpany s 1ssued share capital

No of shares %
Bengt Mortsteat 3300 448 734
F&C Asset Management gle 2 472,620 530
AVl Focused European Fund 1,812,185 403

There are no shareholders who carry spacial rights with
regard to cantrol of the Company and there are no restrictions
onvoting nghis The Campany knows of no agreements
between holders of secunties which would resultin
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rnights

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS - CHANGE OF CONTROL

A change of control of the Cempany following a takegver bid
may cause a number of agreements to which the Company
or its active subsidizries 1s party such as cemmercial trading
contracts banking arrangements, property leases and
licence agreements, to take affect, alter or termunate In the
context of the Group as a whole, only the banking
arrangements are considered to be significant There are no
agreements between the Company and its Directors or
employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
employment that occur because of a change of contral or
takeover bid

JOINT VENTURE AND ASSOCIATES

This Corporate Governance repart applies to the Company
and its subsidiaries |t does not include joint ventures or
associates

10 DCIRECTORS® RESPONSIBILITIES

The Qirectors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report, Directors Remuneration Repart and the financizl
statements in accordance with applicacle law and reguiations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financiat
statements for each financial year The Directors are required
by the |AS Regulation ta prepare the group financial
statements under those International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) adopted by tne European Umion The
group financial statemnents are also required by law to be
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2004 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Internauional Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial
statements prepared under IFRS present fairly for each
financial year the Group s financiat performance and cash
flaws, and clasing financial position This requires the faithful
representatien of the effects of transactions other events,
and conditions in accardance with the definitions and
recognition criteria for assets, liabilities income and
expenses set aut in the Internationat Accounting Standards
Beards Framewark for the oreparation and presentation of
financial statemenis Invirtually all circumsiances, a far
presentation will be achieved by complbance witn all
applicable IFRSs However Directors are also required to

+  properly select and apply accounting policies

= prasent information, including accounting policies, ina
manner which provides relevant reliable comparable
and understandaole information

¢ provide aaditional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in IFRSs 1s 1nsufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other evants or conditions on the entity s
financial position and financial performance, and

+  meke an assessment of the ability of the Company and
of the Group to cantinue as a going concern

The Directors have elected to prepare the parent company
financial statements in accordance with United Xingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK Accounting
Standards and apclicable law) The parent company financial
siatements are required by law to give a true and fair view of
the state of afiairs of the Company In preparing these
financial statements the Oirectors are required to

¢ select suitable accounting pelicies and apply them
cansistently,

*  make judgements and estimates which are reasonable
and prudent

+  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures
disctosed and explained in the financiat siatements ana

*  prepare the financial statements on tne going concern
basis unless It Is Inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue In business




Under company law the Direclors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the profit or loss of the Coampany for the periad

The Directars canfirm that to the best of their knowlecge the
financial staternents comply with the above reauirements

The Directars are respensible far keeping proper accounting
records which are suificient to show and explain the
Cempany s transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financal statements
cemply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
responsible for safeguarecing the assets of the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irreqularities

The Birectors are also responsiole for the maintenance and
integrity of the cerporate and financial infermation included
on the Company s website Legislatign 1n the United Kingdom
gaverning the preparatien and dissermination of financial
statements may differ from legistaticn in other junisdictions

Statement of Directors’ responsibibities
We confirm to the best of our knowledge that

« the financial statements pracared in accordance with
the relevant financial recorting framework give a true
and fair view of the assets latilities financial position
and profit of the Company and the undertakings
included in the cansclidation as a whale, and

*  the Business Review, which 1s incerporated into the
Directors Report, includes a fair review of the
development and performance cf the business and the
position of the Company and the undertakings included
In the consalidation taken as a whole together with a
description of the principal nisks and uncartainties they
tace

This statement of resporisibilities was approved by the Board on
5 March 2012

Company Secretery
5 March 2012
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2011

The report on remuneration cf the Directors for the year enced
31 December 2011 15 set out below and has been prepared In
accordance with the applicable statutory regulations

Certain sections of this Report are subject to statutory audit, as
required by the Companies Act 2006 Those sections are indicaied
in the section title No other sections have been audited

1 THE WORK OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneraticn Committee camprises Christopher Jarvis
{Chairman) and Malcolm Coopar Thomas Lundguist and
Joseah Crawley stepped down as members of the Committee
on 1 July 2011 Following this change the composition of the
Committee comptied with the recommendation contained in
D 2 1 of the Code

The remit of the Committee 1s to consider and recommend to
the Board

+ the remuneration of the Executive Direclors, including
any performance-related awards

+ the formutation of appropriate remuneration policies and

* the administration of the Company s share option
schemes

2011 Qverview

In last year s Remuneration Reoart the Committee explained
that it would undertzke a review of the remuneration policy
with the intention oi formulating and implementing appropriate
changes, staged aver a number of years, which would match
mere closely current Corporate Governance expectations

Tne review I1s now complete and 1ts resulis are explained in
detail below The Committee is satisfied that the new
arrangements that will be implemented this year and in
subsequent years are a stes closer to current Corporate
Governance expectations

Tne Committee me. formally six times curing the year anc
held other informal discussions Tne Committee received
advice from the Executive Chairman, the Group s HR
Manager and PricewaterhouseCcopers { PwC ) asits
appointed advisers 1n relation to the executive remuneration
review No other formal advice from other advisers was
sought during the year The Committze is able to ohtain
independent prafessional advice at the Company s expense

The Commuttee will use the coming year to assess the impact
of the new arrangements so as tc ensure they reflect the
Group s long term strategy and business model as set out in
the Business Raview [t will alsc look forward to the outcomea
of the current BIS consullatian on executive remuneration

Remuneration Review

Tne Commities engaged PwC to acvise 1t with the review and
to formulate a remuneration plan which met the Committee s
aims Following the review and the adwice prowded to it the
Committee recommended that the Company implement a
new Perfarmance Incentive Plan and a new Exceptional
Bonus Plan for the Executive Directers with the exceptian of
the Executive Chairman and the introduction of minimum
shareholdings for Directors, In arder to align more clearly the
interests of directors and shareholders in the medium to
longer term and to match Corporate Covernance expectations
Further information on the review is proviced below

Performance Incentive Plan

The Performance Incentive Plan (PIP) will introduce a number
of important elements wath key benefits to shareholders

*  Key Performance Indicators - banuses will oe calculatad
by reference to a set of appropriate measures basad on
all aspects of the business and within the context of the
properiy sector

»  Lack-in/Retention - The PIP promotes retention of
executives by deferring 40% of all bonus payments as
share price linked awards

*  Flexiblity or Targets — Performance measures are tailored
10 be those which are key for a cyclical business ke CLS s

s  Forfeiture - Awards can be forfeited if periormance is
not consistently maintainec

s+ Alignment to share price - Deferral in shares exposes
deferred bonuses to share price mavements

* Best Practice - The chznges align the Company s
objectives with those of UK corporate governance
guidelines

The maximum potential epportumity under this plan for both
the Executive Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
will be 130% of salary and for the Chief Financial Officer 100%
The Executive Chairman Is not a participant in the FIP

Key Performance Indicatars (KPls)

It 1s currently proposed that the annual bonus award under
the PIP will be calculated by reference to the fellowing KPIs
total shareholder return, return on equity vacancy rates,
administration expenses as a percentage of net rental
income basic net asset value EPRA net assetvalue cere
profit agains: budget and persanal performance

Each KPtwill be allceated a percentage of the maximum
potential available dependant on the relevance to the
particicant, znd appropriate stretching targeis

Deferral

The PIP will be administered in cycles of three years Each
participant will have a pool into which deferrad bonuses will
be atlocated as shares 40% of any bonus will ne paid in cash,
and the batance placed in the poal 60% of any pool balance
frem previous years witl be paid in shares

Clawback

Half of the deferred element in any year will be subject to
possible clawback for underperformance of the KPls in the
following year At the end of four years the balance of the
pool will be paig cut (subject to clawback) and a new cycle
will begin

Excepttonal Bonus Plan

The Comgpany s executive remuneration has cansistently
ranked n the lower guartile of s peers However CLS1s an
cpportunistic and entreprensurial campany which premotes
sound business decisions that add shareholder value, such
as the successful refurbishment anc sale of Soina Business
Park in Stocknolm, Sweden, or Spring Gardens in Landon




Thereforz, after due consideration, the Committee has
decided to implement an Exceptional Bonus Award under
which awards of up to 50% of salary for scecific transactions
that have created exceptional shareholder value ¢an ba made
In any one year Subject to commercial confidentiality, we
would expect to disclose the details of any awards under this
provisien This bonus pool would in the opinion of the
Committee be providing the clear linkage to the
opportunistic entreprengurial cutperfarmance strategy of
the Campany as propased by the BIS ciscussian paper of
September 2011

This means that for the Executive Vice Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, thair maximum petential bonus poal would
be 200%, and 150% for the Chief Financial Officer Pwi
adwised that the Total Incentive Gpperiunity” for the Chief
Executive Officer, for example, 1s below the lower quartile for
property campanies in the FTSE All Share Index, and lower to
medtan quartiie compared to companes witn a similar
capitalisation in the broader All Share Index The Cammittee
further believes that this 15 an appropriate way of fostering a
successful entrepreneurial business whilst ensuring the
Company Is nat excessive in its overall remuneration
package as compared to Its ceers

Implementation of Recommendations

The Company has ceen in consultations with its ma)jar
sharehoiders, who are supportive cof the FIP and the
Exceptional Bonus Plan However, with the uncertainty
caused by the Government consuiting on proposais which
may nave an effect on the design of the Company s plans,

it s the Committee s intention to await the cutcome of the
consultation and to implement the scheme in its entirety for
the financial year starting in 2013 [t will seek farmal
shareholder approval at the 2013 AGM when 1t 1s hoped more
clarity over any statutery requirements I1s available

Nevertheless, as part of its commitment to implement
appropriate changas that are better aligned to corporate
governance expectations, for the year ending 2012, the
Commuittee will implement key stages of the PIP being the
calculation of bonus awards based on KPls deferral of 40%
of the bonus lLinked to the CLS share orice, the Exceptional
Bonus Plan new nonus limits and sharehalding
reguirements This will mean that any bonus payments made
In respect of the year ending 2012 will be directly linked to
cameany performance and will be measurable 1in respect of
the yezr that they relate The Committee will report in more
detail on the KPls (as set out above) and the extent to which the
targets have been mat, in next year § Remuneration Report

Directors’ Shareholdings

The Commitiee has implemented a policy of minimum
sharehaldings for Executive Directors To this end 1tis
expected that within 5 years of becoming an Executive Director,
the Executive Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
should build a halding of &t least 100% of salary, and the
Chief Financial Officer at least 79% This further aligns the
interests of Directors to those of shareholders

Since his appointment in 2010 Richard Tice has acquired
258 732 shares at a total aggragate cost of £1 &m At the year
end this represented 748% of salary

CLS Holdings ple
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At the year end, the Executive Vice Chairman, Henry Klotz was
beneficially interested in 11 395 shares which represented
31% of salary and the Chief Financial Officer John Whiteley,
was beneficially interested 1n 10 000 shares which
represented 31% cf salary Both have agreed to incraase
their holding te the required Uimits over the coming years

The Executive Chairman Sten Martstect controls ar has a
heneficial interest in 23,978,169 shares and therefore holds
shares very substantially in excess of the minimum
requirement

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company s policy on remuneration remains to set overall
remuneration packages at a level sufficient to attract, retain
and incentivise high calibre staff with a view te enhancing
long-term shareholder value The Cammittee also considers
the level of pay and employment conditions throughout the
Group when setting Executive Directors remuneration,
consistent with the Company s general aim of seeking to
reward all employees fairly according to the nature of their
role their performance and market forces

Executive Directors

Consistent with this policy emoluments awarded to
Executive Directors are intended to be competitive and
corngrise a mix of both performance-related and non-
performance-related remuneration and, from 2012, will
include non-discretionary awards based on KPIs This s
designed to Incentivise Executive Directors and to align their
Interests with those aof sparehalders

As at the year end the remuneration arrangements consist of
*  base salary .
* performance Related Discretionary Bonus and

« pension and cther benefits Including private medical
insurance life Insurance, income protection, gym
contribution and lunch allowance

The Committee cansiders the market positioning of the
remuneration of the Directors against a peer group of listed
real estate companies CLS does not currently ocerate any
long-term incentive plans

Until the financial year ending 2011, the criteria used for
Judging the Executive Directors remuneration were

* thewr own personal performance measured against
specific targets

* the financial performance of the Group as measured
against specific targets, and

¢ total sharehclder return

Fram financial year end 2012, the criteria witl also include
additicnal measurable and reportable targets set by the
Commiitee as (dentified under the KP!s of the Performance
Incentive Plan

The Committee believes in incentivising the Executive
Directors by reference to their total remuneration and has
reviewed this to ensure that the Executive Direciors are not
paid excessively In cormparison to peer group companies
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT conriueo

for the year ended 31 December 2011

2 REMUNERATION POLICY CONTINUED

Basic Salartes

The basic salaries of the Executive Directors are reviewec
annually with any changes made effective on 1 January The
annual review iakes account of similar pesitions in geer
group companies With the exceptron of Mr Maortstedt, the
annual Increase in basic salarses for Executive Directors from
1 January 2012 was set at approximately 2% in Line with
average satary increases of staff {Sten Maortstedt £225,000
Henry Klotz £21%,750, Richard Tice £208 100 lohn Whiteley
£192 000} Following a peer group review by the Cammittee,
Mr Moristedt s fee was increased by aporoximately 22% to
carrect an anarmaly and bring 1t in line with average market
levels

2011 Performance Related Discretionary Bonus

The performance-related aiscretionary bonus for each
Executive Director for the year was determined after taking
Inte account the performance of the indmdual and the
Cempany, tagether with the emoluments of the indvidual
compared to those in the Company s peer group This (s
capped at 120% of salary for each Executive Director who
receives a discretionary bonus For the year ending 2011,
the following discretionary awards were made Mr Klotz
£250,000, Mr Tice £200,000 and Mr Whiteley £80,00G

The Committee considered each indivmiduals personal
performance, the strong financral performance of the Group
against dificult economic conditions and an annual tetal
shareholder return that put it in the top three of its peers

The Executive Chairman does not receive a performance-
related discretionary bonus, nar 1s he a member ¢f the
Company s pension scheme as zart of his overall
remuneration The Committee considers that the size of his
shareholding in the Company gives an adequate link to
performance

The remuneration of the Non-Exacutive Directors does not
include a performance-related element

As noted above, this 1s the last year that the perfcrmance-
related discretionary bonus scheme will be In operation
From 2012 as explained sbove KPIs will be used in the
calculstron of a non-discrationary bonus award zlongside
the Exceptional Bonus Plan

For the year ended 31 December 2011 the apportionment
of remuneration and other benefits between perfarmance-
related and non-perfarmance-related elements was as follows

Non-

Performance- Performances

related related

Sten Mortstedt Nil 100%
Henry Kiotz 50% 50%
Richard Tice 48% 52%
John Whiteley 28% 72%
Malcolm Cooper Nil 100%
Joseph Crawley Nil 100%
Christopher Jarvis Nil 100%
Thomas Lundgwist Nil 100%
Jennica Martstedt Nil 100%
8rigith Terry M Nil 100%
Thormas Thomson Nil 100%

(1} Appointed to the Board on 16 August 2013

Other Fees

A company associated with Mr Martstedt provides consultancy
services which relate to specific advice which s qutside the
terms of Mr Mortstedt s contract of employment The
Committee has reviewed the {ees for these services, such as
additional services relating to the 1ssuance of the corporate
bond in Sweden, and 15 of the gpinion that the market rate for
the servces would have far exceedec the amount paic

Mr Kiotz receves additional fees in respect of his appointment
as Non-Executive Chairman of Catena AB (2011 £20,715,
2010 £18 881) and Nan-Executive Director of Nate AB (2011
£9 607 2CG10 £8 9?1), which are paid to hum pearsonally

Both Thomas Lundgwist and Thomas Thomson receive hourly
fees for speaific prejects undertaken subject to the agreement
of the Chief Executive Officer or Executive Chatrman

Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors 1s reviewead
and determinead by the Executive Directors It consists of fees
for services o the Board and any additional services such as
cnatring or being a member of a Board Committee The
Senior Independent Director receives an additional fee

The Non-Executive Directers fees are deemed to be
appropriate for the Company s size and complexity although
this 1s kept under review by the Executive Directors

During the year, fees for Nan-Executive Directors were
Boara fee £15000 Senior Independen: Directer £5,000,
Committee Chairmanship £3,000 and Commuttee
membership £3,000 Fcllowing a review by the Executive
Direciors it was agreed to increase the fees for Committee
Chasrmanship and Cammuitiee membershic to £8 000 and
£5,000 respectively with effect from 1 January 2012

It 1s the Group s policy that whera a Non-Exacutive Tirecter
undertakes work for the Company in addition to their
siancard duties and time commitmeni, an additional {fee may
be agreed by the Executive Directars The Executive Directors
considered thai Mr Jarvis and Mr Coaper had commitied
substantially more ime and undertaken considerably more
work than In previous years In relation to the remuneration
review they should each receive an acdditional fee of £10,000
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (AUDITED)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 the remuneration received by the Directors was as set out In the table below

2011
Other
2011 201 201 2011 2011 Benefits/ 2011 2010
Fee as 2011 Other Benefits Total Pensien Performance Tatal Tatal
Directar Salary Fees i kind Emoluments Contributions Related Remuneration Remuneratian
Nates €a00 €q0n €000 £aaa £000 €000 £00Q €000 £000
Executive
Sten Mortstedt - ig89 365 - 554 - - 554 485
{Executive Charrman)
Henry Klotz i - 215 30 7 252 - 250 502 481
{Executive Vice Chairman)
Richard Tice 2 - 204 - 3 207 170 40 417 248
{Chief Executive Officer)
John Whiteley - ig8g - 4 192 9 80 281% 2L2
{Chiet Frnancial Qfficer)
Non-Executive
Malcolm Cooper 3 25 - 10 - 35 - - 35 23
Joseph Crawlay 4, 17 - - - 17 - - 17 18
Christopher Jarvis 5 20 - 10 - 30 - - 30 i8
Thomas Lundqvist 6 18 - 4 - 22 - - 22 21
Jennica Mortstedt 15 - - - 15 - - 15 10
Brigith Terry 7 6 - - - é - - ) -
Thamas Thomson 15 - 8 - 23 - - 23 i7
2011 116 796 427 14 1,383 179 370 1,902 1563
Totzl for 2010
as reported 105 729 330 14 1,183 75 360 1,563

(1) Appointed Executive Vice Chairman on 1 January 2011

{2) Appointed Chief Executive Dfftcar on 1 January 2011 Mr Tice was awarced a £200 000 performance-related annual discretionary bonus of which £1460 000
was paid inte s SIPP by the Company on his behalf

(3) Appointed as a mernber of the Remuneration Committee on 1 July 2011

(4) Stepoed down as a member of the Remuneratien Committee # July 2011

(5)  Appomnted as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 1 July 2011

{8) MrLundquist stepped aown as Nan-Executive Vice Chairman on 1 January 2011 a memoer of the Audit Commuittee on 1 July 2011 and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 1 July 2011

(7) Apcointed to the Board on 14 August 2011

The benefits provided to Executive Directors are permanent hezlth private medical insurance bfe assurance and pension contribuiions
under the Company s defined contribuiion pension scheme No car or car allowance 1s provided ta any Director {2010 none)

£2010341(] By} Jo Moday

|

onojiod Auedosy

|

SIUBUIDACG

S|UNEIdY

uoneuLIDi| JaylD



40

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT conmnuen

for the year ended 31 December 2011

DIRECTORS' PENSION ENTITLEMENT (AUDITED)

The Executive Directors are entitlec to parucipate In a
defined contribution pension scheme of which one Director
{John Whiteley) was a member at the enc of the year (2010
one) Participants are requirad to contribute 5% of basic UK
salary (2010 5%) which1s matched by a contribution from
the Company of 5% (2010 5%) The Company contnibutes
5% of salary towards Richard Tice 5 Self Invested Personal
Pension (SIPP) in leu of contributians to the Company
pension scheme In addition £1460,000, of Mr Tice s £200 000
annual discretionary bonus was paid 1nto his SIPP

SHARE PERFORMANCE GRAFH

The following graph shows the Company s performance
measured by total shareholder return (TSR) since the
Company was listed an the Londen Stock Exchange
compared with the TSR performances of the FTSE All Share
index and the UK Datastream Real Estate Index over the
same penoc The UK Datastream Rezl Estate Ingex s
considered to be the most appropriate as it reflects the
perfarmance of the sector in which the Company operates
The FTSE All Share Real Estate incex that had been used
previously I1s no longer published The TSR graph below
independently sourced (Datastream}, includes the positive
impact to the Company s shareholders of substantial capital
distributions through tender offer buy-backs
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SHARE OPTIONS (AUDITED)

The Board has delegatad to the Committee the autharity te
grant options under the Company s share schemes, being
the 2005 Company Share Option Plan {(CSOP) (an Inland
Revenue Approved Scheme) and the Company s Unapproved
Share Option Scheme (USOS) Participation in both schemes
15 open to any Director or employee sucject to mimimurn
working nours Options may normally only be exercised
between the third and seventh anniversaries of the date of
grant, subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions

Any grant of cptions to an eligible empleyee under the CSOP
is subject to HMRC limits Bath schemes are subject to the
aggregate number of apttans granted 1n a ten year period not
exceeding 10% of the shares then inissue |tis nat foreseen
that further options wilt be granted under the schemes
unless there are exceptional errcumstances, when aggregate
awards to an indiwdual under both schemes will he Limited to
options aver a maximum of 300 000 shares

If an option holder leaves employment their options narmally
lapse However, aptions are exercisatle early (n certain
arcumstances, including death, injury disability sll-health,
redundancy, retiremeant, o If the Committee so decides in its
absolute discretion for some other reason In these
circumstances, options will be exercisable for a perod of six
months followtng cessation {or 12 months in the event of
death) Options may also be exercised in the event of a
takeover of the Company (or In certain circumstances, may
be exchanged for options over shares in an acquiring
comeany) Options are not transferable other than on death

In line with the Commuttee s pclicy to attract retain and
incentivise high calibre staff, and as reported in the 2010
Cirectors Remuneration Report on joiming the Company on
11 March 2010, the Remuneration Committee granted
Richard Tice options aver 300 000 Ordinary Shares of which
4,382 were granted under the CSOP and 293,618 under the
US0S at an ontron price of £4 70

The earliest date of exercise of these share options granted
under each scheme I1s 11 March 2013 and 15 conditional upon
the satisfaction of the appropriate non-market-based
performance criterion of the growth in net assets of the
Group being at least eguivalent to the growth of the All
Properties Capital Grawth Index maintained by IPD over three
years from the date of grant Whilst currant corporate
gavernance requirements prefer stepped vesting conditions,
the Cemmittee considered 1t essential to grant this award to
ensure Mr Tice joined the Company  not exercised, these
options will expire on 10 March 2017

No ether Directors held or were granted options cver shares
i the Comeany during the year and none of .he terms er
conditions of the share options was varied during the year

The hughest, lowest and average mid-market share prices in
the year were 680 pence, 507 pence and 412 pence,
respectively The closing share price on 31 December 2011
was 5%C pence




DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company has a service
contract of na fixed term, except for Mr Klotz, as reperted in
the 2010 Remuneration Report and approved at the 2011
Annual General Meeting Mr Klotz s service contract as
Executive Vice Chairman began on 1 January 201+ and
expires on 31 December 2013 If the Carmpany exercises the
right to terminate Mr Klotz s contract earlier than the expiry
of the fixed term, the Company would make a payment to

Mr Klotz equivalent to the amount due under the unexpired
term There 1s no provision In the contracts of Mr Mortstedt
Mr Tice or Mr Whiteley for centractual termination payments
save for those payments normally due under employment law

Each Non-Executive Director has a letter of appointment but,
In accordance with best practice, none has a service contract
All of the Non-Executive Directers are appainted until such
time as they are not re-elected The Cembined Code
recommended that all Nen-Executive Directors whe had
served for more than nine years snould retire annually and
ba able to seek re-election at the Annual General Meeting
The New Code requires that all directors of FTSE 350
comeanies be subject to annwal election by shareholders
Although the Company 1s not a censtituent of the FTSE 350,
the Board adopted this provision in 2011 and requires the
annual re-election of all Directors by sharzholders If a
director fails to be re-elected the terms of their appaintment
will cease

Details oi the service contracts or letters of appaintment of
those who served as Cirectors during the year are as follows

Name Contract date Natice period
Sten Mortstedt 010105 12 months
Henry Klatz M 0101 11 nla
Richard Tice 110310 12 months
John Whiteley 0110909 & months
Malcolm Cooper 1506 07 3 months
toseph Crawley 251108 3 months
Christopher Jarvis 251108 I months
Thomas Lundqvist 811095 3 months
Jennica Mortstedt 110510 3 months
Brigith Terry @ 1608 11 3 menths
Thomas Thomson 250108 3 months

{1} Fixed term contract to 31 December 2013
{2) Appointed to the Board on 16 August 2011

10
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INTERESTS IN SHARES
The interests of the Directors 1n the ardinary shares of 25p
each in tne capital of the Company were

At 31 Decernber 2011 At 31 December 2010+
Ordinary shares of 25p  Ordenary shares of 25p

Sten Mortstedt 23,978,149 24,786,501
Henry Kiotz 11,395 11,395
Richard Tice 258,732 224,165
John Whiteley 10,000 2,855
Malcolm Cooper 4,648 4,826
Joseph Crawley - -
Chnistepher Jarvis - -
Thamas Lundquist 79,220 79 378
Jennica Martstedt - -
Brigith Terry™ - -
Thamas Thomson 110,582 114,545

1t  Or at date of appaintrment

All of the above interests in shares were held beneficially
for the Directors The snares in which Sten Mortstedt is
beneficially interested are held in trust and include shares
held in the name of, beneficially owned by, and held in trust
for, Mrs K Martstedt As at the date of this report, there
have been no changes to the interasts of the Oirectors since
31 December 2011

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company does not operate a long-term incentive plan
As part of the review undertaken in 2011, the Committee
considered that the changes that will be :mplementad from
2013 will provide an adequate long-term incentive However
1t will continue <o review Its policy on LTIPs annually

WAIVER OF EMOLUMENTS

No Director has wawved any emoluments curing the year

On behalf of the Board

72

Christopher arvis
Chairman
Remuneratian Committee

5 March 2012
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CORPORATE, SOCIAL & ENVIRONMENTAL

RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

fer the year ended 31 Gecember 2011

RESPONSIBILITY

The Group s shilesophy on, and commitment to corporate, social
and environmental responsibility 15 known to all staff The
Directors actively encouraga its integration into the business by
employees across the Group as explained further in this
document

The Group aims te ensure that 1t 1s compliant with all legislation,
including environmental legislation, in those cauntries in which it
operates

SUSTAINABILITY

The Group seeks to promote sustamnability through the business
and via 1ts Green Charter To achieve this, we have assessed our
key impacts, which are m the follawing areas

Corporate

*+  Some 400 businesses and organisations of all sizes rely on
us as a landlord

*  Asa public company with a market capitalisation of
approximately £300 milbon and a Premium Listing on the
Lendon Stock Excnange, aur conduct and level of reporting
impacts on shareholders, banks, and the capital markets

+ The Company has a reputation as a stable and reliable
investment providing attractive returns which we have a
responsibility to maintain

Social

»  Over 400 employers and a nurnber of residential tenants rely
on us as 3 landlord

+  Qur 76 properties make us a naighbour within numerous
communities with which we engage and whom we seek e
suppart

+  Qurpropcsed Vauxhall Square and Spring Mews developments
will transform and enhance the community by tne provision
of new public facilities, public spaces, affordable housing and
Integrated community uses

¢ The Company has 61 staff whose livelihood and career
aspirations are linked to its continuec success

Environmental

* Commercial buildings in the UK are responsible for
approximately 20% of the nation s greenhouse gas emissions
a similar percentage 1s expected in France, Germany and
Sweden

*  The Group ts categorised as an Iintensive energy usear and has
therefore qualified this year for participation in the CRC
Energy Efficiency Scheme (CRCEES) The CRCEES 15 a
mandatcry Government scheme aimed at improving energy
efficiency and cutting ermissions in large public and private
sector organisations

The Board acknowledges the Group s 1mpact on the society and

the enviranment in which 1t operates, and through its actions

seeks either to minimise and mitigate them, or to harness them

In arder to afiect positive change 1n keeping with the Group s
Green Charter”

SUSTAINABILITY GREEN” CHARTER

The Group seeks to promote sustainability through affecting
continuous improvement through the influence it can nave on tne
environment the local community the econemy and its key
stakeholders In 2011 the Group adopted its Green Charter, under
which it undertakas

« To mitigate our impact on climate change by reducing our
carbon footprint

*+  To be accountable for cur performance relating to climate
change by communicating our successes and reporting
performance regularly against measurable indicaters

+ Tomake the most effective use of the duties, powers and
resources we have to minumise the impact of our actions
on the environment and to enhance the environment,
community and economy wherever possible

* To monitor cur progress by carrying aut regular assessments
against the key actions of the Green Charter

* Touse aur Green Charter to influence the behaviour of our
partners tenants, suppliers and other stakeholders, to
promote and jurther the principles on which 1t 1s based

Key Perfarmance Drivers

In order to measure and assess our success effectively against our
Green Charter we have identified the foltowing Key Performance
Brivers on which we will repert annually For 2012 these comprise

¢« Corporate

- Increase the level oi reporting and transparency of our
business practices

- Focus an impraving coordination and efficiencies within
the business thereby reducing wastage and uliimately
reducing costs

«  Social

- Ensure all developments meet or exceed the required
targets for environmental vertormance anc sustainability

- Mitigate unavoidable impacts of our developments by
ensuring the views of local stakehelders are taken into
account

+  Epvironmental

- Reduction in paper use throughout the business by 10%
comegared o 2011

- Reduction in both CO; emissians ana electricity use Iin
the London portfoiio by 5% per ennum compared to the
2010 base year for the next two years

2011 ACHIEYEMENTS

In 20711 we have made significant progress against our corporate
social and environmental geals and we have accomplished the
fallowing

Corporate

s Launched our new Green Charter

+ Employed a new Sustainability Manager reporting to the
Chief Executive Officer who 1s responsible for the
implementation of the Green Charter, embedding its
principles across the Group ane monitering its compliance




+ Appointed Mrs Brigith Terry as an additional independant
Nen-Executive Director, enhancing the Board s skills sat
better reflecting corporate gavernance best practice

¢ Introduced an Anti-Bribery Policy in line with the UK Bribery
Act 2010

+ Recewved a Bronze Awarg in this year s European Public Real
Estate Asscciation { EPRA ) Annual Report Survey The
survey 1s based on compliance with EPRAs Best Practices
Recarnmendations, which are designed to promote
consistency and transoarency in annual reperting by listed
property companies across Eurape

*  Suffered no reportable incidents to the Hezalth and Safety
Executive

Socal

«  Supperted Vauxhall Garden Community Centre by assisting
in the funding of improvements to 1ts facilities and making
available surplus office furniture

* Imtiated the Yauxhall One Business Improvement District
( BID ) committee to launch a BID in Vauxhall in April 2012
which Is a partnership between a local autharity and the local
business community to develop projects and services that
will benefit the Vauxhall trading environment

e Provided general office based work-excenence for students
from Danderyds, Swecen and Manchester University

* Introduced an undergraduate work placement scheme for
two local students in 2012 with King s College, London and
Surrey University

* Introduced a Give As You Earn scheme which allows
employees to donate money to chanty through their salary

* Raised our total chantasle contnbutions for the year to
£2.731 (2010 £1.831) by events such as a bake sale
participation in the JLL Property Triathlon Mixed Relay and In
the Land Aid Fun Run, anc direct donatiens from the Company

Environmental

*  Completed the installation of a new £2 3 millicn energy facility
at aur office praperty in Vanerparken, Sweden, wnich 1s already
reducing energy cansumption and CO, emissions by over 80%
comoared to 2010 levels through the use cf 2 ground source
heating system into the bedrock 200 metras below ground

¢« Commissioned an independent energy efficiency repart on
our London portfolio wnich recommended improvermnents to
lighting, bailer efficiencies and an analysis of pnotovaltarc
and solar thermal opportunities

¢ Intraduced a scheme of boiler and lighting replacement as a
direct outcome of the energy efficiency report at seven bulldings
within the London portfolio and the Group s Heac Cffice

+ Tralling energy efficient LED Lghting specifications an new
build and refurbishments with the aim of adopting themn as
siancard

+ Reduced our reliance on fossil fuels in the Londen partfolio
electricity by 2 2% and gas by 25 2% cased on 2010 tevels
through the introduction of training and awareness of buitding
managers, improved plant equioment and monitoring methods
and tenant engagement at quarterly tenant meetings

+  Reduced water usage in the Lendon partfolio by 44 3% by
ensuring mintmal water wastage through monitoring
controls and the instzllatian cf water efficient sanitary ware
during refurbishments
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* Implemented a paper recycling scheme at all of the Group s
offices which aims to reduce paper usage by 10% 1n 2012

* Implemented and operated recycling facilities at all cur
managed properties switched an existing minibus shuttle
service we provide to tenants from diesel to a bio-fuelled
vehicle

EMPLOYEES

The Directars believe that the Group s employees are a source of
competitive advantage, and recognise that continued and
sustained iImprovernent 1n the performance of the Group depends
on Its ability to attract, mativate and retain employees of the
highest calibre The Group 15 committed to the principle of equal
opportunity in emplayment, and seeks to ensure that no employee
or applicant s treated less favaourably an the grounds af gender
manital status race, celour, nationality, ethnic or national arigin
religion disability or sexual orientation nor s disadvantaged oy
conditions or requiremeants, including age limiis, which cannot be
Justified objectively Entry into, and progression within, the Group
are solely deterrmined by the application of job ¢riteria personal
aptitude and competence These policies have worked effectively
throughout the perioc

It 15 the Group s policy te apgly best practice in the employment of
disabled peaple Full and fair consideration 1s given both to every
application for employment from disabled persons whose
aptitude and skills can be utilised in the business, and to therr
training and career development Tnis includes, wherever
possible the retraining and retention of staff who become
disabled during their employment

All staff are informed of matters cancerning thetr interest as
employees and the financtal and economic factors affecting the
business Estaclished management communication channels
have been supplemented oy direct aresantations to staff by
Directors to explain developments of particular significance

HEALTH & SAFETY

It 1s @ primary cancern of the Board that tne Comcany manages
its activities (in such a manner as to ensure that the health and
safety of its employees tenants adwisors, contractors and the
general public 1s not compramised

As part of this process the Company employs specizlist
accredited advisers to advise on all health and safety matters
relating to the Group The Company also ooerates a Health and
Safety Committee, which covers issues related to the Loncon
portfolic and its employees Chaived by the Company Secretary,
the committee comprises House Managers, Asset Managears and
advisors and reparts ta the Chief Executive Qfficer The Chief
Executive Officer also attends Health and Safety Commitiee
meetings All regions maintain and follow local health and safety
policies and report issues to the Chief Executive Officer This
reparting process has workec effectively throughout the year and
has ensured ongoing compliance with health and safety legislation

BUSINESS ETHICS

The Board recognises the importance of the Company s
responsibilities as an ethical employer and views matters in
which the Company interacts with the community both sccially
and ecanomically as the responsibility of the whale Bozard
Following the enactrnent of tne Bribery Act 2010 1n July 2011, the
Company implemented a suitable policy which further
demonstrates 1ts commitment to business ethics
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CORPORATE, SOCIAL & ENVIRONMENTAL

RESPONSIBILITY REPORT connnuen

far tha year ended 31 December 2011

EPRA SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE MEASURES
The following tables snow Sustainability Performance Indicators recommended by EPRA and develaped by the EPRA Sustainability

Reporting Committee in consultation with the wider EPRA membership, of which the Company 15 part

The tables below outline the performance Indicators which EPRA has identified as being core to sustainability and which should ke
reported by EPRA members where dala 15 svailable It expects to be able to include annual data for our properties in France and Germany
in our 2012 reporting but 1t has been excluded in the table below as our processes for data collection were not in place for 2011

The offices at 85 Bondway ( HQ ) have been reparted separately as they are the largest centre of the Group s operations

TABLE 1 - SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE - ABSOLUTE MEASURES

Broad Issue Type Sustainability Perfarmance Measure HQ Lendan Sweden Units
Energy Total energy consumption fram 180,276 10188414 * 446 200 kWh
electricity
Total energy consumption from district 0 ] 3,948,140 kWh
heating and cooling
Total energy consumaption from fuels 0 16,721,675 0 kWh
Greenhouse gas emissions  Total direct emissions 0 3,070 0 meiric
tonnes
COze
Total Indirect emissions %8 5214 " metric
tennes
COzE
Water* == Total water withdrawat by source Data not 45,727 28,000 cubre
available metres
Waste Total weight of waste by dispesal route 32wvia 221 %via 400 metric
recycbing recycling tonnes
90 to landfill
Percentage of waste by disposal route Unknown  71%recycled ** 48% energy Propertion
29% landfill recovery by weight
49% recycled (%)

3% landfill

* of which 9 140 741 kWh 15 supplied by Npawer on a renewable energy taniff far all half hourly matered sites This figure includes 5 761 457 kWh consumed by
tenants but which flows through a landlard s meter The Group 5 annual operating consumption was 4 424 957 kWh
**  of which 52 §% was separated on site and the rema:ning 18 4% separated at a materials recycling facility

All water 15 currently supplied via the mains utility supply

TABLE 2 - SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE - INTENSITY MEASURES

Intensity

Broad Issue Type Sustainzbility Performance Measure HQ London Sweden Indicator
Energy Building energy intensity 203 94r 931 kWh/mifyear
Greenhouse gas emissions  Greenhouse gas intensity from 109 176 - kg COze/
building energy mifyear

Water Building water intensity Unknown 097 077 m¥mif year

1 comman parts and centrally provided heating ventilation and air conditianing only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF CLS HOLDINGS PLC

We have audtiec tne group financial statements of CLS Holdings
plc far the year ended 31 Decernber 2011 which comprise the
group statement of comprehensive income the group balance
sheet, the group statement of changes in equity the grougp
statement of cash flows and the related notes 1 to 36 The
financial reparting iramewcrk that has been applied in their
preparation 1s applicable law and Internationzl Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 1s made sclely to the Company s members as a body
In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 14 of the Comgpanies Act
2006 Our audit work has been undertaken s¢ ~hat we might
state to the Company s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor s report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permittad by law, we do not accept or assume
respensibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company s memcers as a bedy for our audit werk for this
report or for the opinians we have formed

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

As explained more fully in the Statement of Direc-ors
Responsibilities on page 35, the Directors are respansible for

the preparaticn of the group financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to
audit and express an opinion on the group financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Irelang) Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Pracuices Board s (APB s) Ethical Standards

for Auditors

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclesures in the financial statements sufficient to give reascnable
assurance that the financial statements are free from materal
misstaternent whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are apprepriate to
the Group s circumstances and have been consistently agplied and
adequately disclosed, the reascnableness of signincant accounting
estimates made by tne Directors and the cverall preseniation of
the nnancial statements In additicn, we read all the financial and
non-financial information in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the aucited financial statements If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In cur epinion the group financial statements

* gwe a true and {zir view of the state of the Group s affairs as
at 31 December 2011 and of its profit ter the year then ended

* have been groperly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, and

* have been prepared I1n accordance with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

SEPARATE OPINION IN RELATION TO IFRSS AS ISSUED BY THE |ASH

As explained in nate 2 to the group financ:al statements,

the Group in additron te complying with its legal obligation to
apply IFRSs as adopted by the Eurcpean Umian, has also applied
IFRSs as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB)

In our opiruon the group financizl statements comoly with IFRSs
as 1ssuad by the 1ASB

QPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES
ACT 2004

In our opinicn the information given 1n the Directors Report for
the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
1s censistent with the group financial statements

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TQ REPORT BY EXCEPTION
We have nothing to reportin respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 20046 we ara required to report to you If,
In our opinan

certain disclosures of directars remuneration specified by
law are not made or

e we have nat recewved all the information and explanations we
require far our audit

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

¢ the directars statement contained within the Diractors
Repart in ralation to going concern,

* the pari of the Corporate Governance Statement relating te
the company s compliance with the nine provisions of the
June 2008 Combined Cede specified for our review, and

s certain elements of the report ta sharehalders by the Board
on directors remuneration

OTHER MATTER

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
siatements of CLS Holdings oic for the year ended 31 December
2011 and on the infarmation in the Directors Remuneration
Report that 1s described as having been zudited

Mark Goodey {Senior Statutary Auditor)
for and an behalf of Degbitte LLP
Chartered Accountgntfand S
London

5 March 2012
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GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes €m Em
Continutng operations
Group revenue 4 801 791
Costs 4 (30 8) (30 3)
495 488
Net movermnents on revaluation of investment properties 13 18.0 301
Net gain on sale of corparate bonds and other invesirents 05 g3
Profit an sale of subsidiaries and associates 33 22 -
Operating profit 70 2 882
Finance income 8 122 &1
Finance costs 9 (CY )] 31 h
Snare of prafit of associates after tax 17 30 77
Profit before tax 377 709
Taxation i0 11 {10 8)
Profit for the year 6 38.8 401
Other comprehensive income
Foraign exchange differences (5.0} i
Fair value (losses)/cains on corporate bonds and other investments 18 (16.0) 3
Fair value gains taken to gain on sale of corporate bonds and other investmeants 18 (0.8} (89)
Deferrad tax on ne- fair value gains on corporate bonds and other investments 2 4.6 18
Snare of other comprehensive incocme ot assaciates i7 - (0 4)
Revaluation of owner-occupied progperty 14 0.3 -
Total comprehensive income for the year 219 57 2
Profit attributable to
Owners of the Company 375 401
Non-controtling interests 13 -
Profit for the year ias 601
Total comprehensive income attributable to
Owners of the Company 20.6 572
Non-controlling interests 13 -
Total comprehensive incame for the year 219 572
Earnings per share from continuing operations attributable to the
owners of the Company during the year {(expressed in pence per share)
Basic i1 82.0 1271
Diluted 11 81.9 1271

The notes on pages 50 to 80 are an integral part of these group financial statements
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At 31 December 2011
2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Investrnant properuies 13 902.1 8769
Praperty plant and ecuipment 14 217 24
Goodwill and other intangible assets 14 11 11
Investrments In associates 17 241 406
Other investments 8 878 814
Dernvative financial iInstruments 24 15 L&
Deferred tax 22 177 172
1,037 0 1,018 6
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 19 14 115
Dervativa financial instruments 24 04 -
Cash anc cash equivalents 20 55.3 483
673 598
Total assets 1,104.3 1.078 4
Current labilihes
Trade and other payables 2 (30 4) (31 8)
Current tax (12) (53)
Borrowings 23 (151 2) (85 0)
Derwvative financial instruments 24 €0.1) (10
{182 9) (123 1)
Non-current Liabilities
Deferred tax 22 (75 0) (74 5)
Borrowings 23 (469 8) (504 3)
Dervative financial instruments 24 (D) (19 3)
(5539 (598 1)
Total labilities (736 8) (721 2)
Net assets 3675 3572
Equity
Snare capital 26 125 129
Snare premium 28 715 718
Other reserves 29 86.0 1625
Retamed earmngs 1975 17116
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 3475 3585
Non-controlling interests - 1 3)
Total equity 3675 3572

The financial statements of CLS Holdings ple (regisiered number 2714781) were approvea by the Board of Directors and authorisad for
1ssue on 5 March 2012 and were signed on its behalf by

Mr S A Mortstedt
Director

The notes on pages 50 to 80 are an integral part of these group frtnancial statements
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Attributable 1o the
owners of the Company

Non-
Share Snare Other Retained canlroll?r?g
capital premium reserves earnings Total interests Total
Notes £m £m £€m Em £m €m €m
At 1 January 2011 12.9 715 1025 1716 3585 (13) 357 2
Arising in 2011
Tatal comprehensive income
for the year - - (16 9) 375 206 13 21.9
Purchase of own shares 26 {0 4) - 04 (117N (117 - 1Ln
Expenses thereof - - - 0 1) on - (0.1)
Employee share option schemes - - - 02 a2 - 02
Total changes ansing in 2011 (0 4) - (16 5) 25 % 90 13 103
At 31 December 2011 125 715 860 1975 3675 - 3675
Attributable to the
owners of the Company
Non-
Share Share Other Retained controlling
capital preamium resarves earnings Tatal INterests Tatal
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 133 705 1050 1215 3103 (13 305 G
Arsing in 2010
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (29 LIV 572 - 572
Issue of treasury shares - 10 - - 10 - i0
Purchase of own shares 26 (0 &) - 04 (16 Q) (10 - (100
Expenses thereof - - - (a1 own - QN
Employee share option schemes - - - 01 01 - g1
Total changes arsing in 2010 04 10 {(25) 501 48 2 - £8 2
At 31 Decermnber 2010 129 715 1025 171 6 3585 (13} 3572

The notes on pages 50 to 80 are an integral part of these group financial statements
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2011 2010
Notes £m €m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from orerations 30 541 812
interest paid (26.1) 27
Income tax paid 29 (3 4)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 251 261
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment property (72) (36 4)
Capital expenditura on investment property (132) (65)
Proceeds from szle of investment property - 01
Interest receved 69 52
Purchase of corporate bends (54 5) (517
Proceeds from szale of carparate bonds 318 477
Purchase of equity investments (7 6) (10
Proceeds from sale of equity Investments 72 08
Purchase of Interasts In associate (0 2) (19
Distributions received from associate undertakings 199 (R
Costs on foreign currency transactions (14) 12
Costs of carporate disposals (18) 07
Purchases of property, plant and equinment (0 2) {63
Net cash outflow from investing activities (20 3) (34 Q)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares from treasury shares - i
Purchase of own shares (11 8) (¢ 1)
New loans 174 2 1027
Issue costs of new loans (28) amn
Repayment of loans (132 2) {100 &)
Purchase or cancellation of derivative financial instrurments (259 39
Net cash inflow/(autflow) from financing activities 15 (120)
Cash flow element of net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6.3 (19 9)
Foreign exchange ganf{loss) 07 21
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 70 (220)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 48.3 703
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20 553 48 3

Interest recewved has been included in cash flows from investing activities as .he majority of it anises from invesung in cerporate boncs

Previgusly, mnterest recevea was disclosed in cash flows from operating activities

The notes on pages 50 to B0 are an integrat part of these group financial statements
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2011

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
CLS Holdings ple (the Cempany ) and its subsidiaries (together CLS Holdings™ or the Groug ) 1s an investment praperty group
which is principally invalved in the investment management and development of commercial properties, and in other investrnents
The Group s principal cperations are carried out In London, France, Germany and Sweden

The Company is registered in the UK registration number 2714781 with 1ts reqistered address at 86 Bondway, London, SW8 15F
The Company 1s listed on the London Stock Exchange

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PGLICIES

The principal accounting palicies applied 1n the preparation of these group financial statements are set out below These policies
have been consisiently appled to all the years presented unless otherwise statec

21

22

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been preparec on a gaing concern basis as explained in the Directors Report on page 28 and
have been crepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRSs ) as adopted by the European
Union, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC ) interpretations and the provisions of the
Companies Act 2004 applicable to companies reparting under [FRS

New standards and interpretations

In the current year the Group has adopted four standares and guidance for the first time none of which has hag a matenal
effect an the results for the year

*  Rewvised |AS 24 - Reiated Parly Disclosures

s |FRS 2010 Improvements - Improvements to IFRSs 2010

s Amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments Disclasures

s Amendments o IFRS 1 - Remavai of Fixed Dates for Firsl-tme Adepters

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been
applied in these financial statements were in1ssue but not yet effective In some cases these standards and quidance have
not been endorsed by the Eurapaan Union

* Amendments 10 |AS 1 - Presentation of tems of other comprehensive income

+  Amendrents "0 1AS 12 - Deferred Tax Recovery of Underlying Assets

+  Amendments 10 1AS 19 - Employee benefits

*  |AS 27 - Separate financial statements (2011)

« |AS 28 - Investments in associates and jomnt ventures (2011)

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

IFRS 10 - Conschidated financial statements

IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements

{FRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities

+« IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement

¢ Improvements 2011 - improvements to IFRSs 2010

«  Supplement to ES/2009/12 - IASB supplement to Financial instruments amortised costs and impairment

«  ED/2011/3 - IASB expasure draft on offsetiing financial assets and financial biabilines

«  ED/2011/3 - Mandatory effective date of IFRS 9

These pronouncements, wnen applied, either will result in changes to presentation and disclosure, or ara not expected o
have 8 material impact on the financiat statements

. b >

Business Combinatians

{1} Subsidiary undertakings
Sunsidiary undertakings are those antities controlled by the Group Control 1s assumed when the Group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity or business to beneht from 1ts activities Subsidiaries are fully
conschidated from the daie an which control is transferred to the Group until the date control ceases All intra-group
transactions, balances income and exnenses ars elminated on cansolidation

{n) Joint ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Graup has joint control established by contractual agreement
The group financial statements include the Group s propartionate share of income, expenses assets, Labilities and cash
flows of joint ventures

{m) Associates
Assoclates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence but which are not subsidiary undertakings or joint
veniures The results and assets and liabilities of assaciates are incorparated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting Invesiments 1n associates are carried in the balance sheet at cosi as adjusted by past-acquisition
changes In the Group s share of the net assets of the associate less any impairment in the value of indvidual investments
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24
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When the Group s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate Unrealised gains on
transactions between the Group and its assoclates are eliminated to the extent of the Group s interest in the associates
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assel transferred

{Iv) Goodwill

Goaodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group s interest In the fair
value of iIdentifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary joint venture or associate at the date of acquisition It 1s itially
recognised as an asset at cost and 1s subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairmeant losses Goodwill
which 1s recogmised as an asset Is reviewed for iImpairment at least annually

Foreign currency
{1) Foreign currency transactions

Transactians in foreign currencies are translatec Into sterling using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the
transaction Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated
into sterling at the exchange rate ruling at that date, and differences arising on translation are recognised in profit
before tax, unless they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities classified as available-for-sale and denaminated in foreign currencies
are recognised In profit before tax where the transiation difference results from changes In the amartised cost of the
security and are recognised In equity where 1t results from other cnanges in the carrying amount of the secunty

(1) Consolidation of forergn entities

The resuits and financial position of all Group entities wnich have a functional currency different from sterling are
translated into sterling as follows

(a) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet,

{b) ncome and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average exchange rates (unless this average
1S not a reascnable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case incomne and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions) and

{¢) all resulting exchange difierences are recognised directly in equity in the cumulative translation reserve

On conselidation exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in fareign entities, and of
barrowings and other currency Instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the cumulative
translation reserve When a foreign operation 1s sola such exchange differences are recognised s part of the gain or
loss on sale In profit befare tax

Investment properties

Investment properties are those properties held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both Land held under
an operating teasa Is classified and accounted for as an investment property when tne definition of investmant property s
meat and the operating lease 15 accounted for as if it were a finance lease Investment properties are measured initially at
cast inctuding related transaction costs

After imitial recognitien at cost Investment properties are carried at fair value, based on market value as determined by
professional external valuers at the balance sheet date Investment properties being redeveloped for continuing use as
investment properties or for which the market has become less active continue to be classified as investment properties
and measured at fair value Changes in fair values are recognisad in profit before tax If an investment property becomes
owner-occupled 1t1s reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes
its cost for accounting purposes Subsequently the owner-occupiea property 1s depreciated over its usaful ecanomic life and
revalued at the balance sheet date

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss

Land 15 not depreciated Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15 calculated using the straight-line methed to
allocate cost less estimated residual values over the estimated useful lves as follows

Plant and 2quipment 4 - Syears
Freehold property & years

The gain or lass arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and 1s recognised in profit before tax Frzehold property 1s depreciated until December
2014 after which 1t1s anticipated that it will be redeveloped
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmuen

31 December 2011

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

24

27

28

29

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and in respect of business combinations are capitalised at fair value
at the caie of acquisition Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives on a straight Line basis as follows

Trade names 11 years
Customer relatianships 10- 11 years
Technology 4 years
Capitalised development and ather costs not amortised

Financial instruments
(1) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derwative financial Instruments, including swaps and interest rate caps o help manage its interest rate
and foreign exchange rate nsk Derivative financial instruments are recorded, and subsequently revalued at fair value
Revzaluation gains and losses are recognised 1n profit before tax except for derivatives which qualify as effective cash
flow hedges, the gains and losses relating to which are recogrisad directly in equity

(n) Available-far-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are initially measured at cost, and are subsequently revalued to fair value Revaluation gains
and losses are recognised directly in equity, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary
assets Ondisposal the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in aquity is recycled thraugh profit betore tax

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand demand deposits and other shert-term highly Liguid investments
which are readily convertible te a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value

(1v) Trade and other receivables and payables

Trade and ather recevables are recognised initially at fair value Animpairment provision 1s created where there 1s
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the racevacle in full Trade and other payables are stated at
cast, which equates to fair value

(v) Borrowings

Berrowings are recognised initially at fair value less atinbutable transaction costs Subsequently, barrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and the redemption value being
recognised In profit before tax aver the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest rate methad

Revenue

{)) Rental mcome .
Rental revenue trom operating leases 1s recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term When the Group
provides Incentives to its customers, the cost of incentives are recognised cver the lease term, an a straight-line basis
as a reduction of rental revenue

{n) Service charge income
Service and management charge revenue 15 recognised on a gross basis in the accounting periad in which the services
are rendered Whare the Group s acting as an agent, the commission rather than gross revenue Is recorded as revenue

{m) Other property-related income
Revenue from the sale of gnods and services I1s booked when the revenue can be calculated ~sltably and the risks and
benefits have been transferred to the buyer Revenues are booked net of deductions for VAT and discaunts

Praofit on sale of investment propertias

Profit on sale of an investment property 1s recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, typically on unconditional exchange of cantracts or when legal utle passes
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2 10 Income tax

Current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year and 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred 12x 15 provided using the balance sneet liability method on temporary differences between the carrying value of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the values usad for tax purposes Temparary differences are not
provided for when they anse from initial recognition of goodwill ar from the initial recognition of assets and babilities In 3
transaction that daes nat affect accounting or taxable profit

The amount of deferred tax provided Is based on the expectec manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and Liabilities and s catculated using rates that are expeciec to acply in the pericd when the lizbiiity 1s settled or
the asset 15 realised in the tax jurisdiction 1n which the temporary differences arise Deferred tax s chargec or credited 1n
arriving at profit after tax except when it relates ta items recognised directly in equity, \n which case the deferred tax s also
recognised In equity

Deferred “ax assets are recognised anly to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable prefits will be available against
which the assets can be used The deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset If they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation avthority, there 15 a legally enforceable right of set-oif and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis

2 11 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenaver the terms of the lease transfer substantially ell the risks and benefits
of ownership to the lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases Certain operating leases for tand that 1s
classified and accounted for as investment property pursuant to |AS 40 - investment Properties are accounted for as if
they were finance leases

(1) A Group company 1s the lessee

(a) Rentals payable under operating leases ars charged to prcfit befare tax on a stratght-line basis over the term of the
lease Benefits recetved and raceivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease

(b) Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at the tease commencement date at the lower of the fair
value of the leased asset and the present value of the mimmum lease payments The corresponding liability to the
lessor 15 Included in the balance sneet as a finance lease obligation Each lease payment i1s allocated between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability Finance charges are charged directly against incoms

{n) A Group company s the lessor

(a) Rental income from cperating leases 1s recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease Imitial direct
costs Incurred In negatiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of tne leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term

{b) Amounts due fraom lessees under finance leases are recorded as recewvables at the amount of the Group s nei
investment in the leases Finance lease income s allocated to accounting pericds 5o as to reflect a constant
periodic return on the Group s net ivestment outstanding in respect of the leases

2 12 Employee henefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates various defined contrnibution plans The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately adrminisiered
pensian Insurance plans on a mandatory, centractual or voluntary basis The Group has no further payment obligations cnce
the contributions have been paic A contribution 1s recogrised as an employee benefit expense when it 1s due A prepaid
contribution is recogrsed as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments 1s availacle

2 13 Share-based payments

The Group 1ssues to certain amplayees equity-settled share-based payments, the fair values cf which are calculated

using the Black Scholes share eption valuation model Fair value, excluding the effect of non-market-based conditians, 1s
determined at the date of grant and 1s amarused to profit befare tax over the vesting period on a straight-line basis, wath a
corresponding increase in equity At eacn balance sheet date the fair value is recalculated basad on the extent to whicn the
vesting peried has expired and management s best estimate of the non-market conditions and of the number of equity
instruments that will ulimately vest and the rate of arnaruisation 1s agjusted accordingly
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conrmueo

31 Oecember 2011

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application af the Group s accounting policies which are describad 1n note 2, the Oirectors are requirad to make judgements,
estimates and assumplions about the carrying amounts of assets and Liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources
The estimates and assoclated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are cansiderad to be relevant
Actual results may differ from these estimates

The estimates and underiying assumpticns are reviewed on an ongoing basis Changes to aceounting estimates are recognised In
the perod in which the estimate Is revised If the revision affects only that perioc or in the period of the revisian and future penicds
if the rewision affects beth current and future periods

The following are the critical estimates and Judgemenits that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group s
accounting policies and that have the mast significant effect on the amounts recogmised in the financial statements

{1} Fair value of iInvestment properties

The best evidence af fair value 1s current prices In an active market for similar lease and other contracts In the absence
of such information, the Group determines the amaunt within a range of reasonable fair vaiue estimates In making 1is
Judgement the Group considers information from a variety of sources including

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or locatien {or subject to different lease
or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences,

(b) recent prices of similar procerties in less active markets, with adjustments 1o reflect any changes in econemic
canditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices ana

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, derived from the terms of any
existing lease and other contracts and {where possible) from external ewidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition and using discount rates that reflect current market assessments
of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows

(u) Income Taxes

The Group is sugject to inceme taxes in different jurisdictions and estimation 1s required to determine the worldwide
provision for income taxes There are sorne transactians and calculations for which the vltimate tax determination is
uncertain Where the final tax outcome of these matters 1s different from the amounts that were initially recorded,

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which determinatian 1s made

{1} Impairment of goodwill and ather intangible assets

When assessing possible impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets the Group is required to make an assessment
of recoverable smounts Recoverable amount s calculated as the higher of fair value less costs ta sell and value 1n use
In making these assessments, assumptions are required to be made based upan infarmation available at the time

{iv) Deferred tax

The method of calculation of deferred tax in relation to London properties assumes that indexation allowance will be
available as it 15 assumed that the Group will recover the carrying amount of its investment properties through use followed
by an eventuzl sale

{v) Listed corporate bonds

The best ewidence of the fair value of listed corpaorate hands s quoted prices in an active market The bond market s not
always as liquid as conventional equity markets The Group tharefore, is required to make certain judgements when arriving
at the fair value of bonds which are less iquid In nature To the extent that vond prices are not availabie from third party
pricing sources the Group determines their fair value by comparing observable market aata and making judgements on

the Liquicity of particular bonds from a variety of sources

(a) the Group uses a broker to obtain multipte quotes directly from market makers and to make a judgement as o the
liquicity of those bands, and the Group determines whether the judgments of liquidity are reasonable and whethear
the spread of market maker prices 1s within an expected range, and

(b) the Group makes judgements on price and Liquidity based on recent market transactions in 2articular bonds

(v1) Valuation of derivative financial instruments

The Group s most signimicant derivative financizl instruments are interest rate swaps and interest rate caps The fair value of
these financial instruments 1s determined using valuation technigues Management uses its jJudgement to select valuation
methods and make assumptions which are based on market condiiions at the balance sheet date
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The Group has twe operating divisions - Investment Praperty and Other investments Other Invesiments camprise corporate bonds
shares in Catena A2 Bulgarian Land Development Plc and Wyatt Media Group AB, and other small corporate investments Tne
Group manages the Investment Property division on a geographical casis due to its size and geographical diversity Cansequently

the Graup s principal operating segments are
Investment Property - Loendon
France
Germany
Sweden
Other Investrnents

There are no transactions between the operating segments

The Group s results for the year endes 31 Decernber 2011 by operating segment were as follows

Investment Property

Oth
London France Germany Sweden Investmenf; Total
£m €m €m £m £€m £m
Rental income 265 191 14 4 62 - 46 2
Service charge iIncome 42 52 25 03 - 122
Other preperty-related income 08 01 - - - 09
Income from non-property aciivities - - - - a8 08
Group revenue 31.5 24 4 18.9 65 08 80.1
Service charges and similar expenses GN {85) 33 (14) - (16 3)
Administration expenses (9 (15) an (04} a7n (6 8)
Other expenses o (G5 (0 8) (01 - (22)
Costs (88) (75) (5 0) 21) a7n (25 1)
Group revenue less costs 227 169 119 44 09 550
Net movements on revaluaticn of investment properties 102 49 20 09 - 8o
Net gain on sale of corparate bonds and other investments - - - - a5 05
Profit on sale of subsicraries and associates - - - 18 04 22
Segment sperating profit 329 218 139 71 - 757
Finance income 03 a1 - - 118 122
Finance costs (303) 79 (7 1) (18) (0 8} 477)
Snare of profit of associates afier tax - - - - 3a 30
Segment profit before tax 29 140 48 55 140 432
Taxation 77 (4 &) (0 4) {22) 04 11
Segment profit after tax 1046 94 &4 33 14 4 44 3
Centrat administration expenses 59
Profit fer the year 38.8
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmmueo

31 December 2011

A

SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

The Group s results for the year endec 31 Decernber 2010 by aperating segment were as {ollows

Investrment Property

Oth
London France Germany Sweden Investmen?; Totat
£m £m Em £m £m fm
Rental incame 245 17 8 143 55 - &2 1
Service charge income 432 49 27 03 - 121
Other property-related income 05 a1 - - - 06
Income from non-property activities - - - - 43 43
Group revenue 292 228 i70 58 43 791
Service charges and similar expenses (5 5) (52) (30 (14 - iz 1
Administratian expenses (29 {(15) (10) [(1R¢))] (3% (% 4)
Other expenses {05) {G2) (13 - (02} (22)
Costs (89 49 (53) an (41} (26 9}
Group revenue less costs 203 159 17 41 02 522
Net mavements on revaluation of investment praperties 48 178 82 on - 301
Net gain on sale of corporate bonds and other investrents - - - - 93 g
{Loss)/profit on sale of subsidiaries - (14) - 16 -
Segment operating profit 251 321 199 50 95 916
Finance income - 01 - - &0 &1
Finance costs (162) (30) X)) (0 4) (46} (31 1)
Share of profit of associates after tax - - - - 77 77
Segment profit before tax 89 292 130 44 186 743
Taxation 01 (3 6) (09 (04 (0 4} (108}
Segment profit after tax %0 196 125 42 i82 435
Central administration expenses (3 4)
Profit for the year 5801
Other segment information
Assets Liabilities Capital expenditure
2011 2013 201 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m Em €m £m
Investrment Property
London 4355 3912 304 9 295 4 12.6 237
France 2529 2547 2129 190 4 1.8 155
Germany 2011 2032 147 2 154 5 40 27
Sweden 452 616 420 450 2.5 0és
Other investments 149 6 165 7 29.8 357 - -
1,%04 3 1,078 4 734 8 7212 209 425

Included within the assats of other invesiments are Investmenis 1n assoctates of £24 1 mullion (2010 £40 4 rrullion)
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The admimistration cost ratio s a key performance indicator of the Group [t represents the ceost of running the property pertfolio

relative toits net iInccme and 1s calculated as follows

2011 2010
£m £m
Administraticn expenses of the operating segmenis 6.6 76
Central administration expenses 55 34
Total administration expenses of the Group 121 130
Less non-recurring element therecf Q7 -
Less administration expenses of Other Investments 7 39
Property-related and central administration expenses 97 91
Group revenue 801 791
Less income from Other Investments (0 8) (43
Less service charges and similar expenses (16 3) (15 1)
Net rental income 630 597
Adminstration cost ratio 15.4% 15 2%
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging
201 2010
£m Em
Auditor s remuneration
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the parent Campany and group accounts 02 02
Fees payable to the Campany s auditor for other services to the Group
The audit of the Company s subsidiaries pursuant to legistation 01 01
Depraciation of property, ptant and equipment 02 03
Employee benefits expense {note 7) 78 80
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
2011 2010
£m £m
Wages and satares 5.4 652
Sacial security costs 0.3 ig
Fension costs - defined contribution plans 04 03
Other employee-related expenses 12 05
78 80

The Directors are considerad to be key managemaent of the Group

Infaermation on Directars emoluments, share opttons and interests in the Company s shares 1s given in the Oirectors

Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 41

The monihly average nurmber of employees of the Group In continuing operations, including Executive Directars, was as follows

2011 2010
Other Other
Property operatiens Tetal Property gperaticns Total
number number number number numbeer number
Male 24 4 30 2 19 40
Female 3 2 3 31 5 34
55 8 43 52 24 74
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmmueo

31 December 2011

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE CONTINUED

Share-based payments

The Group aperates two employee share opticn schemes the 2005 CLS Holcings Ple Company Share Option Plan and the Group s
unapproved Share Option Scheme In March 2010, share options under these schemas were granted at an exesrcise price of 470p
and can be exercised from March 2012 to March 2017 Details of vesting conditions in relation to these options are grven within the
Oirectors Remuneration report on page 40

The movement in share options during the year was

201 2010
Number Exercise Number Exercise
of share price of share price
options (pence) options (pence)
Ovtstanding at the beginning of the year 300,000 470 - -
Granted during the year - - 300 000 470
Outstanding at the end of the year 300,000 470 300,000 470
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -

The fair value of share cptions granted in 2010 were calculated using the Black Schales model The inputs ta this macel were

Share price at grant date (pence)} 4950
Exercise price {pence) 4700
Expected volatility 47 9%
Opuion life (years) 70
Risk-free rate 4 1%
Expectad dwvidend yield 4 3%
Value per cption (pence) V772

The expected volatility has been estimated using the historical volatility of the share price over a four year period The expected
life of the cptions has been adjusted, nased on management s best esiimate for the effects of behavioural considerations and
exercise restricttons The Group recognised an expense of £0 2 million (2010 £0 1 million) relating to equity-setiled share-based
transactions In the year and a corresponding increase {0 equity

FINANCE INCOME

2011 2010
£m £m
Interest iIncame 92 &1
Other finance income 23 -
Foreign exchange variances 07 -
122 &1
FINANCE COSTS
2011 2010
€m E£m
Interest expense
Bank loans 212 183
Debenture loans 4,7 47
Other loans 12 -
Amartisation of lean 1ssue costs 21 10
Mavernent in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps transactions not qualifying as hedges 14 2 37
Interest rate caps transactions not qualifying as hedges 43 (0 &)
Faretgn exchange variances - 40

477 311
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10 TAXATION
2011 2010
£m £m
Current tax (credit)/charge (12 ik
Deferrad tax cnarge {note 22) 0.1 &4
(11 108

1"

Adeferred tax credit of £4 & millien (2010 credit of £1 8 milllon) was recagnised directly in eguity (note 23)

The charge for the year differs from the theoretical amount which wauld arise using the weighted average tax rate applicacle to

profits of Group companies as follows

2011 2010

£m Em

Profit before tax 377 70 9
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries 10 1 201
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (01) 15
Tax effect of unrecognised profits In asscciates and jaint ventures (0 8) (23)
Adjustment in rescect of Indexation allowance on London properties (4 &) 21)
Other deferred tax adjustments (18) 04
Deferred tax assets not recognised (0.8) a9
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (3.3) £9)
Tax {credit)/charge tar the year {(1.1) 108

The weighted average applicable tax rate of 26 7% (2010 28 4%) was derived by applying te thetr relevant profits and losses the

rates 1n the jurisdictians in wnicn the Group operated

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Management has chosen to disclose the European Public Real =state Associauan (EFRA) measure of earnings per share (Best
Practices Recommendations October 2010 as clanfied by Additional Guidance July 201 1), which has been provided to gwve relevant
information to investars on the lang-term perfarmance of the Group s underlying business The EPRA measure excludes items which
are non-recurring 1n nature such as profits {net of related tax) on sale of investment properties and of other nan-current investments,
and items which have no Impact to earnings over their fe, such as the change in fair value of dervative financial instruments anc
the net movement on revaluation of investment progerties, and the related deferrec taxation on these iterns Comparatives have
been restated in accordance with EPRA Best Practices Recommendations Additional Guidance July 2011

2011 2010
£m £m
Earmings (restated)
Profit for the period attributable to the awners of the Company 375 401
Revaluation gains on investment properties - {18 0) (30 1)
Profit an sale of sukbsidiaries and associates (22) -
Negative goodwill on share acquisitions - N
Change in fair value of derwative financial instruments 18.5 31
Net gain on sale of corporate bands and other investments (05) (?3)
Deferred tax relating to the above adjustments 05 L1
Agdjustments in respect of associates (38) a7
Nan-recurring fingnce mcome (23) -
EPRA Earnings 29.7 201
20Mm 2010
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Number Number
Weightea average number of ardinary shares in circulation 45,738,600 47,280,274
Dilutive share options? 67,542 13,339
Diluted weighted average number of arcinary shares 45,806,142 47,293,413
201 2010
Pence Pence
Earnings per Share (restated)
Basic 820 1271
Dilutad 819 1271
EPRA 549 425

t 300 000 share opuions were granted on 31 March 2010 2t an exercise price of 470 pence
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmueo

31 Decemnber 2011

12 NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Management has chesen 1o cisclose the two European Public Real Estate Association {EPRA) measures of net assets per share
(Best Practices Recommendations Octeber 2010 zs clanfied oy Additional Guidance July 2011) EFRA net assats per share and
EPRA triple net assets per share The EPRA net assats per share measure highlights the fair value of equity on a long-term basis,
and so excludes itams which have ne impact on the Group in the long term, such as fair value movements of derivative financial
Instrumeants and movements on fair value of Investment properlies, and associated deferred tax The EPRA triple net assets per
share measure ciscloses net assets per share an z true fair value basis zll nalance sheet items are Included at their fair value in
arriving at this measure including deferred tax fixed rate loan Liabiities and any other balance sheet items not reported at fair
value Comparatives nave peen restated in accordance with EPRA Best Practices Recommendations Additional Guidance July 2011

2011 2010

£m £m

Net Assets (restated)
Basic net assets 3675 357 2
Ditutive impact of share options 14 14
Diluted net assets 3489 3584
Adjustment to increase nxed rate debt to fair value net of tax 237) (19 4)
Goodwill as a result of deferred tax (11) (1n
EPRA triple net assets 344.1 3381
Deferrad tax on property and ather non-current asseis 879 8 4
Fair value of gervative financial instruments 73 57
Adjustment to decrease fixed rate deot to book value, net of tax 23.7 19 4
Adjustments in respect of associates 19 52
EPRA net assets 444.9 446 8
201 2010

Number of ordinary shares Number Number
Numcer of arcinary shares in airculation 44,953,611 46,588,244
Dilutive share options 300,000 300,000
Diluted number of ordinary shares 45,253,811 464 888 244
2011 2010

Net Assets Per Share Pence Pence
(rastated)

Basic 8175 7667
Diluted 815.2 764 8
EPRA 983.1 9529

EPRA triple net 760 4 7211
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Landan France Germany Sweden Total

£€m €m £m €m £m

At 1 January 2011 375.0 2487 196 5 567 874 9
Acquisitions 64 - 0.8 - 72
Capital expendsture 6.1 17 3.2 25 1356
Net movement on revaluation of investment praperties 10.2 49 20 09 18.0
Rent-free period debtor adjustments 0.3 - - (0 1) 02
Exchange rate variances - (70Q) (5 4) (13) (137
At 31 December 2011 398.0 2483 197.1 587 902.1
London France Germany Sweden Total

fm tm £€m Em £rn

At 1 January 2010 346 8 2228 1921 513 8130
Acquisitions 234 130 - - 344
Capital expandilure 01 25 26 0é 58
Disposals o - - - (o1
Net mavement an revaluation of investment properties 48 178 §2 an 301
Rent-free period dehtor adjustments - - - 0t 01
Exchange rate vanances - (7 4) (6 4) 54 (8 4)
At 31 December 2010 3750 2487 1965 967 8769

The investment properties (and the owner-cccupied praperty detailed in nate 14) were revalued at 31 December 2011 to their fair
value Valuations were based en current prices in an active market for all properties Tne property valuations were carried out by

external professtonally qualified valuers as ioltows
Landon Lambert Smith Hampton

France Jones Lang LaSalle

Germany Cotliers International

Sweden CB Richard Ellis

Investment properties included leasehold properties with a carrying amount of £19 1 millien {2010 £19 4 million)

Where the Group teases out its investment property undar operating leases the duration is typically three years or more No contingent
rents have been recegnised n either the current or the comparative year

Sutstantially all investment properties {(and the owner-occupied oroperty detailed in nate 14} are secured against debt

In 2010 the Group purchased a property In London for £1 8 milion Under the terms of the purchase agreement, should the site
be developed additional consideration may become due to the vender The maximum bability In respect of this 1s estimated to be
£0 5 million At the balance sneet date the fair value of the hability was €1l (2010 £nil)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS coxmueo

31 Decermnber 2011

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2013 2010
£m Em

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 54 68
Additions 02 03
Disposals (1.9) {18)
Revaluation 03 01
At 31 December 4.0 54
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Ar 1 January 28) (& 3)
Depreciation charge (0 2) 03
Disposals 17 18
At 31 December a3 (28
Net baaok value
At 31 December 27 24

An owner-occupied property was revalued at 31 Decemoer 2017 based on the external valuation performed by Lambert Smith
Hampton as detailed in nate 13

15 JOINT VENTURES

At 31 December 2011 the Group had a one-third interest (2010 one-third) in the 1ssued ordinary share capital of Fielden Hause
Investments Limited, a company incarporated in England and Wales, which had a caterminous year end to that af the Graup

The principal actwity of Fielden House Investments Limited 1s investment in, and management and develooment of,
commercial property

The fcllowing amounts represent the Group s share of the assets and liabilities and of the income and expenditure of Fielden
House Investments Limited which are includad in the balance sheet and statement of comprehensiva income of the Group

201 2010
£m £m
Assets
Non-current asseis 23 19
Current assets 01 01
24 24
Ltabilities
Current Liabilities (0.1) (21
Non-curren: laailities (2.3) (0 4)
{2.4) (25)
Net Uabilities - (05)
Income 0.2 0z
Expenses (0.2) (02

Profit after tax - -
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16 GOOOWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Qther
Goodwill  intangibles Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2011 186 72 25.8
Disposals (17 5) (7 2) (24.7)
At 31 December 2011 11 - 1.1
Amortisation
At 1January 2011 (17 5) (7 2) (24.7)
Disposals 175 72 24.7
At 31 Dacember 2011 - - -
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 11 - 11
Other
Goodwill intangibles Total
£m Em £m

Cost
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 186 72 258
Amortisation
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 (17 9) (72) (247
Net book value
At 31 Decamber 2010 11 - i1

Geodwill comprised £0 8 million (2010 £0 8 million) on the acquisition of a French progerty partfobia in 2004 and €0 3 million
(2010 £0 3 million} on a German property acqutsition in 2005 All otner goodwill and other intangibles (relating to trade namaes,
technology custemer relationships capitalised development and other costs) which had been fully written down, related to the
Wyatt Mediz Group which was sold in 2011 as described in note 33

Imparirment review 2011 and 2010
Goadwill was reviewed for impairment at 31 December 2011 and at 31 December 2010 using the key assumptions set cut below
No adjustment fer impairment was required

Key assumptions

Unamortised goodwill at 31 December 2011 and at 31 Decernber 2010 related to contingent deferred tax arising on acquisitions of
corporate entities for which an equal deferred tax Liability was recognised in the balance sheet Management have reviewed the
sensitivity to a fall in property values of each cash generating unit A fall of 10% would result In 2 patential impairment of gocdwill
of up to £0 1 rmullien (2010 £6 2 miilion)
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31 December 2011

17

INVESTMENTS IN ASSGCIATES

Net assets Goodwill Total
€m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 kk¥:} 6.8 40 6
Additions 07 14 21
Disposals - (15) (5
Share of profit of associates after tax 30 - 3o
Dividends received (199 - {19.9)
Exchange rate differences 02} - (0 2)
At 31 December 2011 17 4 47 241
Net assets Goodwll Total
£m £m Em
At 1 January 2010 361 48 409
Additions 04 15 19
Share of profit of asseciates after tax 77 - 77
Share of ather comprehensive Income of associates* (0 4) - (04)
Distrioutions recemved (19 - (119
Exchange rate cifferences 19 0% 24
At 31 December 2010 338 68 40 &
* Primarily foreign exchange mavements
The Group s interests 1n its principal associates were as follcws
Bulgarian Land
Development Qther
Catena AB Plc associates Total
At 31 December 2011 €m £m £m fm
Interest held m ordinary share capial 29 9% 48 3% varmnous
Revenues o8 06 0é 20
Share of profit/(loss) of associates after tax 3.7 (05 o2 30
Assets 199 23 08 30.0
Liabilities {11 5) (0 &) {05) {12.8)
Net assets 84 a7 03 17 4
Goodwill 51 - 14 67
Investments in associates 135 87 19 241
Market value of interest 178 n/a nfa
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Bulganan Land

Developrnent Other
Catena AB Ple assoc1ates Total
At 31 December 2010 Em £m fm £m
interest heid in ardinary share capital 29 %% 483% Various
Revenues 45 08 02 35
Profit/{loss) after tax 94 17 N 76
Realisation of negative goodwill on acquisition - 01 - a1
Snare of profit/(loss) of associates after tax 94 {14) an 77
Assets 621 1735 02 798
Liabilities (37 8) {8 1) (VD] (46 0)
Net assets 243 94 1 338
Goodwill 53 - 15 68
Investments in assaciates 294 94 16 40 6
Market value of interest 504 nfa n/a

Catena AB

At 31 Becember 2011 the Group had a 29 9% (2010 29 9%) interest in Catena AB a listed Swedish property company Henry Klotz
Executive Vice Chairman of the Company, is the Non-Executive Chairman of Catena AB

During 2011 Catena returned £1% 9 millicn (2010 £9 9 millien) to the Group in cash fallowing significant rezlisations of its property
assels

Bulgarian Land Development Plec

At 31 Decembzer 2011 the Group had a 48 3% (2010 48 3%) interest in Bulgarian Land Development Ple { BLD ) an unlisted developer
of residential and commaercial real estate in Bulgaria Henry Klotz Executive Vice Chairman of the Company 15 the Non-Executive
Chairman of BLD

In December 2010 the Group receved a return of capital of £2 0 million from BLD by means of a tender offer buy-back

Other assaciates

As descnbed in nate 33, on 31 May 2011 the Sroup sold the remaining operating subsidiaries and certain associates of the Wyatt Media
Group The entities were acquired oy Nyheter 24 (a Swedish on-line news and media business) in excnange for a 20% interest in the
enlarged Nyheter 24 group The fair value of the Grouo s interest in Nyheter 24 was determined on acgquisition to be £1 § milion Henry
Klotz, Executive Vice Chairman of the Cornpany, was appoinied to ine board cf Nyheter 24

The Group retains an associate Interest in one former associate of the Wyatt Media Grouo

Impairment
201

In assessing the carrying value of Catena AB, management considered that the net asset value of Catena s balance sheet was not
representative of true fair value as it did not include the latent development profit on Catena s remaining single develogment site Haga
Norra Furthermaore, the market value of the Group s interest 1n Catena exceeded 1ts carrying value by £4 3 million at 31 December 2011

BLD was carried in the balance sheet at a value equal to the Group s share of its net assats BLD s audited net assets, which were
preparad under IFRS were reviewed and found not to be impaired at 31 December 2011 Accordingly there was na requirement ta
provide for further impairment in the carrying value of the Group s interest in BLD at 31 December 2011

The fair value of Nyheter 24 was determined on acquisitign ta be £1 9 million and was based upon detailed forward forecasts As
the progress to date has not been materially dissimitar from these forecasts the carrying value of Nyheter 24 has not been adjusted
sInce acquisition

2010

In assassing the carrying value of Catena AB management censidered that the balance sheet of Catena AB at 31 December 2010
was stated at fair value except for certain deferred tax liabilities [t was management s agsessment that the realisation of Catena s
property assets would occur through cerporate disposals and therefore latent deferred tax liabilities were unlikely to ¢crystallise
As the Group s share of the net assets of Catena AB excluding deferrad tax Liabilities exceeded the carrying value of the Group s
Interest there was no further impairment of the Group s interast in Catena AB at 31 December 2010 Furthermare, the market value
of the Group s shares in Catena AB exceeded their carrying value by £21 0 mitlion

BLD s audited net assets at 31 December 2010, which were prepared under IFRS, were reviewed and found not to be impaired
Accordingly there was no recuirement to provide further impairmant in the carrying valce ot the Group s interest in BLD at
31 December 2010
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18 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Destination of 2011 2010
Investment type Investment £m £m
Available-for-sale financial investments
carned at fair value Listed corporate bonds UK 560 375
Eurozone 122 241
Other 149 165
851 781
Listed equity securities UK 05 05
Sweden 16 2L
Other 01 01
Unlistec investments Sweden 04 04
Gavernment securities UK a1 01
878 814

The movement of other investments, analysed based on the methods used to measure thair fair value, was as follows

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Observahle QOther
market market valuation
prices datat methods* Tatal
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 3.1 781 04 814
Additions 76 545 - 621
Disposals (77 31 1) - {38 8)
Fair value movements recognised in reserves on available-far-sale assets {0 4) (15 &) - (16 0)
Fair value maovements recognised in profit before tax on available-for-sale assets (0 1) {07 - (0 8)
Exchange rate variations (02) {0 1) - (03)
At 31 December 2011 23 851 04 87.8
Level i Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Observable Other
market market valuation
prices data”™ methods™ Total
tm £m £m £m
At 1 January 2030 33 700 06 73¢9
Additions 10 517 - 527
Drsposals (22) (36 7) 02) {39 1)
Fair value movernents recognisad In resarves on available-for-sale assets (OS] 34 - 31
Fair value movements recognised In profit before tax on available-for-sale assets 10 ($5) - (8 5)
Exchange rate variatians 03 (G 8) - (0 5}
At 31 December 2010 3 781 04 814
t Includes £rl (2010 E£12 8 million) of carporate honds priced directly from market makers in those bonds
* Unlisted equity shares valued using multiples from comparable listed arganisations
Corporate Band Partfolio
At 31 December 2011
Building
Sector Banking Insurance Societies Financials QOther Total
Value £155m €31 &m £11 1m £310m £159m £85 Tm
Coupon yiele 11 4% 9 1% 9 8% 92% 12 0% 10 2%
lssuers «BC AXA Yorkshire Investec TUI
RBS Aviva Nationwide Euroclear SAS
Co-op Generali Man Graup Swisscort
Lloycs Insh Life Aberdeen AM Corral Finans
Dresdner Swiss Life Themas Cook
SNS Bank Old Mrtual Cable & Wireless
Rethschild Storebrand HeidelbergCement
Commerzbank RL Finance Renewable Energy Corp

Legal & General
Scottish Widows
Friends Provicent
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2011 2010
£m £m
Current
Trade recenvables 34 35
Prepayments 05 07
Accrued income 52 35
Other debtors 23 38
114 115

Thers was no concantration of credit risk wath respect to trade recevacles as the Group had a large number of tenants spread
across the countries in which it operated

Thers werz no matenal trade and ather recewables classified as past due but not impaired (2010 nene) No trade and other
recewvahles were interest-bearing

Included within other debiors i1s £0 5 million (2010 £nit) due after more than one year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

201 2010

£m Em

Cash at bank and in hand 257 239
Short-term oank deposits 296 24 4
553 48 3

At 31 December 2011, Group cash at bank and (n hand included £5 8 million (2010 £6 4 million) of cash deposits which were
restricted by a third-party charge

Cash ana short-term deposits are invested at floating rates of interest based on relevant national LIBID and base rates or
equivalents in the UK, France, Germany and Swecen

The cash and cash equivalents currency crofile was as iollows
Cash atbank  Short-term

andn hang deposits Total
At 31 December 2011 £m £m £m
Sterling 101 5.2 153
Euro 134 04 140
Swedish Krona 20 240 260
257 29 6 563
Cash at bank Short-term

and in hand deposils Total
At 31 Decernber 201G £m Em £m
Sterling 134 75 211
Euro g2 G2 94
Swedish Krona 11 167 178
239 24 4 483

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
20114 2010
€m Em

Current

Trade payables 1.7 i6
Social security and other taxes 19 21
Other payables &0 &4
Accruals 11.4 128
Deferred income % 4 B9

304 318

$1012311Q] 8Y) jo Hodey

0110))0¢] Ajade.g

BIULUIBADG

S1UNOIY

UONEWIGIU| 1840



68

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conrinuen

31 December 2011

22 DEFERRED TAX

2011 2010
£m £m
Deferred iax assets
- after more than 12 months (177 (112)
Deferred &x Lizbilities
- after mare than 12 months 750 745
573 633
The movement in deferred tax was as follows
2011 200
£m Em
At 1 January 63.3 5% &
Charged in arriving at profit after tax 01 b4
Cradited to other comprehensive income {4 &) {18)
Exchange rate vanances {15) 09
At 31 December 573 633

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

within the same tax jurisdiction, was as follows

Tax losses Other Tatal
Deferred tax assets Em Em £m
At 1 January 2011 (51) b1) (112)
(Credited)/charged in arriving at profit after tax (59) 20 (3.5)
Credited to other comprehensive iIncome - (31) (3.1)
Exchange rate variances - 01 01
At 31 December 2011 (10 &) (71 77
Tax losses Qther Total
Deferred tax assels £m £m £m
At 1 Janvary 2010 (71 (58) (127)
Charged/(credited) In arriving at profit after tax 20 05 15
At 31 December 2010 (5 1) (61N 112
Fair value
adjustments to
UK capital investment
allowances properties QOther Total
Deferred tax liabilities £m £m £m £€m
At 1 January 2011 102 623 20 745
(Credited)/charged in arriving at profit after tax (0 5) 38 a3 34
Credited to other comprehensive income - - (15) {15)
Exchange rate variances - (16) - {1.6)
At 31 December 2011 27 84 5 0.8 750
Fair value
adjustments to
UK capital wnvestment
allowances properties Qther Tatal
Oeferred tax liatulities £m £Em £m Em
At 1 January 2010 121 56 5 37 7213
{Credited)/charged In arriving at profit aster tax a9 67 01 L9
Credited to other comprehensive income - - (18) {18)
Exchange rate variances - (1)) - (Y
At 31 Decamber 2010 102 42 3 20 745
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Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisatian of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits i1s probable At 31 December 2011 the Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of £7 2 million
(2010 €4 7 million) In respect of losses emounting ta £27 ¢ million (2018 £20 2 million) which can e carned forward against
future taxable income or gains The majority of deferred tax assets recogrised within the other category relate either to deferred
tax on swaps with a negative book value or to corporate bonds carried at below cost Losses recognised as deferred tax assets can
be carned forward without restriction

On 1 April 2012 the UK corporation tax rate reduces from 26% to 25% As this has been substantively enacted at the balance shaet
date the UK deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at a rate of 25% The impact on net assets for 2011 as a result
of this change was an increase of £0 2 million It 1s expected that UK tax rates will reduce to 24% by 1 April 2014 A further 1% fall
In the rate of UK tax would increase net assets by £0 1 million, and increase pronit after tax by £0 1 milbion

BORROWINGS
Total
Current  Non-current borrowings
At 31 December 2011 £m £m im
Bank loans 150 0 399 4 549 6
Debenture loans 12 318 33.0
Zero coupon note - 109 10.9
Other loans - 275 275
1512 469 8 6210
Total
Current  Non-cur-ent borrawings
At 31 December 2070 £m £m Em
Bank loans 816 4615 5431
Debenture loans 11 330 341
Zera coupan note - 98 78
Other loans 23 - 23
850 504 3 589 3

Arrangement fees or £4 1 milbion (2610 €3 0 million) have been cffset in arriving at the halances in the above tables

Bank loans

Interest on bank loans 15 charged at fixed rates ranging between 3 1% and 11 2%, inc'uding margin (2010 4 9% and 11 2%) and at
floating rates of typically LIBOR EURIBOR or STIBOR, plus & margin Fixed rate margins range between 0 8% and 1 8% (2010 0 8%
and 1 8%) and floating rate margins range between 0 8% and 3 8% (2010 1 0% and 3 0%) Al bank loans are secured by legal
charges over the respective properties and In most cases a floating charge over the remainder of the assets held in the company
which owns the property In addition the share capital of some of the subsidiaries within the Group has been charged

Debenture loans

The debenture loans represent amaortising bonds wnich are repayable in equal quarterly instalments of £1 2 million (2013 £1 2 mullion)
with final repayment due in January 2025 Each instalment 1s apportioned between principal and interest on a reducing balance
basis Interest 1s charged at an annual fixed rate of 10 8% including margin The debentures are secured by a legal charge over a
property and secuntisation of its rental income

Zera coupon note

The zero coupen note accrues interest at an annual rate of 11 2%, including margin 1tis unsecured and (s redeemable as & balloan
repayment of principal and interest of £43 7 milbon 1n aggregate in February 2025

Qther loans

Other loans totalling £2 3 million were discharged during 2011 on the liguidatian of the subsidiaries which 1ssued the debt
Previously the loans attracted variable rate interest ranging from 2 0% to 4 0% per annum compnising LIECR plus a margin

On 15 April 2011 the Group 1ssued SEK 300 million unsecured bonds The bonds at'ract a floating rate coupan of 3 75% over thres
months STIBOR and are due for repayment in 2016 Aftar two years the Group has an option to reaeem all outstanding bonds
subject to an early repayment premium The bonds were listed on the NASDAQ GMX Stackholm on 5 July 2011

sJ0palig ay) jo 1ioday

|

oljojLiod Apadoay

AIUBUIIADG

SIUNEY

UDIBWLIOY| JaYY()



70

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmmueo

31 December 2011

23

BORROWINGS CONTINUED
Loan covenants
There were no cavenant breaches at 31 December 2011 or at 31 Decemaer 2010

The matunity profile of the carrying ameunt of the Group s borrowings was as follows

Debenture Zero coupon
Bank loans loans note Other loans Total
At 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £m
Within one year or on demand 1510 12 - - 1822
More than one but not mare than two years 719 13 - - 732
More than two but not more than five years 199 4 50 - 2810 232 4
More than five years 1309 255 109 - 167 3
5532 330 10.9 2840 625 1
Unamertised issue costs (38) - - (05) 1)
Berrowings 549 6 330 10.9 275 4210
Less amaount due for settlement within 12 months {150 0) a2 - - (151 2)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months 399 6 318 109 275 469 8
Debenture  Zero coupon
Bank loans loans note Other loans Total
At 31 December 2010 Em £m £Em £€m £tm
Within one year or on demand 824 i1 - 23 858
Mare than one but not more than two years 126 2 i2 - - 127 4
Mare than two but not more than five years 204 4 45 - - 208 9
Mare than five yezrs 1331 273 %8 - 170 2
2461 344 98 23 5923
Unamortised 1ssue costs (30} - - - (30)
Borrowings 5431 341 g8 23 5893
Less amaount aue for settlement within 12 montns (81 6) an - (23) (85 Q)
Amounts due far settlement after 12 months 4415 B0 g8 - 504 3

The interest rate risk profile of the Group s fixed rate beorrowings was zs follows

At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2010

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average average
flxed rate periad for fixed rate period for
of ftnancial  which rate I1s of financial  which rate1s
babiities fixed hiabilities fixed
Years % Years
Sterling 9.4 11 65 56
Eure 51 23 43 22
The interest rate risk profile of the Group s floating rate borrowings was as follows
At 31 December 2011 At 31 December 2010
Average Average
capped capped
- % of net interest Average % of net interest Average
floating rate rate tenure  floatirg rate rate tenure
loans capped % Years loans capped % Years
Sterling &6 37 22 56 27 30
Euro 75 32 a8 86 47 10
Swedish Krona 53 26 19 00 24 29
Other - nfa n/a - n/a n/a
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The carrying amounts of the Graup s berrowings are dencminated tn the {ollowing currencies
Fixedrate Floating rate

financial financial
liabilities Liabilties Total
At 31 December 2011 Em £m £m
Sterling 602 183.5 2437
Euro 7.2 239.6 3128
Swedish Krona - 58.7 587
Other - 5.8 5.8
133 4 487.6 6210

Fixed rate  Floating rate

24

financral financial
Liaoilities Labilities Total
At 31 Jecember 2010 £m £m f£m
Sterling 1552 %16 246 8
Euro 117 4 1858 3034
Swedish Krona - 333 333
Other - 58 58
2728 3145 589 3
The carrying amaunts and fair values of the Greup s barrowings are as fallows
Carrying amounts Fair values
2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m €m
Current berrewings 151 2 8510 151 2 85 0
Non-current borrawings 469 8 504 3 5011 5302
6210 5893 4523 6152

Arrangement fees or £4 1 milion (2010 €3 0 million) have been offset in arriving at the balances in the above table

The fair value of nen-current borrowings reprasents the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged inanarm s
length transaction between Infarmed and willing parties, discounted at the prevatling market rate and excludes accrued interest

The Group has the following undrawn committed facilities available at 31 December

201 2410
£m £Em
Floating rate
- expiring within ane year 0é -
- expiring after one year - -
04 -
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2011 2011 2010 2010
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilives
£m £m £m £m
Non-current
Interest rate swaps - (CR ) - {193)
Interest rate caps 15 - 46 -
1.5 (1 44 (19 3)
Current
Currency options 0.4 - _ -
Forward foreign exchange contracts - (0.1) - {10)
0.4 (0.1) - (10)
19 (9.2) 44 (20 3)

The valuation methods usec to measura the fair value of all derwative financial instruments were derived from inputs which were

esther observacle as prices or derived from prices (Level 2)

Therz were no derivative financial instruments accounted for as hedging instruments
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24 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Interest rate swaps

The aggregate noticnal principal of interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2011 was £50 0 milbion (2010 £133 5 million} The
average pertod to maturity of these interest rate swaps was 4 1 years (201G 2 8 years)

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group uses forward foreign exchange ceniracts fraom time 0 time to add certainty to and to minimisa the impact of foraign
exchange movements on committed cash flows At 31 December 2C11 the Group had £19 9 milbion of outstanding net foraign
exchange contracts (2010 £27 0 rmillion)

Currency aptians

The Group uses currency optiens fram time to time to hedge the foreign exchange risk ralating to the translation of the Groug s net
investment In overseas subsiclaries At 31 Cecemnber 2611 the Group had osurchased options to sell €90 0 mitlion in exchange for
sterling at an average axchange rate of £1 €1 2876 (2010 none)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
25 1 Categories of financial iInstruments

Financizl assets of the Group comprise nterest rate cacs, fereign currency optians and rorward contracts avallable-for-sale
investments, investrments in associates, irade and other recewvables, and cash and cash equivalents

Financial iabilriies of the Group comprise interest rate swaps forward foraign currency contracts bank loans, debenture
loans zero coupon notes other loans trade and other payables provisions and current tax Liabilitias

The fair values of financial assets and Liabilities are determined as follows

{a) Interest rate swaps and caps are measured at the present value of future cash flews basad on applicable yleld curves |
derived from quoted interest rates |

{b) Foraign currency cptians and forward contracts are measured using quoted ferward exchange rates and yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts

(¢) The fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liahilities with standard terms and cenditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices Financial assets in this category include
avallable-for-sale instruments such as listed corporate bends and equity investments

(d) In more illgusd conditions, non-dervative financial assets are valued using multiple quotes obtained from market
makers znd from pricing specialists Where the spread of prices 1s tightly clusterac tne consensus price 1s deemed to be
fair value Where prices become more dispersad or there 1s a tack of available quoted data, further precadures are
undertakan such as evidence from the last non-forcad trade |

(&) The fair value of other nan-derwvative financial assets and financial liabilities are determined 1n accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices fram ohservable current market
transactions and dealer quotes for similar instrurments

Except for investments in asscciates and fixed rate loans, tha carrying amounts of financial assets anc Liahilities recorded at
amoriised cost approximate to their fair value

25 2 Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of debt and equity balances The capital structure of the
Group consists of debt cash and cash equivalents other investments and equity attnibutable to the owners of the parent,
comerising 1ssued capiial reserves and retained earnings Management perform stress tests of the Group s business
madel ta ensure that the Group s objectives can be met The objectives have been mel n the year

The Directars review the capital structure on a quarterly basis to ensure that key strategic goals are being achieved As part
of this review they consider the cost of cacital and the risks associated with each class of capital
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The gearing ratio at the year end was as {cllows
2011 2010
£m £m
Debt 6251 5923
Cash and cash equivalents (55 3) (48 3)
Net debt 549 8 544 0
Equity 367.5 3572
Net debt tc equity ratic 155% 152%

Debi 1s definec as long and short-term borrowings before unamortised 1ssue costs as detailed in nete 23 Equity includes atl
capital and reserves oi the Group attributable to the owners of the Company

Externally imposed capital requirement

The Group s subject to a mimimum equity ratio of tatal ecuity to total assets of 22 5% imposed by other loans of £27 5 rmilban
at 31 December 2011 (2010 n/fa) The Group 1s also subject ta externally imoased capital requirements to the extent that debt
covenants may require group compantes to maintain ratios such as debt to equity (or similar) below certain levels

25 3 Risk management objectives

The Group s activities expose It to a variety of financiat nsks, which can be greuped as
*  market risk

e credit risk and

e liguidity nsk

The Group s overall risk management appraach seeks to mimtmise poiential adverse effects on the Group s financial
performance whilst maintaining flexibility

Risk management 1s carried out by the Group Treasury department in clese co-cperation with the Group s aperating units
and with guidance fram the Board of Directors The Boara regularly assesses and reviews the financial risks and exposures
of the Group

(a) Market risk

The Group s acivities expose it pnmarily to the inancaial risks of cnanges in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates and to a lesser extent other price nsk The Graup enters inta a variety of dervative inancial instruments te
manage Its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk and also uses natural hedging strategies such as
matching the duration interest payments and currency of assets and liabiliies

(1) Interest rate risk

The Group s most significant interest rate risk arises from its long-term variable rate borrowings [nterest rate risk
15 regularly monitored by the Group Treasury department and by the Board an toth a country and 2 Group basis The
Board s policy 15 to mitigate variable interest rate exposure whiist maintaining the flexibility to berrow at the best
rates and with consideration to potential penalttes on termination of fixed rate loans To manace its exposure the
Group uses interest rate swaps, Interest rate caps and natural hedging from cash held on deposit

In assessing risk a range af scenarios 1s taken inta cansideration such as refinancing renewal oi existing pesitions
and alternatve financing and hedging Under these scenarios the Group calculates the impact on the Statement of
Comprehensive Income 1or a defined mavement in the undertying interest rate The impact of a reasonably Likely
movement In Interast rates 1s sat out below

2011 2010

Statement of Statement of

Comprehensive Comprehensive

Income Incormne

Scenario Em Em
Cash +50 basis paints 03 g2
Variable borrowings (tncluding caps) +50 basis points (19 (15)
Cash -50 basis points {0.3) (02)
Variable borrowings (including caps) -30 basis points 2.0 15
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

(1) Foreign exchange risk

The Group does not have any regular transactional fareign exchange exposure However 1t has operations in Evrope
which transact business dencminated in euros and to a lesser extent, in Swedish kronor Consequently, there 1s
currency expesure caused by translating the local tracing periormance and net assets inta sterling for 2ach
financial period and balance sheet, respectively

The policy of the Group 1s to match the currency of investments with the related borrowing, which largely eliminates
foraign exchange nsk on property Investments A portion of the remaining operations, equating to the net assets of

the foreign property operztions 15 not hecged except In exceptienzl circumstances, such as the uncertainty surrounding
the eurc in late 2011 Where fereign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, the Group will hedge
the future committed commercial transaction using foreign exchange swaps or forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group s principal currency exposures are In respect of the eurc and the Swedish krona If the value of sterling
were to increase or cecrease In strength tne Group s net assets and profit for the year would be affected The impact
of a 1% increase or decrease in the strength of sterling against these currencies 15 set out below

2011 2011 20403 2010

Prafit Profit

Net assets before tax Net assets before tax

Scenario £m Em £m Em
1% ncrease in value of sterling against the euro (11 (0.1) (16) (03)
1% increase in value of sterling against the Swedish kronor 07) {01) (05) an
1% fall in value of sterling against the euro 11 0.1 16 03
1% fall in value of sterling against the Swedish kroner 07 01 05 01

() Other price risk

The Group 1s exposed to corporate bond price risk and 1o a lesser extent, to equity securities price risk, because of
investments hald by the Group and classified in the balance sneet as available-for-sale

In order to manage the risk in relation to the holdings of corporate bends and equity securities the Group holds a
diversified portfolie Diversification of the porifolic 1s managed in accordance with the imits set up by the Group

The table below shows the effect an equity which would result from an increase or decrease of 10% in the market
value of corporate bands and equity securities, which 1s an amount management believes to be reasonable in the
current market

201 2010

Directly Directly

in equity I equity

Scepario Shift of 10% 10 valuations £m Em
10% fall in value (88) €2
10% in¢rease 1n value 88 g2

(b) Credit sk

Credit risk reters to the rnisk that a counterparty will defautt on 1ts contractual abligatians resulting in financizl loss to
the Group Credit risk arises from the ability of tenants to meet outstanding recevables and future lease commitments
and from financal institutions with which the Group places cash and cash equivalents, and enters into derwative
financizl insiruments The maximurn exposure to credit risk 1s partly represented by the carrying amounts of the
nnancizl assets which are carried in the balance sheet including dervatives with positive fair values

For credit exposure ather than to tenants the Directors believe that counterparty risk 1s minimised to the fullest extent
possible as the Group has policies which limit the amaount of credit exposure to any indivicual fiinancial institution

The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental contracts are made with tenants with an aporopriate cracit history
Credit misk to tenants is assessed by a process of internal and external credit sconing and s reduced by obtaning 2ank
guarantees from ~he tenant ar its parent and receipted renial deposits The overall crecit nisk in relation to tenants is
monorec on an ongoing basis Mereover, a signincant propertion of the Grouo oortfolio 1s L2t to Government tenants
which can be considered financially secure
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A1 31 Decemnber 2011 the Group held £87 8 million (2010 £81 & mullion} of available-for-sale and other financial assets
Management considers the credit risk associated with individual transactions and monitars the risk on a continuing
basis [nformation s gathered from external credit rating agencies (Standard & Poar s) and other market sources to
allow management to react to any perceived change In the undertying credit risk of the instruments 1n which the Group
invests This allows the Greup to minimise its credit exposure to such items and at the same time to maximise returns
for shareholders

The table below shows the external Standard & Pooer s credit banding on the available-for-sate and other investments
held by the Group

2011 2010
S&P Credit rating 2t balance sheet date £€m £m
Investment grade 270 24 4
Non-investment grade 207 262
Not rated 401 308
Tatal 878 814
Liquidity rsk

Liquidity risk management requires maintaining sufficient cash cther liguid assets and the availability of funding to
meet short, mediurn and long-term requirements The Group maintains adequate levels of iguid assets to fund
operations and to allow the Group to react quickly to potential oppertunities

Management moniters rolling forecasts cf the Group s beuidity en the basis of expected cash flows so that future
requirements can be managed efrectively

The majonty of the Group s debt 1s arranged on an asset-specific, non-recourse basis This allows the Group a higher degres
of flexibility in dealing with potential covenant defaults than if the debt was arranged under a Group-wide borrowing facility

Loan covenant comoliance is closely monitorec oy the Group Treasury cepartment Potential covenant breaches ¢can
ordinarily be avoided by placing additional security or a cash deposit with the lender, or by partial repayment before an
event of cefault takes place There were no patential loan-to-value covenant breaches at 31 December 2011

The table below analyses the Greup s cantractual undiscounted cash flows payable under financial Liabilities and
derivative assets and Liabiliies at the balance sheet date into relevant maturity groupings based on the pericc
remaining to the contractual maturity date Amounts due within one year are ecuivelent to the carrying values in the
balance sheet as the impact of discounting I1s not significant

Less than 1 year 1to 2years 2to Syears  Over Syears

At 31 December 2011 £m £€m Em £m
Non-derivative financial Labilities

Borrowings 1522 73.2 232 4 167 3
Interest payments on borrowings* 222 173 39.3 258
Trade and other payables 304 - - -

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Cash flow hedges

= Qutflow 199 - - -
- Inflow (199 - - -

Lessthan 1 year 1 to Zyears 210 Syears  Over Syears
At 31 December 2010 £m £m £m Em

Non-derivative financial Labilities

Borrowings 8c 8 127 4 208 9 170 2
Interest payments on borrowings? 234 198 426 551
Trade and other payables Ji8 - - -

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Cash flow hedges

- Cutflow 270 - - -
- Inflow (26 0) - - -

t Interest payments an borrowings are calculated without {aking tnto account future events Floating rate interest 1s estirated using a future
interest rate curve as at 31 December
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmuen

31 December 2011

26 SHARE CAPITAL

Number
Ordwnary
Grdinary Tatal shares in Treasury Total erdinary
shares in Treasury ordinary circulation shares shares
circulation shares shares £€m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 46,588,244 4,793,000 51,381,244 17 1.2 12.9
Cancelled following tender offers (1,624,530) - (1,624,530) {0 4) - (0.4)
Purchase of own shares
- pursuant to market purchase (10,7103) 10,103 - - - -
At 31 December 2011 44,953,611 4,803,103 49,756,714 113 1.2 12.5
Number
Qrdinary
QOrdinary Total shares in Treasury Total ordinary
sharesin Treasury ordinary circulation shares shares
circulation shares shares £m £m Em
At 1 January 2010 48024256 5000000 53,024 258 i20 §3 133
Cancelled following tender offer (1643012) - (1,4643,012) (0 4) - 04
Ordinary sharas issued from treasury shares 207 000 (207 000) - 01 G -
At 31 December 2010 46 588 244 4793000 51,381,244 17 12 126

QOrdinary shares have a nominal value of 25 pence each

27 TENDER OFFER BUY-BACKS

Atender offer by way of a Circular dated 18 March 2011 for the purchase of 1 tn 47 shares at 725 pence per share was completed in
April It returned £7 2 million to shareholders, equivalent to 15 4 pence per share

Atender offer by way of a Circular dated 22 August 2011 for the purchase of 11n 72 shares at 700 pence per share was completed
In Septermber It returned £4 4 million to shareholders, equivalent to ¢ 7 pence per share

A further tender offer will be put to sharehalcers in April 2012 for the purchase of 1 1n 42 shares at a price of 735 pence par share
which 1f approved, will return £7 ¢ million to shareholders, equivalent o 17 5 pence per share

28 SHARE PREMIUM

2011 2010

£m tm

At 1 January s 705
Ordinary shares 1ssued from treasury shares - 10

At 31 December 75 715
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29 OTHER RESERVES
Capital  Cumulative
redemption translation Fair value Other
reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
£m £m £m £m £fm
At 1 January 2011 208 514 22 281 1025
Purchase of own shares
- cancellation pursuant to tender offer Q4 - - - 0.4
Exchange rate variances - {50) - - (5.0)
Available-for-sale financial assets
- net fair value losses in the year - - (16 8) - (14 8)
- deferred tax thereon - - L& - 46
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - 63 - 03
At 31 December 2011 212 46 4 %7 281 860
Capral Cumulative
redemption translation Fair value Other
reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 204 507 58 281 1050
Purchase of own shares
- cancellation pursuant to tender offer 04 - - - 04
Exchange rate variances - I - - 1"
Share of other comarehensive income of assaciates - (0 4) - - (0 4)
Available-for-sale financial assets
- net fair value gains in the year - - (5 4) - (54)
- deferred tax thereon - - 18 - i8
At 31 December 2010 208 514 22 281 1025

The cumulative translation reserve comprises the aggregate effect of translating net assets of overseas subsidiaries inta sterting
since acquisition

The fair value reserve comprises the aggreqgate movernent in the value of corporate bonds other available-far-sale assets and
owner-occupled progerty singe acquisition, net of deferred tax

The amount classified as other reserves was created prior to listing in 1995 an a Group reconstruction and Is considerad to e
non-distrioutable

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2011 2010
£€m £m

Operating profit 702 882
Adjustments for

Net movements on revaluaticn of investment properties 18.0) (30 1)

Depreciation and amortisation 02 03

Profit an sale of subsidiaries and associates (22) -

Net gain on sate of corparate bonds and other investments (05) (9 3)

Snare-based payment expense a2 a1

Nan-cash rental income (0.2) -

Revaluation of currency options 0.1 -
Changes In working capital

Decrease in debtors 28 05

Increase in creditors 15 15
Cash generated from operations 54.1 512
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS coninueo

21 December 2011

31 CONTINGENCIES

At 31 Becember 2011 CL5 Holdings plc had guaranteed certain liabilities of Group companies These were primarily in relation to
Group borrowings and covered interest and amortisation payments Nao cross-guaraniees had been given oy the Group in relation to
the princigal amounts of these borrowings Certain warranttes given in the course of corporate sales during 2008 etther have been
provided for or are toc remote to be considerad contingent

32 COMMITMENTS

The Group leases office space under nan-cancellacle operating lease agreements The future aggregate minimum lease payments
under these non-cancellable operating leases are as fotlows

2011 2010
Operating lease commitments - where the Group 1s the lessee £m £m
More than ane but not more than five years as 04
More than five years 1N 07
13 11

At the balance sheet date the Group had contractad with tenants for the following minimum lease payments
2011 2010
Operating lease commitments - where the Group 1s lessor £m Em
Within one year 65 4 837
More than one but not more than five years 2192 239 2
More than five years 225.8 2570
510 4 539 9

Operating leases where the Group Is the lessor are typically negotiated on a tenant-by-tenant nasis and include break clauses and
indexaticn provisians
Other commitments

At 31 December 2011 the Group had no other commitments (2010 £mil) There were no authorised financial commitmenis which
were yet to be contracted with third parties (2016 none)
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33 BUSINESS DISPQSALS
Wyatt Media Group

On 31 May 2017 the Group disposed of its interests in Wyatt Mediz Group, comprising five subsidiaries and two assaciates All of
the corparata entities solc were previously reporied in the Gther Invesiments division The entities were disposed of in a share-
for-share exchange with Nyheter 24 (a Swedish an-line news ana meaia business) and the Group received a 20% Interest in
Nyherer 24 following the transaction In addition the Group received a £0 5 million convertible loan note

Wyat! Media Group

May-11 Dec-10
€m £m
Net assets cisposed of
Investments In associates 15 14
Progerty plant and ecuipment 01 01
Trade and other recewables 04 c9
Cash ane cash equivalents a1 02
Trade and other payables (05) e
16 17
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and associatas 05
Costs of discosal 03
Total consideration 24
Satisfied by
Convertible loan notes receved 05
Shares 1n Nyheter 24 (note 17) 19
2.4
Net cash inflow arising on disposal
Cash consideration -
Cash anc cash eguivalents disposed of (0.1)
(0.1)
2011 2010
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries and associates £m £m
Dispesal of the Wyatt Media Group 05 -
Release of provisions and guarantees in relaticn to corparate disposals made in prior years 17 -
2.2 -
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conmiueo

31 December 2011

34  PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

35

34

The group financial statements include the financial statements of CLS Holdings ple and all of 1ts subsidiaries, the principal ones
of which are listed below

The Directors consider that to give full carticulars of all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a statement of excassive length
The following informatian relates ta those wholly-owned subsidiary compantes whose results or financial position, in the apinion
of the Directors princtpally affected those of the Group

Adlershefer Sarl* Grossclockner Sarl* New Printing Hause Square Limited
Apex Tower Limited Ingrove Limited Spring Gardens Limited

Coventry House Limited Kapellen Sarl* Vanerparken Property Investment KB*™*
Freres Peugeot SCI Museien Forvaltnings AB*** Vauxhall Cross Limited

Great West House Limited Naropere Sari*

*  Incorporated in Luxembourg
** Incorporated in France
*** Incorporated in Sweden

The principal actvity of each of these subsidiaries 1s property investment, apart from Coventry House Limited and Museion
Forvaltntngs AB whose principal activities are to act as investment compznies All of the above subsidiary undertakings are
mcorporated in the United Kingdam unless stated atherwise To comply with the Companies Act 2004, a full List of subsidiaries
will be filed with the Cempany s next annual return

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year two Group companies, Forvaltnings AB Kilo and Vanerparken Investment AB, rented office space from a company
owned by Sten Moristedt, Executive Chairman of CLS Holdings ple The total payable in the year by Forvalinings AB Kilo was
£19.000 (2010 £36,000) and by Vanerparken Investment AB was £1% 000 (2010 €nil) A cormpany owned by Sten Mortstedt
purchased accountancy services fram bath Forvaltnings AB Kilo and Vanerparken Investment AB during the year amounting

to £5,000 (2010 £9,000) in resgect of Forvaltnings AB Kilo and £5,000 (2010 £nil) in respect of Vanerparken Investment AB

In relation to these transactions £ml (2010 £36 000) was payable by Forvaltrings AB Kilo and £mil (2010 £nil) was payable oy
Vanerparken Investment AB at the balance sheet date

A Group company, CLSH Management Limited provided accounting services tc Bulgaran Land Cevelopment Plc, an associate
of the Group for which a charge of £48,000 was made in the year (2010 €16 000) of which £15,000 (2010 £14,000) remained
outstanding at the balance sheet date

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 12 January 2012, tha Group accuired a 16 64% interest in Cood Investments AB { Cocd™), an unlsted residential property
comoany specialsing 1n halicay cotiages and cabins on vacation sites in Sweden Cood acquires and operates the sites whilst
selling the cabins as vacation hames The purchase grice was £4 1 million, and the Group alsa provided to Cood up to £8 0 million
of lending facilities at market rates This was a related party transacbion as first, the trust in which Sten Mortstedt 1s beneficially
interested simultaneously acquired at the same price per share an 8 39% 1n, and prowided lending facilities on the same terms to
Cood and, seccnc, Christer Sandberg who is a director of certain CLS Group companies, owns 7 5% of the enlarged equity of Cood
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF CLS HOLDINGS PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of CLS Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which comprise
the balance sheet and the related notes 1to 15 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their areparation s
applicable taw and United Kingdam Accounting Standards (Unitad Kingdom Generally Accaptec Accounting Practice)

This repart 15 made solely to the Company s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 14 of the Companies Act 2006 Qur
audit work has been undertaken so that we micht state to the Company s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditer s report and for no other puraose To the iullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Campany and the Company s members as a body, for our audit wark, for this report or for the apinions we have formed

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

As explained mare fully In the Statement of Directors Responstbilities on page 35 the Directers are responsible for the preparation of
the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair iew Gur responsitility 15 to audit and express
an gainian on the parent company financial statements in accardance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing

{UK and Ireland) Those standards recuire us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board s (APB s) Etnical Standards for Auditers

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An audit involves obtaining ewidence about tne amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement whether causad by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whetner the accounting policies are aporepriate to tne parent company s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonaoleness of significant accounting estimates made by the Diractors and the overall
presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial infarmation in the annual report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements
or Inconsistancies we consider the implicaticns for our report

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinian the parent company financial statements

* gwe a true and fair view of the state of the parent company s afiairs as at 31 Decemnber 2011,
+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and
» have been preparad in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2004

in our opinion

» the part of the Directors Rermuneration Report to be audited has kbeen properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006 and

¢ the information given in the Directers Report for the ninancial year for which the financial statements are preoared s consistent
with the parent company financial statements

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

We have nothing te report in respect of the following matters wheare the Companies Act 2006 requires us to recert te you i 1n our opinian

« adequate accounting recards have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for cur audit have not been receved
fram branches notvisited by us or

+ the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directers Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting recards and returns or

+ certain disclosures of directars remuneration specified by law are not made or

* we have not recewved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

OTHER MATTER

We have reperted separately an the group financigl ghtements of £LS Holdings ple for the year ended 31 Decemper 2011

Mark Gaodey (Senior Statutary Auditar)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor —"
Londen

5 March 2012
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET -

at 31 December 2031

UK GAAP

2011 2010
Notes €m £m
Fixed assets
Investrent in suhsidiary undertakings 5 1337 1053 5
Current assets
Trade and other recewvables ) 67 4 320
Total assets 201 1 1375
Current liabilities
Trade and other payaoles 7 a9 (4 4)
Non-current Labilities
Borrowings ) (27 5) -
Total labilities (29 4) (4 4)
Net assets 1717 1331
Equity
Called up share capital 9 125 129
Snare premium 10 75 715
Other reserves n 258 25 4
Profit and loss account 1 61.9 233
Shareholders’ funds 171.7 1331

These financial statements of CLS Holdings ple {reqistered number 2714781) were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed

farissue on 5 March 2012 and were signed on its behalf by

Mr S A Mortstedt
Director M/l

The notes on pages 83 to 86 are an integral part of these financial statements

H Klotz
ctor
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- UK GAAP

at 31 Oecember 2011

9

GENERAL INFORMATION

These separate financial statements have been prepared under UK GAAP in accordance with applicable accounting standards
under the hisiorical cosi convention and are presented as required by the Cempanies Act 2006 The following accounung policies
have been applied consistently througnout the year and the preceding year unless otherwise stated CLS Holaings plc s the
ultimate parent company of the CLS Holdings group its primary actwity (which occurs exclusively in the United Kingdom) s to hole
shares in subsidiary companies

Tne Directors have a reasonacle expectation that the Company has adequata resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future Accordingly they continue ta adopt the geing cencern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts as
detailed tn the Directors Report on pages 26 to 28

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Tne principal accounting policies are summansed below Tney have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the
preceding year

21 Investment in Group Companies

Investments are valued at cost less provisions for impairment If the equity value of the investment 1s lower than cost the
valuation s adjusted accordingly provided that management cansiders this {0 be & permanent diminution in valve Diwvidend
Income 15 recognised when receved

22 Pension costs

Tne Company aperates a defined contribubion pension scheme for all eligible empleyees The pension casts charged
represent the coniributions payable Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions paig are shown
as eitner accruals or prepaymeants In the balance sheet

23 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of new shares or aptions are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from proceeds

Where a Group company purchases the Company s equity share capital, the consiceration paid including any direc-ly
atributable incremental costs (nat of Income taxes), 1s deductad from equity attributable to the owners of the Company until
the shares are cancelied reissued or disposed of Where such shares are subsecuently sold or reissued any consideration
received net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the relatad income tax effects 15 included in
equiiy attributable ta the owners of the Company

2 4 Related party transactions

Advantage has been taken of the exemnption allowed 1n FRS 8 not ta disclose transactions with entities which are wnolly
owned within the Group where consolidated accounts are publicly availanle

There were no other related party transactions during the year

25 Foreign currency

Transactions in fareign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction Tangible assets denaminated
In fareign currencies are shown at historical cost Current assets and all babilities deneminated in {foreign currencies are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of the financial year All differences are recognisec in profii before tax

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Comepany s profit and loss account has not been presentad
in these financial statements The Company s retained prefit fer the financial year was £30 4 mullion (2010 £4 4 mitlion)

Audit fees for the Campany were £C 1 million (2010 £0 1 million)
Details of the Directors employed during the year and of their remuneration 1s included in the Remuneraticn Renort an pages 36 to 41
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- UK GAAP CONTINUED

at Ji

4

December 2011

TENDER OFFER BUY-BACKS

Atender offer by way of a Crrcular dated 18 March 2011 for the purchase of 1 1n 47 shares at 725 pence per share was completed in
April 1t returned €7 2 million to shareholders eguivalent ta 15 4 pence per shars

Atender offar by way of a Circular dated 22 August 2011 for the purchase of 110 72 shares at 700 pence per share was completed
In September [t returned £4 4 milbion to shareholders, equivalent to 9 7 pence per share

A further tender offer will be put to shareholders in April 2012 for the purchase of 1 1n 42 shares at a2 price of 735 pence per shars
which if approved wall return £7 9 million to shareholders equivalent to 17 § pence per share

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

201 2070

£m Em

At 1 January 1085 905
Additions 289 153
Provision for impairment ((1)] -
Disposals - (0 3)
At 31 December 1337 1055

The Directors consider that to give full particutars of all subsidiary undertakings wauld tead 0 a staterment of excessive length Te
comply with the Companies Act 2006 a full st of subsidiaries will be filed with the Company s next annual retern

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

201 2010
€m Em
Current
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 4% 4 Jio
Prepayments and accrued income 180 id
67 4 320
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
201 2010
£€m Em
Current
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - 38
Accruals 21 0%
Arrangement fees ¢ 2) -
19 44
BORROWINGS
2011 2010
Em Em
Unsecured bonds 280 -
Arrangement fees (05) -
275 -

0n 15 April 2011 the Group 1ssued SEK 300 million unsecured bonds The bonds attract a floating rate coupen of 3 75% cver three
manths STIBOR and are due fer repayment in 2016 After two years, the Group has an aption to receem alt eutstanding bonds
subject to an early repayment premium The bonds were listed on the NASDAQ OMX Stockhelm on 3 July 20711
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Number
Qrdmnary
Qrdinary Total sharesin Treasury Total ordinary
sharesn Treasury ardinary arculation shares shares
circulation shares shares £€m £m £€m
At 1 January 2011 46,588,244 4,793,000 51,381,244 "7 12 12.9
Cancelled following tender offers (1,624,530) - (1,624,530) {0 4) - (0.4)
Purchase of own shares
- pursuant to market purchase {10,103) 10,103 - - - -
At 31 December 2011 44,953,611 4,803,103 49,756,714 13 12 12.5
Number
Ordinary
Crdinary Total shares in Treasury Total ordinary
shares in Treasury ardinary circulation shares shares
circulabion shares shares £m £m Em
At 1 January 2010 48 024 256 5000000 53024254 120 i3 133
Cancelled following tencer offer (1643 012) - (1443012) (0 4) - (0 4)
Ordinary shares 1ssued from treasury shares 207 0G0 {207 000) - 01 on -
At 31 December 2010 46 588 244 4793000 512381 244 117 12 129
Ordinary shares have a nominal value of 25 pence each
SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT
2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 January 715 705
Ordinary shares issved from treasury shares - 10
At 31 December ns 715
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT AND OTHER RESERVES
Other reserves
Capital
redemption Prafit and
reserve Other Totat  loss account
€m Em £€m £m
At 1 January 2011 208 4.6 254 233
Purchase of own shares 04 - 04 (117
Expenses thereof - - - (0 1)
Prafit for the year - - - 50 4
At 31 December 2011 212 46 258 619
Other reserves
Capitat
redemption Profit and
reserve Other Total  loss account
£m £m £m fm
At 1 January 2010 2G4 46 250 268
Purchase of own shares 04 - 04 (10Q)
Expenses thereaf - - - on
Profit for the year - - - ¥
At 31 December 2010 208 46 254 233

5J03081(] ay) jo 1oday

010j)104 Avtadody

AIUEUIIN0G

S1UNOIY

uonew.ojy| Jayip



86

NGTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- UK GAAP CONTINUED

atJ

12

December 2011

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

201 2010

£m Em

Balance at 1 January 1331 1356
Profit for the year 50 4 X
Premium on 1ssue of ordinary shares from treasury shares - 1 0
Purchase of own shares (11 8) (g
Balance at 31 December M7 1331

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
No deferred tax liability arises relating to the Company (2010 Enil)

CONTINGENCIES

At 31 December 2011 CLS Holdings ple had guarantzed certain labilities of Group companies, primarily in relation to Group

borrowings and covering interest and amartisation payments No crass guarantees had been given in relation to the principal
amounts of these borrowings Certain warranties were given in the course of corporate sales during 2008 Since the possibility of
payment by the Company under any of these guarantees and warranties 1s considered remote, no provisions In relation to these

have been made in the Company s financial statements and neo recartable contingent hability exists

COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2011, the Compeany had no contracied capital expenditure (2010 £nil) and ne authenised financial cammitments

which were yet to be contracted with third parttes {2010 £nit)
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31 December 2014
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
£m fm £m £m Em
Group revenue 80.1 791 763 814 895
Costs (30.6) (303) (303) (37 4) {45 9)
495 488 460 44 2 394
Net movements on revaluation of investment properties 180 301 (67) (103 3) (48 1)
Gain on sale of cerporate bonas and other investments 05 93 19 - -
Profit an sale of investment properties - - 03 70 -
Profit/(loss) on sale of subsidiaries/joint venture/associates 22 - - (16 2) (19)
Impairment of intangitle fixed assets and goodwill - - - (22 0) -
Operating profit/(loss) 702 882 415 {90 3) {3C 4)
Finance income 12.2 61 66 87 &
Finance costs (L7 311 32N {517) {49 3)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates after tax 30 77 25 (75) 05
Other non-recurring costs - - - 13 -
Profit/(loss) before tax 377 709 185 (142 1) (72 6}
Taxation 11 (108) amn 641 397
Prafit/{loss) for the year 388 401 174 (78 D) (32 9)
Share buy-backs paid and proposed 123 Tl 60 590 93
Net Assets Employed
Non-current assets 1,037 0 10186 G442 849 1 12515
Current assets 673 598 B0 7 205 ¢ 132 4
1,104 3 1,078 4 1,024 9 10750 1,383 9
Current babilities (182 9) {123 1) {164 3} (133 9) (1677
Non-current liaoilities (353 9) (598 1) {551 6) (602 5) (813 1)
Net assets 3875 3572 3090 338 4 4031
Ratios 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Net assets per share (pence) 8175 7667 643 3 548 4 5951
EPRA net assets per share (pence) 2831 952 9 8258 498 4 770 4
Earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 82.0 1271 36 4 (120 4) 57N
EPRA earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 64.9 425 280 284 en
Net gearing (%) 1550 1523 170 0 1211 1691
Adjustec net gearing (%) 128.5 1221 1325 95 i 1304
Recurring interest cover {umes) 263 315 208 108 131
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ADMINISTRATION COST RATIO
Recurning administratien expenses of the Investment Property
operating segment expressed as a percentage of net rentat income

ADJUSTED NET ASSETS OR ADJUSTED SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
Net assets excluding the fair value of financial dervatives
deferred tax on revaluations and goodwill arising as & result
of deferred tax

ADJUSTED NET GEARING
Net debt expressad as a percentage of adjustec net asselts

ADJUSTED SOLIDITY
Adjusted net assets expressed as a percentage of adjusted
tatat assets

ADJUSTED TOTAL ASSETS
Total assets excluding deferred tax assets

CONTRACTED RENT
Annual contracted rental income after any rent-free periods
have expired

CORE PROFIT

Profit before tax and before net movements on revaluation of
investment properties profit on sale of investment properties
subsidiaries and corporate tonds, iImpairment of intangible
assets and goodwill non-recurring costs, change in fair value
of derivatives and foreign exchange variancas

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Profit after tax divided by the diluted weighted average number
of ordinary shares

DILUTED NET ASSETS
Equity shareholders funds increased by the potential proceeds from
1ssuing thase shares 1ssuable under employee share schemes

DILUTED NET ASSETS PER SHARE OR DILUTED NET ASSET VALUE
Diluted net zssets dwded by the diluted number of ordinary shares

DILUTED NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES
Number of ordinary shares in circulation at the balance sheet
date adjusted to Include the effect of potential dilutive shares
issuable under employee share schemes

DILUTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF OROINARY SHARES
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the
periad adjusted to include the effect of potential weighted average
dilutive shares 1ssuable under employee share schemes

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Profit after tax divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in 1ssue 1n the period

EPRA
European Public Real Estate Association

EPRA EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit aiter tax, but excluding net gains or losses fram fair
value adjustments on investment properties profits or losses
cn disposal of investment properties and other non-current
Investment interests, impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets, movements in fair value of dervative financial
instruments and their related current and deferred tax

EFRA NET ASSETS

Diluted net assets excluding the fair value of financial derivatives,
deferred tax on revaluaticns, and goodwill arising as a result of
deferred tax

EPRA NET ASSETS PER SHARE
EPRA net assets dividea by the dilutad number of ordinary shares

EPRA NET INITIAL YIELD

Annual passing rent less net service charge costs on investment
properties expressed as a percentage of the investment property
valuation after acding purchasers costs

EPRA TOPPED UP NET INITIAL YIELD

Annual net rants on investment progerties expressed as a
percentage of the investment property valuation after adding
purchasers costs

EPRA TRIPLE NET ASSETS

EPRA net assets adjusted to reflect the fair value of debt and
derivatives and to include the fair value of deferred tax on
property revaluations

EPRA TRIPLE NET ASSETS PER SHARE
EPRA triple net assets dinded by the diluted number or
ordinary shares

ESTIMATED RENTAL VALUE (ERV)
The market rental value of lettable space as estimated by the
Group s valuers

NET ASSETS PER SHARE OR NET ASSET VALUE {(NAV)
Equity shareholders funds divided by the number ¢f ardinary
shares in circulation at the balance sheet date

NET DEBT
Total barrowings less cash and snort-term depaosits

NET GEARING
Nei debt expressed as a percentage of ner assets

NET INITIAL YIELD
Annual net rents on Investment properties expressed as a
percentage of the investment property valuation

NET RENT
Contracted rent less net service charge costs

OCCUPANCY RATE
Contractad rent expressed as & parcentage of the aggregate of
contracted rent and the ERV of vacant space

GVER-RENTED
Tne amount by which ERV falls short of the aggregate of passing
rent and the ERV of vacant space

PASSING RENT
Contracted rent befere any rent-free pertads have expired

PROPERTY LOAN TO VALUE
Property borrowings expressed as a percentage of the market
value of the property portfolio

RECURRING INTEREST COVER

Tne aggregate of group revenue less costs plus share of results
of associates divided by the aggregate of interest expense and
amaortisation of 1ssue costs of debt less interest Income

RENT ROLL
Contracied rent

SOLIDITY
Equity shareholders funds expressed as a percentage of tatal assets

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

For a given number of shares, the aggregate of the proceeds
from tender offer buy-backs and change in the market value of
the shares during the year adjustec for cancellations eccasioned
by such buy-backs, as a percentage of the market value of the
shares at the beginning of the year

TRUE EQUIVALENT YIELD
The capitalisation rate applied to future cash flows o calcutate the
gross property value, as determinec by the Group s external valuers
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